คุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากของผู้ป่วยที่เข้ารับการผ่าตัดฝังรากฟันเทียมร่วมกับการปลูกกระดูก

นายสุชาติ เขม้นเขตรการ

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาศัลยศาสตร์ช่องปากและแม็กซิลโลเฟเชียล ภาควิชาศัลยศาสตร์ คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2557 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ORAL HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING SURGICAL IMPLANT PLACEMENT SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH GUIDED BONE REGENERATION

Mr. Suchat Kamankatgan

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	ORAL HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN
	PATIENTS UNDERGOING SURGICAL IMPLANT
	PLACEMENT SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH GUIDED
	BONE REGENERATION
Ву	Mr. Suchat Kamankatgan
Field of Study	Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor Atiphan Pimkhaokham, D.D.S.,
	B.P.A., Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Associate Professor Sudaduang Krisdapong,
	D.D.S., Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

_____Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry

(Assistant Professor Suchit Poolthong, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

THESIS COMMITTEE	
	Chairman
(Associate P	rofessor Somchai Sessirisombat, D.D.S., M.D.)
(Assistant Pi	rofessor Atiphan Pimkhaokham, D.D.S., B.P.A., Ph.D.)
(Associate P	rofessor Sudaduang Krisdapong, D.D.S., Ph.D.)
	Examiner
(Assistant Pi	rofessor Keskanya Subbalekha, D.D.S., Ph.D.)
	External Examiner
(Associate P	rofessor Thongnard Kumchai, D.D.S.)

สุชาติ เขม้นเขตรการ : คุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากของผู้ป่วยที่เข้ารับการผ่าตัดฝัง รากฟันเทียมร่วมกับการปลูกกระดูก (ORAL HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING SURGICAL IMPLANT PLACEMENT SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH GUIDED BONE REGENERATION) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: ผศ. ทพ. ดร.อาทิ พันธุ์ พิมพ์ขาวขำ, อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม: รศ. ทญ. ดร.สุดาดวง กฤษฎาพงษ์, 152 หน้า.

วัตถุประสงค์: เพื่อประเมินการเปลี่ยนแปลงคุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากของผู้ป่วยที่ เข้ารับการผ่าตัดฝังรากฟันเทียมร่วมกับการปลูกกระดูก และศึกษาถึงความสัมพันธ์ระหว่างปัจจัยทาง สังคมประชากรและคลินิกต่อการเปลี่ยนแปลงคุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปาก

วิธีการศึกษา: ผู้ป่วย 52 ราย (14 รายได้รับการปลูกกระดูก) ที่เข้ารับการรักษาด้วยรากฟัน เทียมเพื่อบูรณะสันเหงือกว่างบางส่วน ได้รับการสัมภาษณ์ด้วยดัชนีชี้วัดคุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพ ช่องปาก ก่อนการรักษา, 2 สัปดาห์, 1 และ 3 เดือนภายหลังผ่าตัด และภายหลังใช้งานฟันเทียม วิเคราะห์เปรียบเทียบระดับคุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปาก รวมทั้งหาความสัมพันธ์ระหว่างปัจจัย ที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการเปลี่ยนแปลงที่เกิดขึ้น

ผลการศึกษา: ระดับดัชนีชี้วัดมีค่าสูงขึ้นที่ 2 สัปดาห์ (*p*=0.002) จากนั้นมีค่าลดลง เทียบเท่าก่อนการรักษาที่ 1 และ 3 เดือนภายหลังการผ่าตัด และต่ำกว่าก่อนการรักษาภายหลังการ ใช้งานฟันเทียม คุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากของผู้ป่วยที่ได้รับการปลูกกระดูกลดลงภายหลัง การผ่าตัดมากกว่า (*p*=0.01) แต่มีการเพิ่มขึ้นภายหลังใช้ฟันเทียมน้อยกว่า (*p*=0.029) กลุ่ม เปรียบเทียบ จำนวนรากฟันเทียมมีความสัมพันธ์ต่อการเปลี่ยนแปลงภายหลังการผ่าตัด (*p*=0.031) ในขณะที่เพศ (*p*=0.02) และประวัติการใส่ฟันเทียมถอดได้ (*p*=0.012) มีความสัมพันธ์ต่อ การเปลี่ยนแปลงภายหลังการใช้งานฟันเทียม

บทสรุป: การผ่าตัดฝังรากฟันเทียมโดยเฉพาะอย่างยิ่งในการปลูกกระดูกร่วมด้วยนั้นส่งผล ให้เกิดการลดลงของคุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากในช่วงแรกภายหลังการผ่าตัด อย่างไรก็ตาม พบการคืนกลับสู่สภาวะเริ่มต้นภายใน 1 เดือนภายหลังการผ่าตัด ฟันเทียมที่รองรับด้วยรากเทียมทำ ให้ผู้ป่วยมีคุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากที่ดีขึ้น การปลูกกระดูกไม่มีอิทธิพลต่อการเปลี่ยนแปลง คุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปาก

ภาควิชา	ศัลยศาสตร์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สาขาวิชา	ศัลยศาสตร์ช่องปากและแม็กซิลโลเฟ	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
	เชียล	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม
ปีการศึกษา	2557	

5575826332 : MAJOR ORAL AND MAXILLOFACIAL SURGERY

KEYWORDS: ORAL HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE (OHRQOL) / GUIDED BONE REGENERATION / ORAL IMPACTS ON DAILY PERFORMANCES (OIDP) / IMPLANT SURGERY

SUCHAT KAMANKATGAN: ORAL HEALTH-RELATED QUALITY OF LIFE IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING SURGICAL IMPLANT PLACEMENT SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH GUIDED BONE REGENERATION. ADVISOR: ASST. PROF. ATIPHAN PIMKHAOKHAM, D.D.S., B.P.A., Ph.D., CO-ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. SUDADUANG KRISDAPONG, D.D.S., Ph.D., 152 pp.

Objective: To assess the Oral Health-Related Quality of life (OHRQoL) alteration in implant patients with guided bone regeneration (GBRs) and investigate the association of socio-demographic and clinical factors to those alteration.

Methods: The 52 implant-treated patients (14 with GBRs) were individually interviewed Oral Impact on Daily Performance (OIDP) before, 2 weeks, 1 and 3 months after surgery and after prosthesis used. Differences in OIDP scores were compared. Association of the factors to changed score were analyzed.

Results: OIDP score increased at 2 weeks (p=0.002) and recovered at 1 and 3 months after surgery then decreased after prosthesis used. Patients with GBRs showed more post-surgical impacts (p=0.01) but less post-prosthesis improvement (p=0.029) than the other. GBRs had no association while amount of implant placed (p=0.031) as well as gender (p=0.02) and denture experience (p=0.012) associated to post-surgical and -prosthesis OHRQoL changes, respectively.

Conclusion: Implant surgery with GBRs procedure shortly deteriorated OHRQoL however recovery within 1 months after surgery. Implant prosthesis improved OHRQoL. GBRs did not associate to these OHRQoL alterations.

Department:	Oral and Maxillofacial	Student's Signature
	Surgery	Advisor's Signature
Field of Study:	Oral and Maxillofacial	Co-Advisor's Signature
	Surgery	

Academic Year: 2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Along two years of this study period, I would like to express my sincere appreciation and thanks to both of my advisors, firstly to Assistant Professor Atiphan Pimkhaokham, he is an excellent oral plastic surgeon especially on the field of dental implant surgery as well as a smart clinical researcher that inspired and educated me on the research-mind thinking. Another is Associate Professor Sudaduang Krisdapong, an expert in dental epidemiology research including Oral Health-Related Quality of Life, whom teach and trained me a lot in order to propose this study although finally it is not good enough as it should be.

I would also like to thank Associate Professor Somchai Sessirisombat, Assistant Professor Keskanya Subbalekha and Associate Professor Thongnard Kumchai, for serving as my committee members even at hardship. I also want to thank you for your brilliant comments and suggestions. I would especially like to thank all of professors and teachers, nurses, dentist assistants and all of related officers at Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn university that supporting me on proceeding me this study. Last but not least, many thanks go to all participating patients in this study, who kindly patient and trust on giving me the precious personal information.

A special thanks to my family. Words cannot express how grateful I am to my mother and father for all of the sacrifices that you've made on my behalf. Your care for me was what sustained me thus far. I would also like to thank all of my friends who made me lough during our happiness, sit beside me in the nightmare events and incented me to strive towards my goal.

This research is supported by the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University, Rachadapisek Sompote Fund.

CONTENTS

THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLESXI
LIST OF FIGURES
Chapter 1 Introduction
Background and rationale
Research Objectives
Expected Benefits
Conceptual Framework
Chapter 2 Literatures Review
Health, oral health and quality of life10
Assessment of oral health-related quality of life
Scoring interpretation according to oral health-related quality of life measurement
Timing for implant placement post-extraction
Implant site development
Implant site development according to existing defect
Barrier membrane and bone-substitute biomaterials in the guided bone regeneration
Pain, anxiety and discomfort following implant placement
Oral health-related quality of life in patients with dental implant rehabilitation37

viii

Chapter 3 Materials and Methods	
Research design	47
Population and samples	47
Target population	47
Sample population	47
Sample grouping	47
Sample inclusion criteria	47
Sample exclusion criteria	
Sample size calculation	
Materials	50
Socio-demographic and clinical data	50
Oral health-related quality of life assessment	51
Scoring methods	53
Methods	54
Ethical considerations	54
Patient recruitment	54
Treatment process for dental implant prosthesis	54
Timing for oral health-related quality of life data collection	57
Interview method	58
Data analysis	60
Chapter 4 Results	63
Patient recruitment, inclusion and exclusion	63
Patient characteristics	65

Socio-demographic and dental history	65
Clinical and surgical-related variables	66
The overtime change on OIDP assessment	68
The change of assessed daily performances	81
Difference in the OHRQoL between study and comparison group	86
The change according to the minimal important different concept	89
Related factors on the change in OHRQoL	93
Responsiveness of the OIDP assessment	96
Chapter 5 Discussion	98
Chapter 6 Conclusion	12
REFERENCES	13
APPENDICES	30
Appendix A Data recorded form1	30
Appendix B OIDP performance score and global transition rating of patients in study group	34
Appendix C OIDP performance score and global transition rating of patients in comparison group1	36
Appendix D Descriptive statistics details of OIDP overall score in study group patients	39
Appendix E Descriptive statistics details of OIDP overall score in comparison group patients	41
Appendix F Frequency distribution of OIDP extent and intensity	43
Appendix G The <i>p</i> -value of within-group comparison for overall score14	44

Appendix H The statistical analysis for across-group on OIDP overall score	
comparison	145
Appendix I The <i>p</i> -value of within-group comparison for OIDP performance	
score	146
Appendix J Calculation methods for distribution-based MID	147
Appendix K Frequency distribution on meaningful/meaningless change for ea	ch
interested variables	148
Appendix L Statistical analysis related to OIDP responsiveness assessment	149
Appendix M Consent form (Thai language)	151
VITA	154



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Classification of oral impact intensity accroding to OIDP score	17
Table 2 Formulas of distribution-based method for MID calculation	19
Table 3 Summarized on current patient-based outcome studies in partial	
edentulous patients reconstructed by implant prostheses	46
Table 4 The OIDP frequency rating score criteria	52
Table 5 Patient's characteristics according to the study's group and the variable	
interested	67
Table 6 Median, mean and minimum-maximum of overall (aggregate) OIDP score	
at different time point assessed according to the study's group	69
Table 7 The impacts prevalence, extent and intensity of OIDP at different time	
point assessed according to the study's group.	72
Table 8 Number of patients according to less than severe or severe impact	
intensity at each match-paried time point comparison (all 52 patients)	77
Table 9 Number of patients according to less than severe or severe impact	
intensity at each match-paried time point comparison (14 patients in study group)	. 79
Table 10 Number of patients according to less than severe or severe impact	
intensity at each match-paried time point comparison (38 patients in comparison	
group)	80
Table 11 The median of OIDP performance scores and impact prevalence of each	
daily activities according to study's group and time assessed	84
Table 12 The percentage of patients in the study and comparison group	
according to OIDP extent at different time assessed	88
Table 13 The percentage of patients in the study and comparison group	
according to OIDP intensity at different time assessed	89

Table 14 The mean and median of OIDP individual changed score at two different	
observed period	. 90
Table 15 The minimal important different value by the distribution-based	
method	. 91
Table 16 The mean of individual changed score categorized by the level of	
change according to global transition rating in all patients	. 91
Table 17 The percentage of patients in each interested variables according to the	
meaningful/meaningless change at two different observed periods	. 95
Table 18 The median of overall OIDP score according to the level of global	
perceived change.	. 97
Table 19 The median of individual changed score according to the level of global	
perceived change.	. 97

Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Locker's model of oral health12
Figure 2 Theoretical framework of the consequences of oral impacts proposed by Adulyanon S. and Sheiham A. 1997
Figure 3 global rating of change using VAS
Figure 4 The flow chart represent the number of patients included ,excluded and the reason for exclusion.
Figure 5 Box plot demonstrates the overall OIDP score in 52 patients at different time assessed
Figure 6 Box plot demonstrates the overall OIDP score in the study group at different time assessed
Figure 7 Box plot demonstrates the overall OIDP score in the comparison group at different time assessed
Figure 8 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP extent in 52 patients at different time assessed
Figure 9 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP extent in study group, 14 patients, at different time assessed
Figure 10 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP extent in comparison group, 38 patients, at different time assessed
Figure 11 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP intensity in 52 patients at different time assessed74
Figure 12 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP intensity in study group, 14 patients, at different time assessed
Figure 13 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP intensity in comparison group, 38 patients, at different time assessed

Figure 14 The Box plots of all 8 daily performances scores at different time point	
assessed in study's groups	. 86
Figure 15 Bar chart demonstrated the overall OIDP median score comparison	
between the study's group according time assessed	. 87
Figure 16 The flow diagram displayed the proportion of patients in the study's	
groups according to the minimal important different change, 3 unit of changed	
score	.93



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Chapter 1 Introduction

Background and rationale

Since osseointegrated dental implants become the standard of care for missing teeth reconstruction of both total and partial edentulism, a large number of patients are now ongoing with this treatment which demonstrate high survival rate, long-term clinical success and also achieve high patient satisfaction. (1-5) The applications of dental implant are including single tooth replacement, fixed partial denture anchorage or implant-retained overdenture in order to promote oral rehabilitation not only physical functions, esthetic appearance but also psychosocial perspective.

Adequate quality and quantity of implant-supported alveolar tissue is considered as one of the important factors which influence the success of dental implant treatment. (6) However, the loss of alveolar tissue, both hard and soft tissues, usually occurs at the implant planning sites due to pre-existing tissue defects or the physiologic gradual loss following tooth extraction as the result of disuse atrophy. Several augmentation methods were introduced by aiming to restore lost tissue for proper placement of predictable success dental implants. Soft tissue augmentation is indicated in the case of the deficiency on peri-implant soft tissue quantity and/or quality. While alveolar bone augmentation is commonly performed for implant site development which composed of various surgical techniques depending on the existing bone volume.

In current clinical practice, augmentation procedure can be done at different time point related to implant placement. Most of alveolar bone augmentation was performed before implantation in order to allow grafting biomaterials completely heal in the form of integration with host bone. These procedures, such as onlay block graft, lateral approach maxillary sinus floor elevation, usually indicate for large bone volume loss or severe atrophic alveolar ridge in order to restore the bony foundation for the stable initial engagement of dental implant fixtures. While in some situations that acceptable initial implant stability was gained by the existing alveolar bone, but partial implant surface was still left exposed to surrounding bone, known as fenestration and dehiscence defects. In addition, augmentation for the appropriate alveolar bone thickness and contour needed to stabilize the overlying soft tissue particularly in the anterior esthetic region, known as contouring augmentation. These augmentation procedures could be done simultaneously with surgical implant placement. Various surgical techniques were proposed to deal with these mentioned clinical scenarios such osteotome-mediated sinus floor elevation in atrophic posterior maxilla, alveolar bone splitting technique for parallel horizontal expansion in narrow alveolar ridge and, recently, regenerative therapy for bone augmentation via bone grafting materials and covered membranes, called Guided bone regenerations (GBRs).

GBRs is now well-accepted and commonly performed simultaneously with implant placement in high clinical success. (7) As mentioned above, correction of peri-implant defect and building up the alveolar bone contour are two main indications for GBRs performed immediately with implant placement. Dental implant with regenerative bone by GBRs showed comparable survival rate to implant placed in naturally host bone. (8, 9) In addition, systematic review study reports that 60-100 % of defect was filled regardless of the material used or the early membrane exposure which clearly state the successful of GBRs for dehiscence and fenestration defect correction. (10) By the way, recently confidential clinical evidence proves that GBRs as contour augmentation for maxillary anterior implant prosthesis has beneficial on maintaining peri-implant soft tissue stability as well as preserving the facial bone wall. (11) Among current bone augmentation techniques, GBRs demonstrate many advantages over the other procedures such as only single surgery required, less postoperative morbidity and shorter treatment time, however, case selection should be considered properly.

Outcome evaluation on dental implant treatment should involve comprehensively in longevity or survival outcome, physiologic outcome and psychological outcome. (12) Survival outcome represents the number of dental implants that still maintain their function during an interested period of time. Many studies clearly showed that dental implant-supported prosthesis demonstrate high long-term survival rate. (13, 14) Whereas the physiological outcome mainly focuses on the physio-biological responses to the placed implant such efficacy on mastication, bite force, surrounding soft tissue reactions and enveloped alveolar bone status. Implant prosthesis improves masticatory function (15) with the respectively low incidence of crestal bone loss or peri-implantitis condition (16) demonstrate the well patient response to the treatment. Beside the previous mentioned outcomes, psychological outcome considered as the one of subjectively patient-based assessment in order to reflect the behavioral, emotional and social response, otherwise, the perception on health interventions by measuring through sense of personal appearance, ability on daily and social activities, perceived satisfaction and, entirely, perceived quality of life. The psychological outcome studies were performed through treatment satisfaction assessment, specified oral function questionnaire and standardized oral health-related quality of life questionnaire.

Oral health-related quality of life (OHRQoL) is defined as an individual perception on several dimensions of life related to oral conditions, including physical function, pain, psychological discomfort, and social difficulties. Alteration of oral status whatever from oral diseases, dental treatment or the psychosocial environment may affect to oral health-related quality of life. Many previous studies used different approaches such as measuring the satisfaction level or selfadministered questionnaires which usually constructed for the study's purpose with questionable in reliability, validity and psychometric properties. Oral impact on daily performance (OIDP) is one of the widely-accepted standard OHRQoL measurement aiming to define the effect of the impairment, disability and handicap from oral conditions to common daily activities including eating, talking, oral hygiene care, sleeping, smiling and social contact. Focusing on the endpoint consequence of oral impacts, evaluating both frequency and severity of impacts and the ability for condition-specific impact assessment are the major advantages of OIDP over the other tools. OIDP had been translated into many languages and standardize tested for reliability, validity and psychometric properties, especially in Thai adults and young population. Recently, the additional scoring formats such as prevalence, extent and intensity bring this OIDP interpretation more descriptive, which could better demonstrate the exact individual perception on the specified oral condition, in order to overcome the concern about the meaningless of the summative scoring.

(17) Moreover, concerning to identify important changed scores from the individual perspective, minimally important different has been introduced, by various approaches to estimate the smallest of changed score that individual actually perceived the improvement or deterioration. (18) Besides the epidemiological population survey studies, OIDP has actually become the effective tool for determination of treatment outcome, in term of oral health-related quality of life, in various dental patient groups such as cleft lip and cleft palate patients (19), orthognathic surgical patients (20), malocclusion adolescents (21), patients with xerostomia (22) and patients with implant-retained overdenture. (23, 24)

Oral rehabilitation with dental implant seems to improve patient's oral health-related quality of life. Most of the studies interested in oral health-related quality of life in patients receive implant-supported complete mandibular denture because it dramatically changes denture retention and/or stability, which clearly significantly showed the improvement in oral health-related quality of life. (24-27) Limited studies on oral health-related quality of life associated with implant reconstruction for partial edentulous patients showed the positive change of measuring score that implies the improvement of oral health-related quality of life (28-30) although some negative change score during post-operative period was found. (31) Post-operative pain and swelling considered as the individual physiologic response to oral surgical procedures and also represent only as a part of intermediate level of impacts according to oral consequence from impairments. A patient whom reported some degree of pain and swelling following surgical implant placement could not imply to the overall of the patient's oral health-related quality of life. (32, 33) Eventhough, dental implants supported fixed prosthesis such

as single crown or partial denture are now becoming the standard of care for partial edentulous reconstruction, publication of the well-designed studies that demonstrate patient's perceptions in form of patient-based outcome aspect to this treatment modality is not only less in number but also present some limitations in conclusion. (28, 30) Furthermore, the result of previous studies cannot be inferred to the general population due to the homogeneity or specificity of the study samples. (29, 34) Moreover, studies were designed without a comparison group leading to the uncertainly conclusion that oral health-related quality of life really improves from interested treatment variable. (34) By the way, the data interpretation of oral health-related quality of life from available studies were problematic due to the lack of proper analytical approach.

In addition to current clinical practice, guided bone regeneration procedures have been popularly used for improving the installed-implant site, the clinical outcome studies are increasing, whereas the patient-based outcome studies on this type of intervention are still limited in number. (31, 34) To comprehensively evaluate this treatment modality, clinical success assessment alone is insufficient to confirm the usefulness and value of the treatment, well-designed study with standard measuring tools for patient aspect appraisal is still required. (35)

Research Question

Does guided bone regeneration procedure simultaneously with surgical implant placement for partial edentulous reconstruction affect the patient's oral health-related quality of life?

Research Objectives

To assess the overtime change in OHRQoL in patients undergoing surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration and compare with those who were placed implant without guided bone regeneration

Research Hypothesis

Hypothesis :

1. OHRQoL in patients undergoing surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration <u>changes</u> overtime through treatment processes

2. OHRQoL in patients undergoing surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration is <u>different from</u> those who were placed implant without guided bone regeneration

Alternative hypothesis : Allea ONGKORN ONIVERSITY

1. OHRQoL in patients undergoing surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration <u>does not change</u> overtime through treatment processes

2. OHRQoL in patients undergoing surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration is *similar to* those who were placed implant without guided bone regeneration

Expected Benefits

While the guided bone regeneration procedure, nowadays, intends to improve clinical outcomes of dental implant reconstruction for dimensional insufficient edentulous alveolar ridge, this study is expected to demonstrate how this type of procedure affects to the patient's oral health-related quality of life which considered as one of the valuable patient-based outcome. This could be assured to the implant prosthesis associated-dental health care providers in understanding about what the patient will be encountered postoperatively and also the patient's perception to entire of the treatment. Moreover, theses could be used wisely to inform patient who requires this procedure and also beneficial for patient management at pre-, intra- and postoperatively in order to avoid or eliminate, as much as possible, correlated factors that would negatively affect to patient's oral health-related quality of life for the complete success both clinical outcomes and patient perspective.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Conceptual Framework



Chapter 2 Literatures Review

Health, oral health and quality of life

Changing the definition of health by the World Health Organization in 1946 from the absence of disease to the state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being obviously change the medical, also dental, treatment outcomes. (36) Thus, all of medical health services are ongoing to get the optimal goal of patient well-being. As in the present day of Dentistry, oral health care providers are not only treating patients for oral disease but also willing patients to improve their quality of life due to the impacts on daily activities from pathologic and/or psychosocialrelated oral conditions.

Quality of life is defined as the individuals' perceptions of the position of life in the context according to the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and controls. (37) While oral health is defined as the comfortable and functional dentition that allows individual to perform their social function and daily activities without physical, psychological or social difficulties. (38) That is, the effect in any dimension to quality of life predisposed by oral health impairments infer to oral health-related quality of life. (39) Several oral health dimensions, including physical oral function, pain, psychological discomfort, and social impacts are used to access the oral healthrelated quality of life. However, many factors including socio-demographic, medical, dental or environmental through attitude, believe are also influenceed directly or indirectly to the difference of an individual's oral health-related quality of life for example age, ethnicity, educational level, tooth loss experience, oral pain or related symptoms, frequency of dental visits, prosthesis wearing as well as cultural, psychological, dietary, and financial factors. (40, 41) The original application of quality of life assessment is the epidemiological purpose which aim to demonstrate the impact of oral conditions to the quality of life within the interested population to state the needs for dental care as health policy planning. However, this assessment is currently used for intervention effectiveness evaluation and, sometimes, represent patient satisfaction to oral health care services.

Assessment of oral health-related quality of life

There are various well-documented tools in measuring the OHRQoL such as the Social Impacts of Dental Disease (SIDD), Oral Health and the Sickness Impact Profile, Dental Health Questions from the Rand Health Insurance Study, the General Oral Health Assessment Index (GOHAI), the Dental Impact Profile, Subjective Oral Health Status Indicators, the Oral Health-related Quality of Life Measure, the Dental Impact on Daily Living (DIDL), Oral Health Quality of Life Inventory, the Oral Health Impact Profile (OHIP) and Oral Impacts on Daily Performances (OIDP), etc. (42) In contrast to the bio-physiological or clinical indicators which intend to measure the disease progression in various clinical aspects, most of OHRQoL measurements intend to demonstrate individual perception from oral conditions or disease to their life in various dimensions which mostly involve in physical function, cognitive function, self-care, pain, usual activities, energy/fatigue, social function, self-esteem and perceived health. The two commonly used indicators for measuring oral health-related quality of life in the current literatures is OHIP (43) and OIDP (44) due to its simplicity, reliability, validity, statistical analysis capability and wide acceptability. Both of indicators are theoretical-based and designed according to Locker's model of oral health (45) which proposed about the consequence of oral impacts from the taking place on disease to the impairment, functional limitation, physical pain, psychological discomfort, physical disability, psychological disability, social disability to the handicap condition (Figure 1) by based on the international classification of Impairments, Disabilities and Handicaps.



Figure 1 Locker's model of oral health

OHIP were originally constructed as 49 items-questionnaire, then latterly be modified in the shorter form that compose only 14 items comprehensively on seven dimensions such functional limitation, physical pain, psychological discomfort, physical disability, psychological disability, social disability and handicap. This indicator was designed as self-questionnaire that request the respondents in order to rate the frequency of assessed questions during the period of interest. The assessment in several oral health dimensions and long-term various clinical studies used are considered as the strengths of OHIP. However, similar dimension assessed for example functional limitation and physical disability or psychological discomfort and psychological disability were seemed to be repeatable measured, which leads to the occurrence of over scoring.

In 1996, the Thai dentist, Adulyanon S., introduced OIDP. The conceptual framework of this index is mainly focused on the assessment only the finally difficulties that result from the consequence of the take place according to all abnormalities. This conceptual model also originates from the World Health Organization's statement of the international classification of Impairments, Disabilities and Handicaps, however, been modified in order to categorize the occurrence impacts into 3 levels (Figure 2). (44) Level 1 is called "impairment" that represents the disease or condition in clinical aspect, such as loss of tooth, dental caries, tooth mobility, etc. The level 2 is called "intermediate impacts" that represents the early impacts on individual resulting from the impairments including the pain perception, psychological discomfort, functional limitation and appearance dissatisfaction. The endpoint impacts (Level 3) called ultimate impacts represent the impacts that affected to daily performed activities which comprehensively on physical, psychological and social difficulty. In order to achieve the truly difficulties that affected to the individual daily life, OIDP is designed to measure the ultimate impacts which would exclude any impairments or impacts that do not influence enough. The three difficulty dimensions are transformed into 8 main routine daily activities that involving oral health. Physical performances were evaluated through the difficulty in eating or enjoying food, speaking or pronouncing words clearly and cleaning teeth. While sleeping or relaxing, smiling, laughing or showing teeth without embarrassment

and maintaining the usual emotional state without being irritable are the representation of the psychological difficulties. Lastly, carrying out major work/social role and ability to contact with people are also being measured as social performance difficulties.



Figure 2 Theoretical framework of the consequences of oral impacts proposed by Adulyanon S. and Sheiham A. 1997

OIDP demonstrates some advantages for measuring the oral health-related quality of life over other measuring tools. The OIDP encompasses only all of the ultimate impacts which consider as the overall major consequences for oral health. Therefore, over scoring from repeating or similar measure from another level of impacts may not be happening. Unlike most of the indicators which generally assess only how often of the impacts affected to individual, OIDP assess both the frequency and the severity of that impact which additionally reveal about how important of the reported difficulties related to oral condition in the individual's perception on quality of life. In addition, OIDP can be assessed as condition-specific impacts in order to show specific oral problems that affected to individual's life. Since OIDP evaluate the difficulties from individual daily living activities which considered as behavioral-based information more than feeling-based information, respondents feel more comfortable and easy to answer assessed questions.

The OIDP has been tested for the reliability and validity in various groups of age, populations and countries including Thailand. The OIDP was used in the epidemiological study for determination of the impact from oral health in different adult and elderly populations which shown that pain and functional limitation were the main causes of impacts for almost every daily performance. (46, 47) Because dental health care in children and adolescent groups are challenging and currently be interested, child-OIDP were developed and used to assess the oral impacts that will imply the treatment needed for this population. In contrast to the study of adult and elderly group, the main causal symptoms of impacts are toothache and oral ulcers which effect on eating performance. (48, 49) Moreover, the 6th Thailand National Oral Health Survey had been incorporated the assessment on oral healthrelated quality of life in 12-year children and 15-year adolescence population by the application of child-OIDP and OIDP, respectively. This national survey revealed that more than 80 percent of samples shown at least one difficulty in daily activities that related to their oral condition, in addition, trouble on eating or chewing food, oral hygiene cleaning and maintaining emotional status are respectively the three most common activities that impacted to their life. (50) Besides the population community-based study, OIDP is actually become the effective tool for determination of oral health-related quality of life in various specifically patient groups such as cleft lip and cleft palate patients (19), orthognathic surgical patients (20), malocclusion adolescents (21), xerostomic patients (22) and also implantretained overdenture patients. (23, 24)

Scoring interpretation according to oral health-related quality of life measurement

As subjective assessment is now interested, attempt to transform this information to the computable form is also developed. All of the OHRQoL indexes request the responders to evaluate the assessed questions in the form of numerical data and summarized as a rating score in various formats, which then be defined for the meaning. The OHRQoL in the form of theses score sometimes considered as the worthless data because of the lack of clear internal explanation, for example, we cannot define the patient's problem with OHRQoL score equal to 12 or we cannot exactly conclude that the patient with a 9 OHRQoL score has inferior oral health well-being to the one with 11 OHRQoL score. According to the absent of the intrinsic meaning of these scores which is considered as the meaningless nature, thus, overall score could not address the exactness of the individual perception on their life. In the earlier oral health-related quality of life studies, the mean of the overall score was used as the representation of the quality of life degree in each study group and actually also used to calculate statistical difference between groups at the specified significance level. This is now considered as the inadequate or, sometimes, inappropriate method for this type of data interpretation.

The alternative way, reporting the data related to the quality of life measurement, was introduced in order to overcome the meaningless scoring. Others formats of the quality of life data scoring such prevalence, extent and intensity of the impacts have been recommended to be reported in conjunction with the conventional aggregated scores while performing the oral health-related quality of life studies. (17) The differences in the OHRQoL indexes result in the diversity of the prevalence, extent and intensity determination. For the OIDP, the prevalence refers to the proportion of respondents who report at least one or more performances impact, in contrast, the extent refers to the amount of performance that respondent report impact which also called Performance With Impact (PWI), thereby, range from one to eight. The Intensity of OIDP is determined by the highest of the performance score among the eight performances assessed in each individual. In addition, the intensity is classified into six ordinal levels, according to the achieved scores (Table 1). Krisdapong S, et al. (17) analyzed the OHRQoL data in a form of child-OIDP and OIDP from the Sixth Thailand National Oral health survey in order to determine the correlation between the various score formats and the global subjective rating, which is considered as the overall individual perception on the specified condition. Statistical correlation among these was found, however, the intensity not only obviously presented the strong correlation, but also demonstrated the increase in agreement to the global subjective rating.

	Frequency/		Frequency/	Performance
Intensity	severity		severity	score
CHULAI	score	Jnive	score	
No impacts	0	х	Any score	0
Very little	1	х	1	1
	2	х	1	2
Little	3	х	1	3
	4	х	1	4
	2	х	2	4
	5	х	1	5
Moderate	3	х	2	6
	4	х	2	8
	3	х	3	9
	5	х	2	10
	4	х	3	12
Severe	5	х	3	15
	4	х	4	16
Very severe	5	х	4	20
	5	х	5	25

Table 1 Classification of oral impact intensity accroding to OIDP score

Generally, the change or difference in the quality of life score are clinically considered as the alteration of the quality of life level in the sense of the attending physician. Although, that change could not be correctly inferred to the quality of life alteration in the patient point of view or how that changed score useful for the clinical judgment and patient management. Therefore, to determine that clinically useful or individually meaningful change, Minimally Important Different (MID) was introduced. MID is defined as "the smallest difference in OHRQoL index score in the domain of interest which patients perceive as beneficial and which would mandate, in the absence of troublesome side-effects and excessive cost, a change in the patient's management". (51) Two methods are conducted to calculate the MID. Distribution-based method uses the distribution pattern of the existing data, such standard deviation or standard error for calculation thus also calls internally referenced method. Anchor-based method calculates from the other quality of life data reference value such known clinical group, population norms, subjective global transition scale thus also calls externally referenced method. Effect Size (ES), Standardized Response Mean (SRM), Standard Error of Measurement (SEM) and Norman's rule of thumb are the current methods to generate distribution-based MID (Table 2). ES and SRM are derived from the similar manner. ES derives by the ratio of the mean changed score and the standard deviation of the baseline score, whereas SRM is the ratio of the mean changed score and the standard deviation of changed score. While SEM is derived from the multiplication between the standard deviation

of the baseline score and the square root of the 1 minus with the alpha value, that represent the reliability of the specified measurement. Norman's rule of thumb suggests that MID could be approximated from the half of the baseline score's standard deviation. (52) Due to absent of the actual consensus about the most suitable method for identifying MID in the quality of life study, giving a wide range of MID by multiple approaches conjunction with the triangulation method converging to the narrow range or single value, are still recommended. (53) Tsakos G, et al. published the study about the determination of MID for the OHRQoL in the patients with periodontitis according to the different therapeutic means by the assessment of OHRQoL through the OIDP index. MID was calculated by various methods including the anchor-based method, which reference to subjective global transition scale, and distribution-base method consist of ES, SRM and SEM. MID was found around five points OIDP score, imply the meaning that the change in OIDP score at least five points are considered for individual perception significant. (54) Recently, these additional methods in order to address the MID, which transform the meaningless score to the meaningful interpretation, were recommended for the minimum requirement needed to be reported in conjunction with the mean score, alternative scoring format; prevalence, extent and intensity and the oral health global ratings while study on the OHRQoL. (18)

Distribution-based method of MID	Formula		
Effect Size (ES)	Mean changed score		
Standardized Response Mean (SRM)	St. deviation of the baseline score Mean changed score		
	St. deviation of the changed score		
Standard Error of Measurement (SEM)	St. deviation of the baseline score $ imes \sqrt{1-lpha}$		

Table 2 Formulas of distribution-based method for MID calculation

Alteration of alveolar tissue following tooth loss

Alveolar tissues including bone and soft tissue originate at the same time of tooth eruption which commonly determines the alveolar volume and shape. As the consequence after tooth loss, surrounding alveolar tissue has been changed which mostly resulting in the reduction in all dimensions. Alveolar bone tends to decrease in width and height over time following tooth loss, these pronounced dimensional reductions occur in the first two to three months. (55) Moreover, Horizontal dimension reduction seems to occur more than the vertical dimension leading to the narrow and also short edentulous ridge clinically. (55, 56) As soft tissue is supported by the underlying alveolar bone, alteration also occurs which usually relate to the coronal migration of the facial keratinized mucosa resulting in the reduction of the keratinized tissue width. (55, 57) In addition, alteration of alveolar tissues may occur according to pre-existing alveolar defect moreover from the physiological change following tooth loss, such as periodontal disease, peri-radicular pathology, trauma, pre-existing tissue defect or destructive pathology and surgical trauma during tooth extraction. These conditions compromise the quantity as well as the quality of dental implant supporting structure which affected to biological, functional and esthetic success of implant-supported prosthesis.

Timing for implant placement post-extraction

Implant placement could be performed at different time period following tooth extraction, this placement time also influence on the clinical outcomes of the treatment. (58) The widely accepted classification of timing for implant placement post-extraction is based on the degree of individual socket healing rather than the fixed time frame. Immediate implant placement is classified as type 1 that implant is placed in the extraction socket immediately following tooth extraction, by means of the absence of any soft or hard tissue healing. Early implant placement which allowed extraction socket to heal, however, incompletely is classified as type 2 and type 3. The condition in which soft tissue properly healed without any clinical signs of alveolar bone fill, typically 4-8 weeks post-extraction, represents as type 2 early implant placement while type 3 early implant placement refer to the placement of dental implant in the completely healed soft tissue with a partially bone healed socket that normally occurs during 12-16 weeks post-extraction. Late or delayed implant placement means the placement of dental implant in the completely healed socket that commonly take place 6 month post-extraction. (59) In current recommendation for immediate implant placement, the fresh extraction socket need to reveal the completeness of facial bone wall by the minimum thickness about 1 mm without the acute infectious condition. In addition, the thick soft tissue biotype and the adequate quantity of peri-radicular bone for gaining the optimal implant primary stability are also required in order to achieve treatment success especially for an esthetically implant prosthesis. (60) However, the main concerned problem for the implant placed immediately post-extraction is the apical migration of the facial gingiva according to the unpredictable resorptive modeling of the alveolar bone which could compromise the aesthetical perspective of the prosthesis. In case of the inability to fulfill the minimum requirements for immediate implant placement or the avoidance of esthetic troubles, the early implant placement is latterly recommended. The substantial healing at the socket site provides the adequate soft tissue to achieve the desired esthetic outcomes and also facilitate the flap

manipulation in the surgical implant placement. In addition, primary implant stability and the good implant position are more easily attainable than immediate approach when partial bone formation occurs. Lastly, delayed implant placement recently do not recommend due to the excessive loss of alveolar tissue from a physiologic modeling process that could compromise both quantity and quality of the implant supporting tissue. Patients in the continuing growth period or whom unable to receive implant placement at that suitable period are suggested to perform the socket preservation procedure prior delayed implant placement to overcome the undesirable dimensional socket change.

Implant site development

The primary goal of surgical implant placement is to properly place the dental implant into the alveolar bone in order to gain maximum implant stability and obtain the appropriate implant position for a planned-prosthesis. However, the proper clinical condition in which the adequate quantity and quality of the implant planning sites is sometimes not primarily obtained. An additional procedure involving the improvement of bone and soft tissue which objectively to built-up the appropriate supporting structures surrounding dental implants call implant site development procedures. These surgical procedures often associate with the augmentation procedures. The procedures for bone augmentation including the use of growth factors to induce new bone formation, overlay bone graft, distraction osteogenesis and bone splitting for ridge expansion while mucogingival surgery, including free gingival graft and connective tissue graft usually be considered for peri-implant soft tissue augmentation. Clinical application of these procedures could be
different according to the various clinical situations and could be performed at the different implant treatment time.

Surgical augmentation procedure for implant site development could be done pre-, peri- and post-implant placement. Augmentation procedures that perform before implant placement usually involve in the large tissue volume deficiency that could clinically compromise the initial stability of the installed implant. These procedures usually associate with multiple surgeries, long treatment time and postoperative morbidities especially for the graft harvesting procedure from the local or distant autogenous donor sites. In contrast, augmentation procedures that perform post-implant placement often indicate in the regenerative surgery for correction of the peri-implant disease or complication such as peri-implantitis that produce periimplant bone destruction. (61, 62) Simultaneous augmentation procedures performed during implant placement demonstrate some benefits such time saving, avoid multiple surgeries, less post-operative morbidities and shorten overall treatment time. (63)

Chulalongkorn University

Overlay bone graft

Autogenous onlay block grafts harvested from both extra-oral, such as iliac crest, rib, fibula bone or calvarium, and intra-oral, such as symphysis, maxillary tuberosity or mandibular ramus, are commonly used for vertical and/or horizontal bone deficiency corrections both before and during implant placement. The main benefits of block graft augmentation performed prior implant placement are the ability of the integrated graft to engage the installed implant resulting in the clinically accepted initial implant stability (64), improve ridge dimensions (65, 66) and

demonstrate the high survival rate of dental implant placed in this type of graft. (67) Though, onlay bone grafting procedure routinely performs prior implant placement, the concern of the graft resorption, which mostly occur early after graft transplantation (68, 69) and the attempt to shorten the treatment time resulting in the recommendation of the onlay block graft simultaneous with implant placement. Implant success and implant survival was still comparable whether immediately or delayed placement of dental implant on this onlay block graft. (70) However, simultaneous implant placement with onlay block graft is not nowadays popular due to the unpredictable resorption pattern of the augmented graft and the introduction of the alternative bone grafting during implantation that also present the comparable or higher success with the lower morbidities and easier to perform. Autogenous bone graft, in the form of block or particulate, commonly be harvested from both extraoral sites and intra-oral sites. Due to the donor site surgery, some adverse event may be present as post-operative morbidities. Sensory alteration, especially at the lip and mental area is the most common post-operative complication from mandibular symphysis and ramus bone harvesting procedure (71) with the prevalence range from 10-50% and 0-5%, respectively. (70, 72) Extra-oral bone harvesting, commonly from iliac crest, is required in order to gain much more bone quantity and also the high quality of grafted bone. However, this procedure also causes several morbidities such as prolong post-operative pain, gait problem, sensory alteration and scar formation. (73) Thus, mandibular ramus still becomes the donor site of choice for alveolar bone augmentation because of its low morbidities, predictable outcome and uncomplicated surgical procedure.

Sinus floor elevation

Dental implant reconstruction in the posterior maxillary region often encounter with the unfavorable residual alveolar ridge mostly in the form of the deficiency in vertical alveolar height as the result from alveolar ridge resorption, physiologic sinus pneumatization or in combination of both. The sinus floor elevation procedure was introduced to overcome the vertical alveolar bone deficiency due to the sinus pneumatization (74), however, unable to correct the problems related to alveolar ridge resorption which resulting in the inappropriate horizontal and/or vertical alveolar ridge dimension. Lateral osteotomy approach maxillary sinus floor elevation with the grafting procedure demonstrates the predictable clinical outcomes and high success of implant prosthesis irrespectively to timing of implant placement whether simultaneous or delay placement. (75-77) However, the most important factor for implant to integrate well with surrounding bone is the implant initial stability. So the recommendation for simultaneous implant placement with lateral osteotomy approach maxillary sinus floor elevation with grafting is stated only in case of the residual alveolar ridge height at least 4-5 mm. (70) Latterly, the less invasive and more simpler surgical procedure alternative to the lateral osteotomy approach was introduced. By mean of localized sinus floor elevation by the crestal osteotomy approach is called Osteotome-Mediated Sinus Floor Elevation (OMSFE). OMSFE is performed through the sequential sized osteotomes in which to relocate crestal bone apically with or without bone grafting toward the sinus floor then place dental implant simultaneously. (78) This surgical technique requires at least 5-6 mm. of the residual bone height to obtain sufficient initial implant stability. (78) Although, this technique limits the alveolar height gain about only 2-4 mm. (79) In addition,

the placed implant demonstrated the high success and survival rate even if no additional bone grafting performed (79-83). Whereas the implant survival rate substantially decreased if the residual alveolar height less than 4 mm. (84-86) The most common intra-operative complication of these kind of procedures is the sinus membrane perforation, however, this is not significantly affected to the clinical implant survival (87, 88) while post-operative maxillary sinusitis is uncommon but considered to be the potentially important complication. (89, 90) Pre-existing ostium stenosis, previous maxillary sinusitis, mucosal pathology, free floating graft due to the large membrane perforation, post-operative swelling of the sinus mucosa, disturbance of sinus physiology from anatomy alteration are considered as the predisposing factors for sinus to be infected following surgery. (91)

Alveolar bone splitting

There are the alternative interventions for narrow atrophic alveolar ridge beside the onlay bone graft, guided bone regeneration or distraction osteogenesis which often concern about the resorption or infection of the graft, time consuming for graft healing and post-operative morbidity of the donor site. Alveolar bone splitting technique simultaneous with implant placement was proposed in order to expand an alveolar ridge in the horizontal dimension by splitting the parallel cortical bone plate of the alveolar ridge and immediately places the implant then allows the gap to heal naturally similar to the fracture healing pattern or fill it with the bonesubstitute grafting materials. (92) Due to the need for bone plate separation, the clinical application of this technique is limited especially for the broad-based alveolar ridge and highly flexible bone quality because of the avoidance of split plate fracture. Thus, this technique is preferred to perform in the upper jaw more than the lower due to the looser bone density with more spongy bone separate the thin bone plate. Dental implants placed in this expanded ridge demonstrate the good initial stability (93) and also show the high rate of success and long-term survival. (94-97)

Guided bone regeneration technique

Guided bone regeneration (GBRs) is considered to be one of the reliable surgical techniques for alveolar ridge augmentation including for the correction of local defects or increase the vertical and horizontal deficiency. (98) Theoretically, GBR was introduced according to the principle of the alveolar bone formation stimulation by the blood clot filled space created under the barrier membrane in order to prevent the nonosteogenic cells ingrowth that might impede new bone formation in conjunction with tension-free primary wound closure. (99) Later, various grafting biomaterials show the significant role for new bone formation in the GBR procedure through their osteogenesis, osteoinduction and osteoconduction characteristics corresponds to their types, compositions and properties. Various clinical applications of GBR are widely accepted and had been studied in order to state the success of the GBR and the survival of dental implant placed in the GBR augmented bone. For alveolar bone augmentation before implant placement, GBR demonstrates evidently increase the vertical bone height and horizontal bone width that facilitate the proper implant placement. (100-102) In addition, GBR demonstrate for the correction of vertical deficiency (103, 104) high success or dehiscence/fenestration defects simultaneously with implant placement. (8, 105,

106) However, the indication or clinical requirement for the ideal GBR technique simultaneous with implant placement is also limited to the implant with acceptable primary stability, implant in proper position and the defect that enclosed by the surrounding bone. (107) The most common complication of GBR is the early exposure of the overlying barrier membrane consequence with the infectious events or disturbance of new bone formation. (108-110) Intensive oral hygiene care with regular anti-septic mouthwash are suggested to reduce that deteriorate effects from early membrane exposure. (111, 112)

Soft tissue augmentation

Healthy peri-implant soft tissue is important for biological and esthetical dental implant success. Keratinized or attached mucosa acts as a physical barrier from pathogenic invasion to the underlying peri-implant tissue especially the surrounding integrated bone. Thus, the high quality, stability and healthy of the soft tissue surrounding the implant, the long-term survival of dental implants predicted. (113, 114) Moreover, peri-implant soft tissue is considered as one of the most important esthetical determinant especially in the anterior teeth. Various surgical techniques could be done to manage peri-implant soft tissue augmentation procedure which perform before implant placement. Soft tissue augmentation procedure which perform before in order to provide adequate soft tissue for complete coverage of the underlying augmented graft or to create the favorable soft tissue type. As well as at the time of implant placement, soft tissue augmentation also plays a pivotal role not only for primary wound closure particularly when perform in

combination with bone augmentation such guided bone regeneration which concern about the disturbance of graft healing from the environmental contamination but also for contour maintaining of the facial soft tissue. While post-implant placement soft tissue augmentation mainly intends to improve aesthetic perspective of periimplant soft tissue such papilla formation, improper facial soft tissue contour correction. In order to preserve as well as reconstruct peri-implant soft tissue, mucogingival surgery procedure is needed, generally associate to the autogenous gingival and connective tissue graft in form of both pedicle and free graft. (115) Clinical application in order to choose the appropriate surgery depends on the deficiency or trouble of the peri-implant soft tissue for each clinical scenario. The free gingival graft is primarily intended to increase the width of keratinized mucosa. In contrast, the connective tissue graft is usually applied to increase the thickness or fullness of the surrounding soft tissue. (116, 117) However, the main drawbacks of the free gingival graft especially at the esthetic site are the unpredictable result, color mismatch and the risk for keloid formation. (115) In addition, free gingival graft showed more post-operative pain and bleeding due to the palatal donor site denuded area from the harvesting procedure while connective tissue graft present less morbidity due to subepithelial approach which primary closure can be achieved. (118, 119)

Implant site development according to existing defect

In order to decide which type of site development procedure is appropriate to restore alveolar tissue supported dental implant, surgeons need to assess the existing defects that can compromise the treatment result physically, functionally as well as esthetically. Both bone and/or gingival tissue might bring a various type of defect in a different volume affected. Small volume soft tissue defect could be corrected with the subepithelial connective tissue graft which generally performs during implant placement in conjunction with the application of suitable graftsupported healing abutment. This procedure provides predictable vertical soft tissue augmentation. In contrast, the large volume soft tissue defect usually requires more soft tissue augmentation procedures before implant placement. Subepithelial connective tissue graft or vascularized interpositional periosteal connective tissue flap is suggested to improve soft tissue volume in this condition. Small volume hard tissue defect such fenestration and dehiscence defect could be corrected by guided bone regeneration procedure. The fenestration defect, a partial implant surface exposure defect due to insufficient horizontal bone thickness with intact alveolar crestal bone, and dehiscence defect, a partial implant surface exposure defect that exposes apically from crestal alveolar bone, were successfully reported the acceptable clinical outcomes following defect correction simultaneously with implant placement. (8, 105, 106) In addition, combination defect of hard and soft tissue in the small volume could also be corrected together during implant placement with the same manner. While a large volume of hard tissue defect unsurprisingly needs to be corrected with a large volume grafting procedure such onlay block graft, sometimes in conjunction with soft tissue augmentation to compensate relatively soft tissue insufficiency following bulky bone augmentation, before implant placement. (120)

Anterior maxillary region is one of the most common sites for implant prosthesis, uncomfortable to removable prosthesis as well as highly esthetic demand considered as the main reasons for the reconstruction with dental implant at this region. Thin facial bone wall results in rapid and severe horizontal ridge resorption that compromised implant placement. Ridge width is suggested as empirical guideline for the selection of suitable augmentation procedure. Guided bone regeneration procedure and ostetomes-mediated ridge splitting which could be done simultaneously with implant placement are recommended when ridge thickness about 7-10 mm. and 6-7 mm. respectively. While ridge width less than five mm. requires more invasive procedure such as onlay block graft or distraction osteogenesis. (121)

In some clinical scenarios, simultaneous bone augmentation according to the guided bone regeneration procedure is performed even there is no existing defects. For instance, the immediate and early dental implant placement which extraction socket is not completely healed the discrepancy between socket space and implant size can lead to unavoidable peri-implant gap. If surrounding bone walls are intact with the marginal peri-implant gap lesser than 3 mm. in width, spontaneous bone filled is expected to correct this defect naturally without the need for the additional bone augmentation. However, unpredictable physiologic horizontal resorption exactly occurs at the following time, this could be serious in the esthetically needed area due to soft tissue contour reduction as the supporting bone loss. Simultaneous bone augmentation could be used to compensate this undesirable resorption, known as contouring augmentation, which is also beneficial in maintaining the esthetic soft tissue contours. (11, 59)

Barrier membrane and bone-substitute biomaterials in the guided bone regeneration

Rapidly growing up of the biomaterial technology in conjunction with numerous publications on various aspects in dental implant is the result from the advance development in biomaterial related to osseointegrated implant. Concentration was not only on implant components but also interested in grafting materials for hard and soft tissue augmentation. Guided bone regeneration was applied in clinical practice for bone augmentation in different indications such horizontal or vertical ridge augmentation prior to implant placement, regenerative treatment for peri-implantitis and the correction of local defect or contour augmentation during implant placement. This technique involves the main two biomaterials such the barrier membrane and bone substitute material.

The barrier membrane was popularly classified according to the pattern of degradation including non-resorbable and resorbable membrane. Recently, the most widely used and accepted non-resorbable membrane is the expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (e-PTFE). This type of membrane presents the superior in conformational stability which is the critical function of the barrier membrane to create the space for new bone formation. Well- integrated of installed implants to the regenerated site (122), successful in the vertical bone augmentation (104) and predictable result on the correction of peri-implant defect (105) were reported in the use of e-PTFE membrane for GBR procedure during implant placement regardless of the different bone-substitute materials applied. However, the requirement of re-entry surgery to remove the membrane and the risk of early membrane exposure that could negatively affect to the bone formation, are the main disadvantages of this

membrane. (123) In contrast, the resorbable membrane, commercially available in various forms with different in origin and characteristics, does not require the second surgery, and has lower risk for membrane exposure. (124) Collagen membrane originally derives from both allogenic and xenogeneic biomaterial is generally applied in the current clinical practice. The common properties of collagen membranes that are considered for the important characteristic of the barrier membrane are the blood clot forming stimulation, chemotaxis, highly biocompatibility, naturally biodegradable without the toxic by-product (125) as well as promoting bone regeneration. (126) The installed implants with GBRs procedure via collagen membrane showed the long-term survival and high success rate (127) and the satisfied peri-implant defect correction. (128) However, the installed implants with GBRs procedure either with resorbable collagen membrane or non-resorbable e-PTFE membrane demonstrated the similar accepted clinical and radiographic results as well as the high survival rate to the non-grafted implants in the long-term, more than 10 years, study. (129) Another alternative group of resorbable membrane is the alloplastic or bio-chemical synthetic membrane such polyglactin, polyglycoside synthetic copolymers: polylactic acid, polyglactide, polyethylene glycol membrane. This type of membrane was developed based on the avoidance of animal products but still need to combine the conformational stability and the self-biodegradation properties. The polyethylene glycol membrane was comparable in the gaining of bone height and bone width to collagen membrane following the correction of periimplant defect by assessing cone beam computed tomography at 5-year after implant placement. (130) In addition, the modified polylactide/polyglycolide acid

membrane was also found the comparable clinical result to the e-PTFE membrane for the peri-implant defect correction. (131)

Although the principle of the GBRs technique for the new bone formation primarily mentioned to the barrier membrane in order to exclude the unwanted cell, the bone-substitute materials were also interested as the important component of the current GBRs. The bone-substitute particles act as not only the scaffold for new bone apposition but also maintain the created space by prevention the membrane collapsed. (123) Autogenous bone is still considered as the gold standard for grafting materials that initiate and facilitate new bone formation from its superior biological properties especially the outstanding osteogenesis potential. (121, 132) Preferable of the peri-implant soft and hard tissue health was found when autogenous bone was used to augment around dental implant in immediate implant placement compare to synthetic bone grafting. (133) As well as in the correction of exposed implant surface during implant placement, autogenous bone by the technique of GBRs present the clinical accepted bone gain over the implant surface. (134, 135) However, the donor site morbidities following harvesting procedure and the limited amount of bone harvested causes this type of graft restrictedly used only in the specific indication which truly needs its obvious osteogenic characteristic such the onlay block graft, craniofacial reconstruction or in the need for a small amount of graft material that could be simply collected at the osteomy site or the adjacent area. The other bone-substitute materials including allogenic, alloplastic and xenograft bone were developed and improved to become the grafting material alternative or in combination to the autogenous bone for this regenerative therapy. In GBRs procedure, most of these bone-substitute materials act as osteoconductive

scaffold allowing the new bone formation replacement the partially or totally resorbed grafting materials and protective function on the collapse of the overlying membrane. The freeze-dried form of allogenic bone in conjunction with the application of membrane as GBRs technique demonstrated the more than 70% reduction of the peri-implant dehiscence. (136) In addition, new developed technique by sandwich augmentation of both autogenous and aloogenic bone revealed the significant bone gain. (137) Various applications of anorganic bovine xenograft is now widely accepted, one of those was for GBRs technique during implant placement. Well-designed long-term studies reported the high survival rate (127), furthermore, the survival rate was comparable in either pristine bone or regenerated with GBRs procedure using anorganic bovine bone, Bio-oss[®]. (8) Clinical sustainability of peri-implant tissue health including soft and hard tissue was satisfy reported in anterior implant concurrently with contour augmentation via the GBRs technique of the layered autogenous bone and anorganic bovine bone used. (11) The application of synthetic or alloplastic bone is currently increasing. These bonesubstitute materials mainly composed of the two kinds of inorganic mineral such hydroxyapatite and tricalcium phosphate in the different proportion for each market brands. Osteoconductive property in the animal study was proved by the evaluation of the peri-implant defect resolution. (138) Comparable ability of the hydroxyapatite and tricalcium phosphate mixture and anorganic bovine bone for correction of the dehiscence defect around the installed implant was also reported. (139)

Pain, anxiety and discomfort following implant placement

When undergoing oral surgical procedures, patients are unavoidable to encounter with undesirable events such sharp needle injection, incision with knife, bleeding per mouth, peri-, post-operative pain and discomfort. Most of oral surgical patients still present the high degree of anxiety when compare to others dental procedures. (140) Pain is considered as the closely associated causative factor for the anxiety in oral surgical operations. (141) By the way, implant placement to the jaw bone necessarily needs the surgical procedure which related to inflammatory process such pain and swelling following surgical tissue trauma. Patients report moderate level of pain at 1 days then decreases to the mild level nearly the absent of pain at 7 days post-surgical implant placement, respectively. Gender, number of implant placed, skills of surgeon and surgical difficulty were demonstrated the association to that reported pain. (33, 142) For post-operative swelling, a previous study addressed that most of surgical implant placement patients report about the extra-oral swelling correspond to the surgical area. In addition, much more swelling was observed in patients with increasing age, posterior surgical location, multiple implants placed and site development simultaneously with implant placement. (32) As known, the pain and swelling is a part of the main clinical signs for the infection. However whether prescribe the different regimens or discard the use of peri- and post-operative antibiotic medication, patients were reported the similar degree of pain and swelling following surgical implant placement. (143)

Oral health-related quality of life in patients with dental implant rehabilitation

Tooth loss is consider as one of the major oral impairment because of the limitation on physical oral function especially chewing food and the difficulty in social function such as talking, smiling. (144) As in the current dental care, dental implants become the standard of treatment for reconstruction of both total and partial tooth loss. Especially in patient with complete edentulous mouth, implant-supported prosthesis significantly demonstrated the better patient satisfaction as well as the improvement in the oral, and also, general health-related quality of life due to the increase in physical function and psychosocial ability over the conventional denture. (24-26, 145, 146) As in the partial edentulous patients, preferable OHRQoL and high long-term satisfaction was found in patients who receive implant-supported single crown or fixed partial prosthesis. (4, 5, 147-149)

Measurement of treatment outcome particularly dental implant rehabilitation should consist of multi-dimensional assessments including longevity/survival outcome, functional outcome, psychological and economic outcomes. (12) Most of the well-established studies concentrated on the assessment of treatment success which mostly referred to longevity/survival and functional outcomes while psychological and economic outcomes were paid less attention. Moreover, study related to psychological impacts as well as patient-based outcomes measurement is unreliable due to poorly design study or unaccepted measuring tools. (150) Therefore, doing the studies that aiming to evaluate patient response to dental implant treatment was latterly recommended. (35)

After the introduction of dental implant for edentulous reconstruction which formerly use as an anchorage for conventional prosthesis, later known as implant retained/supported prosthesis, in order to solve the problem of conventional denture especially to improve the retention and stability which were the most common patient's reported trouble from denture wearing. Patient reaction to this new modality of treatment had begun to study (151) by using the uniquely studypurposive questionnaire aiming to show the patient's point of view on this intervention. The result of these early studies demonstrated that patients were satisfied for implant-anchored prosthesis since the comfortability, masticatory function and esthetical appearance considerably improved. (151, 152) However, due to the poor study designed as well as non-standardized questionnaire without the reliability and validity of the measuring technique, theses earlier study's results are scientifically unreliable. Visual analog scale was applied for patients to rating their opinion on implant-supported prosthesis which shown superiorly in overall satisfaction, comfort, stability, and chewing ability when compare to conventional denture. (153, 154) Later, study of the OHRQoL has been introduced to evaluate patient's perspective treatment outcomes and satisfaction especially in patients who receive implant-supported prosthesis. These studies still present the similar result as previous that implant-supported prosthesis has a positive effect to OHRQoL in both esthetic and functional ways. (26, 155) OHIP was commonly chosen for measuring OHRQoL because of its psychometric properties verification and being used in the numerous patient-based outcome studies which beneficial for study's results comparison. The results of these studies clearly shown that patients with implantretained/supported overdenture demonstrate a less OHIP score than conventional denture patients that imply the better in OHRQoL following implant treatment. (25,

156-158) OIDP is considered as one of the subjective assessment to evaluate OHRQoL in this group of patients, however, only limited study was used. (24)

Pre-prosthetic surgery which performs in order to improve alveolar tissue prior for implant placement is also interested in the patient-based outcomes study due to the post-operative morbidities potential to affect patient comfortability as well as physical function, sometimes, esthetic aspect. Subjective evaluation in the form of self-assessment questionnaires and visual analog scale to rate the patient's perception of post-operative pain/discomfort, patient's opinion on operation, satisfaction were studied. These study's results clearly shown that patients tolerated to the mandibular bone harvesting procedure and that morbidities did not present the negative affect to patient. (71, 72, 159, 160) However, the quality of life related to these kinds of surgery has been rarely studied. Reissmann DR, et al. (161) studied the effect of different donor sites, including intra-oral and extra-oral sites, for alveolar bone grafting prior implant placement to the quality of life by Short Form-36 which represent the general health-related quality of life and OHIP-G which represent the OHRQoL. OHIP score appeared to increase over the baseline at 3 days post-operation then decreased below baseline at 4 weeks post-operation, however, no statistical significance detected. Therefore, the worsening of the OHRQoL by intra-oral bone harvesting appears to occur in a small degree post-operatively and then recovery to normal in a short period of time. Nevertheless, the authors suggested that the interpretation of OHIP should be precaution due to the patient's inability to distinguish between donor site and recipient site which located in the adjacent area.

Patient's satisfaction in one of the various methods used to represent patient's response after therapeutic means as well as implant treatment. Gibbard LL, et al. (147) conducted the 5-year survey after implant-supported single tooth replacement in 42 samples. Patient satisfaction was gathered from the satisfaction questionnaires which consist of the satisfaction on different aspect such functioning, cleaning, willingness for another implant and recommendation this treatment to others. Most of patients reported a high level of satisfaction for implant prosthesis in all dimensions assessed. Pjetursson BE, et al. (5) performed the similar study after 10 years post-implant placement for partial edentulous prosthesis by assessed the visual analog scale in various satisfactory dimensions such comfortability on chewing, phonetics, esthetics, cleaning ability and the fulfillment on patient's expectation in 104 patients. The result showed the high satisfaction level in all dimensions evaluated. The 97% of patients satisfied on chewing ability and the esthetic appearance to the implant prosthesis while 96% and 93% also satisfied on the phonetic and hygiene cleansing, respectively. The satisfaction on implant treatment was correlated to the patient's expectation, eventually. Vermylen K, et al. (4) also demonstrated the similar result which esthetic, phonetic, cleaning and valuable of the treatment were satisfied, however, 22.5% of patients unwanted to undergoing this kind of surgery again. Furthermore, patient responded the expectation over the baseline following implant treatment. (162)

Subsequently, the OHRQoL index was also become the interesting and trustful tool to address patient's opinions. Furuyama C, et al. (149) compared the OHRQoL by OHIP-J49 in 79 implant prosthesis and 109 removable prosthesis patients. Better OHRQoL was found on implant prosthesis over the conventional one. However, more than 55% and 77% of patients with respective type of prosthesis reported the trouble about food impaction. Nickenig H-J, et al.(163) reported the

decrease in OHIP-G21 score (median score were 17.1 and 5.4 at preoperative and post-treatment, respectively) at 1-2 months following treatment completion in partial edentulous patients whom received implant placement for fixed prosthesis. Preoperatively, most patients were frequently addressed the problems on appearance dissatisfaction (24.2%) and chewing difficulty (23.7%), but after treatment, the appearance dissatisfaction was reported only 4.1% of patients. Eitner S, et al. (31) evaluated the change of OHRQoL before implant placement, during the healing period and post-prosthesis construction by measurement the OHIP in 16 patients whom received implant placement for partial edentulous reconstruction. OHIP score tended to increase, which imply to the deterioration of OHRQoL, during the healing period simultaneously with the patient's reported of the pain in the same period. Finally, the score decreased below the pre-operation level after delivery the prosthesis that represents the improvement in OHRQoL. However, caution needed to be considered for the interpretation due to timing at the healing period measurement that performed after the complete clinical healing, therefore, this could be unable to represent the OHRQoL in the early post-surgical phase which might potentially affected to patient's lives. Fillion, et al. (164) published the study about the OHRQoL in 176 patients whom receive implant treatment whether for implant- supported fixed prosthesis or implant-retained overdenture. General Oral Health Assessment Index (GOHAI) was used to evaluate the OHRQoL at before treatment and after prosthesis construction. Most of patients reported the better OHRQoL following the treatment regardless of the type of prosthesis received. Kriz Pavel MS, et al. (165) also captured the improvement in GOHAI score on 97 patients at 1 month after prosthesis delivery.

In addition, many of the individual or clinical factors were interested to be studied in order to find out the potentially effect on the OHRQoL by the intervention of dental implant especially for partial edentulous reconstruction. Ponsi J. et al. (28) considered the effect of different anatomical position of the dental implant prosthesis to the OHRQoL. The measurement of OHIP score at before and after prosthesis construction in 80 single space partial edentulous patients demonstrated that implant prosthesis at the anterior and premolar region significantly changed the OHRQoL level in the positive way but implant prosthesis in the molar region that unable to address the improvement in OHRQoL statistical significantly. Reisine S, et al (34) studied the effect of different surgical augmentation procedures that perform during implant placement to the OHRQoL in 48 post-menopausal women. Three augmentation procedures according to the type of defect such dehiscence repair, expansion procedure and in combination of both were studied. OHIP was used to access the OHRQoL at pre-operation, 1 week and 8 weeks for early and late postoperative healing period respectively and 9 months post-prosthesis construction. In contrast to the author's hypothesis which expected the declination of the OHRQoL corresponding to the invasiveness of the augmentation procedures, the result conversely showed the gradual improvement of OHRQoL regardless of timing of measurement or invasiveness of the procedures. However, this study presented the limitations such as the absence of a control group for comparison, the generalizability of the finding due to the specific sampling group. Additional not only OHRQoL but also patients satisfaction studies are summarized in Table 3.

Authors	Objective	Measuring tool	Assessed	Ν	Result
Eitner S, et al. 2012 (31)	Assessment the OHRQoL before, during, and after completion of implant therapy	OHIP-G55	Pre-op 4-5 mo PO Post-prosthesis	16	 Median score at Pre-op, 4-5mth PO and post-prosthesis were 75.8, 84.3 and 29.5 Reported problems at 4-5mth PO 93.8% Worried 37.5% Uncomfortable about appearance 50% Painful aching in the mouth
Nickenig H-J, et al. 2008 (29)	Assessment the OHRQoL before and after implant therapy	OHIP-G21	Pre-op 1-2 mo post- prosthesis	219	-Median score at pre-op and post-prosthesis was 17.1, 5.4
Reisine S, et al. 2012 (34)	Assessment the change on the OHRQoL with different bone augmentation technique during implant placement	OHIP-14	Pre-op 1 wk PO 8 wk PO 9 mo Post- prosthesis	48 - 12 Dehiscence - 13 Expansion - 24 Expansion with dehiscence	-Mean score at Pre-op, 1 wk, 8 wk PO and 9 mo Post-prosthesis were 15.4, 13.7, 10.6, 7.5 -Younger was significantly poorer the OHRQoL from older at 1 wk PO.
Yu S-J, et al. 2012 (30)	Investigation the relationship between anterior implant prosthesis and the OHRQoL	OHIP-14	Pre-op 6 mo PO (delivered prosthesis)	238	-Mean score at Pre-op and 6 mo PO were 23.1, 4.9 -Median score at Pre-op and 6 mo PO were 21.5, 4.0 -Gender and educational level significantly affected to the OHRQoL alteration
Ponsi J, et al. 2011 (28)	Evaluation the change on subjective oral health in single dental implants with different anatomic locations	OHIP-14	2 nd stage surgery 3 mo Post- prosthesis	80 - 22 Incisor - 38 Premolar - 26 Molar	-Significant OHIP-14 score difference was found for incisor and premolar implant prosthesis. - Better, the same and worse in OHRQoL was reported in 30%, 65% and 5% of patients post- treatment - 89% of patients satisfied with the treatment but 3% were not.
Goiato MC, et al. 2014 (166)	Evaluation the OHRQoL and satisfaction in implant- supported fixed partial prosthesis patients	OHIP-14 Satisfaction questionnaire	At least 6 mo Post-prosthesis	106 - 26 splinted prosthesis - 48 single prosthesis - 32 combination of both	 Mean score ranged from 1.0-1.8 No significant different among type of prosthesis Patients with single implant prosthesis presented more unsatisfied than splinted implant prosthesis for the discomfort during surgery
Furuyama C, et al. 2012 (149)	Investigation the association between implant-supported fixed prosthesis and removable partial dentures (RPDs) to OHRQoL	OHIP-J49	At least 1 mo Post-prosthesis	188 - 79 implant prosthesis - 109 RPDs	-Mean score for implant- supported fixed prosthesis and RPDs were 21, 38 -Age and duration of prosthesis used were associated to the mean score -55.7 and 71.1% of patients in the implant-supported fixed prosthesis and RPDs complaint about the food impaction

Authors	Objective	Measuring	Assessed	Ν	Result
Dolz J, et al. 2014 (167)	comparison the effect of conventional or immediate loaded implant on OHRQoL	OHIP-49	Pre-op 3 mo post- surgery 3-5 mo post- prosthesis	104 -75 conventional loaded -29 immediate loaded	-Mean OHIP score for conventional loaded implant patients at pre-op, intermediate and final f/u was 13.7, 10.3, 6.8 -Mean OHIP score for immediate loaded implant patients at pre- op, intermediate and final f/u was 18.6, 9.0, 2.5 -Immediate group was greater improvement in OHRQoL than conventional group
Bramanti E, et al. 2013 (168)	Assessment the OHRQoL before and after implant therapy	OHIP-14	Pre-op 2 yrs post- prosthesis	50	-Mean score at pre-op and post- prosthesis was 2.15, 0.65 -All domains score significantly decrease from pre-op -No association was found between the score and age, gender, occluding dentition
Raes F, et al. 2012 (169)	Assessment the OHRQoL in a single implant patients in the anterior maxilla	OHIP-14	Pre-op 1 mo PO 6 mo PO 12 mo PO	96 -46 Immediate placement -50 Conventional placement	-OHRQoL improves over time in all domain of OHIP-14 -Conventional group shows significant greater in physical disability at 1 month post- operation -Conventional group shows significant greater in physical pain but immediate placement shows more psychological discomfort at 6 month post-operation
Raes F, et al. 2013 (170)	Assessment the patient's opinion as treatment outcome of immediately loaded implants in the anterior maxillary tooth		Pre-op 1 mo PO 6 mo PO 12 mo PO	48 - 16 Immediate placement - 23 Conventional placement - 9 Placement on healed grafted site	-Overall OHRQoL improvement from baseline to 1 year post- prosthesis -Improvement on chewing ability, taste sensation, relaxation, self- confident, doing the job effectively -No inter-group comparison
Kriz Pavel MS, et al. 2012 (165)	Assessment the OHRQoL in dental implant patients	Modified questions from GOHAI	Pre-op At least 1mo post-prosthesis	97	-Median of overall score at pre- op and post-prosthesis was 4 and 5 that imply for the improvement -Marital status, personal concern and number of anterior teeth placed were found for the association to the score changed.
Fillion M, et al. 2013 (164)	Assessment the different in OHRQoL improvement between implants-supported fixed or retained prostheses	GOHAI	Pre-op At least 6 mo post-prosthesis	176 - 77 single tooth - 75 fixed- partial denture - 24 full	 Overall mean score at pre-op and post-prosthesis was 48.3, 54.7 that imply for the improvement All types of prosthesis significantly demonstrated the improvement in OHROoL.

Authors	Objective	Measuring tool	Assessed	Ν	Result
				prosthesis	however, the greatest improvement was found in full prosthesis group - Gender and age found no association to OHRQoL change
Al-Omiri MK, et al. 2011 (171)	Assessment the relationship between OHRQoL and different psychological patients group	DIDL	Pre-op At 3 mo post- prosthesis	80	 -Increasing on the satisfaction in appearance, pain, oral discomfort, general performance and eating following prosthesis used -Neuroticisms presented less satisfaction on all dimension of DIDL after treatment
Hof M, et al. 2014 (172)	Comparison patient- based outcome at different implant placement timing in the aesthetic zone	Patient's satisfaction by Visual Analog Scale	At least 1 yr Post-prosthesis	153 - 26 Immediate - 35 Early - 13 Delay - 15 Implant with GBR - 64 Implant after block graft	-Satisfaction level was 95% for immediate, 84% for early, 80% for delay implant placement for implant prosthesis -Satisfaction level was 75% for implant prosthesis underwent guided bone regeneration simultaneously with implant placement, 79% for implant prosthesis underwent autogenous bone graft as staged approach
Schropp L, et al. 2008 (148)	Assessment the outcome of early and delayed placement of single-tooth implants in the anterior and premolar region	Patient's satisfaction by Visual Analog Scale	2 yrs Post- prosthesis 5 yrs Post- prosthesis	34 - 18 Early - 16 Delay	-Median satisfaction level to overall treatment at 2 yrs. for early and delay implant placement were 96.5, 92.0 -Median satisfaction level to overall treatment at 5 yrs. for early and delay implant placement were 95.5, 95.0 - Older patients were familiar to the implant prosthesis sooner
					and reported the easier cleaning than younger patients
Vermylen K, et al. 2003 (4)	Evaluation patient satisfaction following implant treatment	Patient satisfaction questionnaire	33 months in average post- prosthesis (3- 89 months)	40	 Positive satisfaction was demonstrated on aesthetic, phonetics, cleaning and cost- effectiveness 22.5% unwanted to receive the future implant surgery
Pjetursson BE, et al. 2005 (5)	Investigation the patient satisfaction after implant therapy	Patient satisfaction questionnaire	5-15 years post-prosthesis	104	 97% satisfied in chewing comfort, phonetic and esthetics 93% reported the ability to clean the prosthesis without difficulty 94% would like to receive the implant treatment again
Baracat LF, et al. 2011 (162)	Comparison patients' expectations before and outcome perception after dental implant	Visual Analog Scale	Pre-op 1 week post- prosthesis	50	 Pre-treatment expectation score was 5 ients perceived the treatment over their baseline expectation. (Post- treatment score was 9 especially

Authors	Objective	Measuring	Assessed	Ν	Result
		tool	timing		
	therapy				for function and esthetic)
Gibbard LL,	Assessment the	Patient	5 yrs post-	30	- 100% satisfied the appearance
et al. 2002	patient's perspective	satisfaction	prosthesis		and the function of the
(147)	following implant-	questionnaire			prosthesis
	supported prosthesis				- 90% satisfied the hygiene
					cleaning of the prosthesis

Table 3 Summarized on current patient-based outcome studies in partial edentulous

patients reconstructed by implant prostheses

Pre-op : pre-operation/ PO : post-operation/ mo : month(s)/ yrs : years/ GOHAI : General Oral Health Assessment Index/ DIDL : Dental impact on Daily Living



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Chapter 3

Materials and Methods

Research design: Prospective observational clinical study

Population and samples

Target population

- Patients who receive surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration procedure for partial edentulous reconstruction

Sample population

- Patients who receive surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration procedure and patients who receive only surgical implant placement for partial edentulous reconstruction at Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University from July 2013 – June 2014

Sample grouping

- Study Group: Patients who receive surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration procedure for partial edentulous reconstruction
- Comparison Group: Patient who receive surgical implant placement without other surgical intervention for site development.

Sample inclusion criteria

- Patients with age over 18 years who sign consent form to participate this study by themselves or the permission of their parents.
- Partial edentulous patients, who plan for implant placement in conjunction with guided bone regeneration for the dimensional deficiency correction of residual alveolar ridge, are enrolled for the study group samples and partial edentulous

patients, who plan for implant placement in the adequate native alveolar ridge are enrolled for the comparison group samples.

Sample exclusion criteria

- Partial edentulous patient who plan for implant placement for fixed-removable (hybrid) prosthesis or implant-retained,-support removable prosthesis
- Patient with history of jaws reconstruction from resected oral and maxillofacial pathology
- Patients with physical and/or psychological disability that demonstrate the communication problems for example deafness, dumbness, blindness, mental retardation, autism etc.
- Patients who unable to continue for all follow-up periods.

Sample size calculation

In order to find out the suitable samples that could present statistical significant difference of this research question, the amount of samples for each group in this study is calculated by the formula, presented below, and replaced the variables derived from related previous studies.

To test the difference of OIDP score for each sample group in order to show the significant change in the oral health-related quality of life pre- and posttreatment period, the formula in which to test the sample size calculation for pairedmean comparison is chosen.

$$n = \frac{\sigma^2 (Z_{1-\alpha/2} + Z_{1-\beta})^2}{(\mu_1 - \mu_2)^2}$$

 \mathbf{n} = the required amount of samples in the group

 μ_1 , μ_2 = the mean of the OHRQoL score from previous study pre- and post-treatment, respectively

 σ^2 = the calculated variance from the formula as shown;

$$\sigma_1^2 + \sigma_2^2 - 2r\sigma_1\sigma_2$$

 $\sigma_{
m l}$ Represent the standard deviation of $\mu_{
m l}$

 $\sigma_{
m 2}$ Represent the standard deviation of $\mu_{
m 2}$

lpha =Probability of type I error

 β = Probability of type II error

Due to the lack of previous related study that use the OIDP for assessing the OHRQoL in regenerative bone-augmented dental implant patients, only the study of Reisine S, et al. (34) which measure the score by OHIP-14 at different time point in patients who received bone augmentation procedure simultaneously with implant placement was chosen for sample size calculation. By the way, 15.4 ± 8.9 and 7.5 ± 7.6 represented the mean (μ_1 , μ_2) and standard deviation (σ_1 , σ_2) in this equation derived from the OHIP-14 score in the pre-operative and 9 month post-operative, respectively. The α was set at 0.05 for significance level and the β was set at 0.2 (4 times of α level). Z-score was found from Z-score table, $Z_{1-\alpha/2}$ equal to 1.96 and $Z_{1-\beta}$ equal to 0.842, respectively. The number of 17.23 was calculated according to these values, thus, this study requires at least 18 patients in each group.

However, the other related study performs by Eitner S, et al. (31) which demonstrated the change of OHIP-G score at different period of implant placement without the augmentation procedure. The OHIP score was 75.8 ± 10.3 and 84.3 ± 10.3

13.2 for pre-operative and during healing period 3-5 months post-implant placement, respectively. Given the same α and β value, the sample size needed for this study was calculated in the same manner. At least 31 patients in each group are required.

In conclusion, this study decided to collect at least 31 samples for each group because it represents for appropriate amount of samples that could demonstrate statistical difference of the oral health impact profile score in patients who received surgical implant placement from mentioned formula. In addition, the data more than 30 samples could be assumed for normal distribution which beneficial in parametric statistical testing.

Materials

Socio-demographic and clinical data

Patient's medical records of Chulalongkorn University Dental Hospital are planned for collecting the required data which composed of;

Socio-demographic information, medical and dental history

- Socio-demographic data such gender (male/female), age (less than or equal to 45 years/during 46 to 59 years/ equal to or more than or 60 years), educational level (under university/university or above)

- Medical history such current systemic disease (present/absent)

- Dental prosthesis history such experienced on removable denture (ever/never), experienced on implant placement (ever/never)

Clinical and surgical-related information

- Detail on implant surgical procedure such amount of placed implant (single/multiple), implant position (anterior/posterior), implant location

(maxilla/mandible), timing of implant placement post-extraction (early/delay), attending surgeon and prosthodontist (experienced dental staff/postgraduated student)

Oral health-related quality of life assessment

The assessment of oral health-related quality of life will be performed according to OIDP, Thai version. This is the constructed interview questionnaire consist of 8 daily activities in 3 dimensions;

- Physical dimension: eating and enjoying food, speaking and pronouncing clearly and cleaning teeth

- Psychological dimension: sleeping and relaxing, smiling or laughing and showing teeth without embarrassment and maintain usual emotional state without being irritable

- Social dimension: carrying out major work or social role and enjoying contact with people

Each daily activity, patient is requested to rate the score of impact frequency and severity. The 5-point score is used for both frequency and severity which defined as;

For frequency rating score, 2 categories, regular or spell, of frequency is defined according to the pattern of occurrence. Regular pattern frequency rating score is used if the impact occurs more than once a month. On the other hand, spell pattern frequency rating score is used when the occurrence of impact is less than once a month, respondents are asked to count the total days that the impact occurs (Table 4).

Dating Searc	Frequency of impact occurrence				
Rating Score	Regular pattern	Spell pattern			
0	Never affected	0 days			
1	Less than once a month	Up to 5 days in total			
2	Once or twice a month	Up to 15 days in total			
3	Once or twice a week	Up to 30 days in total			
4	3-4 times a week	Up to 3 months in total			
5	Every or nearly every day	Over 3 months in total			

Table 4 The OIDP frequency rating score criteria

For severity rating score, patients are asked for the severity level of the occurrence impact to their life. The 5-Likert ordinal scale is used for individual severity evaluation ranging from 0 represent no severity to 5 represent "very severe".

Not only the frequency and severity are assessed but also perceive cause needs to be recorded. Perceive cause is the causative problem or trouble of the impact to the specified oral-related daily activity.

Global rating of change scale is also designed to collect the patient's rating about the perceived change that really occurs from their own perception following all of intervention received. Visual Analog Scale (VAS) of 11-point scale is recommended for this type of rating.(173) (Figure 3)



Figure 3 global rating of change using VAS

Scoring methods

The overall OIDP score

Total impact score of each daily performance is calculated by the multiplication of frequency score and the severity score that ranging from score at 0 to the maximum of 25. The overall OIDP score is accumulated from all of 8 total impact scores thereby the possible maximum score is 200. Then, the overall OIDP score is conversed into the percent by multiply it with 100 and divide it by 200.

 $Overall OIDP \ score \ = \frac{\sum total \ impact \ score \ of \ 8 \ performances \times 100}{200}$

The prevalence, extent and intensity of OIDP scores

Prevalence, extent and intensity of OIDP score are also planned to present as the other formats of scoring method moreover than mentioned overall score.

- Prevalence represents the proportion of patients whom report impact at least one or more performances.

- Extent represents the number of performance(s) with impact in each patient which range from 0 to 8 then be categorized into 4 group as extent=0, extent 1-2, extent 3-5 and extent more than 6.

- Intensity represents the highest of performance score among eight performances, which range from 0 to 25, then classified this score to 4 categories which compose of no impacts (performance score at 0), little (performance score at 1-5), moderate (performance score at 6-12) and severe (performance score at 15-25).

Methods

Ethical considerations

After approval this research proposal in the human-related research ethical point of view by the ethical committee from Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. Patients who fulfill the study's sample criteria are invited to participate in this study. The research process, study protocol, compliance needed, risk and benefit are clearly explained both written and verbal by the researcher and give chance for patients to interrogate about the distrustful topics related to their rights to know. All patients who obviously understand and pleased to participate the study, consent forms are signed before the beginning of the study. However, patients could quit the study at any study period if they want.

Patient recruitment

All patients who planned to rehabilitate partial edentulous with dental implant(s) at Oral and Maxillofacial Clinic, Special Clinic, Esthetic and Implant Clinic, Maxillofacial Prosthetic Clinic and Post-graduated Prosthetic Clinic at Chulalongkorn University are invited to participate in this study. In addition, public announcement also be done for additional interested patients to enroll in the study.

Treatment process for dental implant prosthesis

Briefly, 5 steps of treatment were divided as follow;

1. Treatment planning

Following patients decide to replace the missing tooth/teeth with dental implant prosthesis, all related histories, clinical examination, radiograph of the

current dentition, study model and the dental computer tomogram at the surgical planed site (optional) are investigated for pre-operative evaluation. Dental implant may be performed at different time period following tooth extraction which classified as immediate, early and delay implant placement. The requirement of guided bone regeneration for alveolar augmentation in conjunction with surgical implant placement is also planned before performing surgery, however, actually reevaluation could be done during surgical alveolar tissue exposure or following implant installation that clearly shown the defect in which surgeon could make the precise decision for implant site development simultaneously with implant placement, or not. Patients were then informed about the all details of treatment processes, time required and all expenditures.

2. Surgical procedure

Before the surgical placement of dental implant fixture, all patients were thoroughly evaluated about the surgical-related physical health and determine the necessary vital signs. Pre-medication with antibiotics and/or analgesic are optional and prescribed however in the different by the surgeon's prefer and patient's condition. Local anesthetic solution with vasoconstrictor was introduced to all patients for pain control during surgical procedure. Exposure of the underlying alveolar bone by mucoperiosteal flap was adequately done. Prepared surgical stent was used for localization the implant position. Osteotomy for the actually implant size was performed according to manufacturing recommendation for specified implant used. All installed implants showed acceptable clinical primary stability. In case of the need for additional bone augmentation in order to correct peri-implant defect or to reconstruct appropriate alveolar contour, particulate bone whether autogenous from the adjacent or from the osteotomy site or commercially available allogenic, alloplastic bone was placed at the augment-needed site. Barrier membrane as guided tissue regenerative purposed was placed over the grafted materials. Horizontal periosteum releasing incision was performed in order to coronally- repositioned the surgical flap for tension-free closure. The gingival forming abutment was screwed for one stage approach whereas placing the cover cap then waiting a period of time for healing before screwing the gingival forming abutment as two stage approach. Resorbable suture was used to stitch the flap. Periodontal dressing, COE-PAKTM, was sometimes used for wound protection purposed especially when dehiscence area was unavoidable left expose. Routine post-operative instructions were given to all patients that mostly instructed about wound care, surgical site hygiene, avoidance of crushing force on installed implant. Necessary medications such antibiotic, analgesic, anti-inflammatory or antiseptic were prescribed by consideration of each attending surgeon.

3. Post-operative follow-up schedule

Commonly schedule for post-operative follow-up occurs firstly within 2 weeks later for stitches off and wound irrigation then continue for routine check-up at 1 and 3 month post-operatively or until clinical complete healing. In these followup visit, patients were examined intra-orally especially at the surgical site. Implant should be stable in placed position. Peri-implant mucosa was inspected for clinical significant abnormalities such excessive tissue overgrowth, inflammation/infection signs, graft rejection or failure. Peri-apical radiograph was taken to assess the integration level of dental implant to surrounding alveolar bone. However, implants which demonstrate the critical events such severe site infection, poorly integrated of augmented graft, unrestorable implant position etc. were fixed properly following standard practice guidelines in order to re-establish the appropriate implant placement.

4. Prosthetic restoration

Patients were referred for prosthesis construction by the prosthodontist after 4-6 months of healing period. Installed posterior implants mostly do not require temporary restoration while anterior-esthetically related prosthesis sometimes needs the temporary restoration for additional pre-prosthetic gingival manipulation. Screwretain or cement-retain prosthesis was chosen appropriately by case.

Timing for oral health-related quality of life data collection

To gather data correctly, all data was collected by one researcher whom receives the demonstration how to interview patients for obtaining the actually answer and how to rate the OIDP score from the experienced professor that expertise in the OHRQoL researches. The interview is done in the private and quiet room. Data collection were performed in 5 different time points as pre-operation for baseline information, 2 weeks post-operation to evaluate the effect of surgical procedure, 1 month post-operation for early wound healing, 3 months post-operation for clinically complete healing and 3 months post-prosthesis delivery as treatment completion. OIDP was assessed in all time points determined whereas global transition rating was rated only at 3 months post-prosthesis.

Interview method

Following the researcher introduced himself, describe clearly about the ethical considerations of this study and the consent form was signed, all interviewed and clinical-related data was recorded in the data record form (Appendix 1).

First open-end question was requested to the patient to describe about his/her oral health trouble or problem(s). ..."Could you please describe about your current oral health? Are there any troubles or problems from your mouth to your daily life?" (สุขภาพช่องปากของคุณในปัจจุบันเป็นอย่างไร มีปัญหาอะไรหรือไม่ ถ้ามี ปัญหา สุขภาพช่องปากนั้น ส่งผลอย่างไรกับการใช้ชีวิตประจำวัน) ... After that, the question was focus to the effect of tooth loss or edentulous area to the patient's life. ... "Following you've lost or extracted the tooth/teeth, what happen to your life especially the oral function to your daily life?" (ภายหลังจากที่คุณเสียฟันไป หรือได้รับการถอนฟันออกไป มี การเปลี่ยนแปลงการใช้งานปากและฟันของคุณในชีวิตประจำวันอย่างไรบ้าง) ... Then, each daily performance from all of 8 performances according to OIDP index was interviewed to obtain the difficulty of oral functions in both frequency and severity of that trouble. ... "Following you've lost your tooth/teeth, did you encounter with the difficulty on (8 daily performances such 1. chewing, biting or eating the food 2. speaking, singing or pronouncing the words 3. dentition cleaning or denture (if present) hygiene 4. sleeping or relaxing 5. maintain normal without irritable or moody 6. smiling, laughing or showing your teeth with confidence 7. social contacting with other people 8. working or studying) (ภายหลังจากการสูญเสียฟัน เกิดช่องว่างขึ้นนั้น ท่านมีความลำบากในการ 1 ้กิน บดเคี้ยว หรือ กัดฉีก 2 พูด ออกเสียง 3 ทำความสะอาดช่องปากและฟัน รวมถึงฟันปลอม 4 พักผ่อน นอนหลับ 5 คงสภาพอารมณ์ไม่ให้หงุดหงิด รำคาญ 6 ยิ้ม โชว์ฟันได้อย่างมั่นใจ 7 พบปะ ผู้คน 8 ทำงาน หรือเรียนหนังสือหรือไม่ อย่างไร) ... If the patient reported the difficulty in
any of the performance, the question requested to verify the type and rating of the frequency. "Did the difficulty routinely occur or only occur in a period of time? How often of it routinely happened? Or how long that the difficulty occurs?" (ความลำบาก ดังกล่าวเกิดขึ้นเป็นประจำหรือเกิดขึ้นแค่ช่วงเวลาใดช่วงหนึ่งเท่านั้น ถ้าเกิดขึ้นเป็นประจำ จะเกิดขึ้น บ่อยเพียงใด ถ้าเกิดขึ้นแป้นประจำหรือเกิดขึ้นแค่ช่วงเวลาใดช่วงหนึ่งเท่านั้น ถ้าเกิดขึ้นเป็นประจำ จะเกิดขึ้น บ่อยเพียงใด ถ้าเกิดขึ้นแค่ช่วงเวลาหนึ่ง ช่วงระยะเวลาดังกล่าวนานเท่าใด) The severity of the reported difficulty to their daily life was requested for the score, respectively. "How much of that difficulty impacted to your daily life, please rate 1 to 5 ordinal if the difficulty shown the little to most severely impact to daily life, respectively. However, rate 0 if that difficulty has no impact to your daily life. (ความลำบากที่เกิดขึ้น นั้นกระทบต่อการใช้ชีวิตมากน้อยเพียงใด ถ้าเปรียบเทียบเป็นคะแนนจากหนึ่งถึงห้า โดยที่หนึ่ง คะแนนหมายถึงความลำบากนั้นกระทบกับการใช้ชีวิตน้อยมาก ห้าคะแนนหมายถึงกระทบกับการใช้ ชีวิตมากที่สุดตามลำดับ ทั้งนี้คะแนนศูนย์จะหมายถึงความลำบากดังกล่าวไม่กระทบกับการใช้ ชีวิตประจำวัน)

Finally at post-prosthesis delivery period, the global transition rating of change was interviewed besides above OIDP assessment. ... In comparison between before treatment and after using the implant prosthesis for a while, do the problems on your mouth or daily life get better, same or worse? If the problems get better/worse, could you please rating that change from 1 that infer less better/worse change to 5 that infer the highest better/worse change. (ถ้าให้เปรียบเทียบถึงปัญหาในช่อง ปากที่กระทบต่อการใช้ชีวิต ระหว่างก่อนเข้ารับการรักษากับภายหลังการใส่ฟันบนรากฟันเทียมเสร็จ เรียบร้อย ท่านรู้สึกว่าปัญหาดังกล่าวได้เปลี่ยนแปลงไปในทิศทางที่ดีขึ้น เหมือนเดิม หรือ แย่ลง ถ้า ปัญหาดังกล่าวเปลี่ยนแปลงไปในทิศทางที่ดีขึ้น/แย่ลง กรุณาบอกระดับของการเปลี่ยนแปลงดังกล่าว จากหนึ่งถึงห้าโดยที่หนึ่งหมายถึงการเปลี่ยนแปลงนั้นอยู่ในระดับที่มาก)

Data analysis

Both descriptive and inferential statistic is used to analyze all data collected from this study. Data presented in nominal or ordinal scale is described by the descriptive statistic in the form of countable number and percent while continuous data, also be described in the form of mean with standard deviation. Association of socio-demographic and clinical-related variables between study's groups is shown by Chi-Square test. OIDP score is presented in mean with standard deviation, median value and minimum-maximum. Impact prevalence presents in form of percent of patients while impact extent and intensity illustrate in form of median, mode and percent of patients. The Box plot represents the OIDP score distribution at different time-point assessed. The Cumulative bar chart shows the percentage of patients categorized by impact extent and intensity level at all time-point assessed.

Normality test, via Kolmogorov–Smirnov test, and the test of equal variance, via Levene's test are done before hypothesis statistical test in order to apply the parametric statistic firstly due to the superior power of test than non-parametric statistic. However, because of the nature of index score that actually characterized as ordinal scale more than interval or ratio therefore non-parametric analysis is applied for all of this data analysis.

For intra-group comparison, OIDP score at various time points is tested for the difference of median by Friedman's test which then tested as match-paired comparison by Related-samples Wilcoxon signed rank test. In order to compare impact intensity at each time-point assessed, Mcnemar test is used for the association analysis between match-paired, 2x2, categorized intensity. For inter-group comparison OIDP score of study and comparison group at each time point is tested

for the difference of median by Mann–Whitney *U* test. Association of impact extent and intensity between study's groups was analyzed by Spearman's correlation.

The smallest of changed score that considered as meaning value in the individual perspective in term of minimal important different (MID) is calculated with various approaches. The anchor-based method is achieved by the use of subjective global transition rating as external reference correlate it with the changed score. The effect size, standardized response mean and standard error of measurement are calculated for the distribution-based method. Effect size derives by the ratio of the mean change score with the standard deviation of the baseline score. Standardized response mean change score with the standard deviation of the standard deviation of the standard deviation of the standard deviation of the alpha value.

Before analyzing the contributing factors on OHRQoL alteration, patients will be re-classified according to the MID value changed score. The association of categorized changed score to the related variables including socio-demographic variables and clinical-related variables is found by Fisher's exact test for 2 categorized variables and Chi-Square test for more than 2 categorized variables.

Responsiveness of this OIDP measurement is assessed by Pearson's correlation for the associations of OIDP scores and global transition rating. Changed score and intensity change at the different degree of global change are compared by Kruskall-Wallis test and Spearman's correlation, respectively. Wilcoxon Signed rank test is applied to compare the median of pre-operational baseline score and post-prosthesis score at different degree of global change while Mann–Whitney *U* test is

used to compare the changed score at small and large global change to changed score with unchanged global group.

Inferential statistics used in this study to infer the sample's result to the targeted population was operated by the Statistical Package for Social Science version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, US). Statistical significance is considered when calculated p-value less than 0.05 that represent the confidence interval of 95%.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Chapter 4

Results

Patient recruitment, inclusion and exclusion

The ninety partial edentulous patients whom schedule for surgical implant placement and fulfil the inclusion criteria were invited to participate in this prospective patient-based outcome study. None of them rejected to give the information about daily performances related to their mouth and teeth. In which the study's protocol that needed patient to complete the data from pre-operatively before implant placement until the completely inserted of definitive prosthesis and had been used for a period of time, only fifty-two patients accomplished the data collection corresponding to the study's protocol under the limitation of study period. Others, thirty-eight patients, were unable to complete the planned assessments. Most of them are now waiting for construction of the definitive prosthesis while the installed implants were successfully clinical heal. However, provisional prosthesis had been delivered by some patients in this group in order to manipulate the appropriate architecture of the peri-implant gingiva especially for the anterior esthetic teeth prosthesis that patients were mostly allocated to the study group. Six patients lost their follow up to their attending clinic and unable to contact them via the updated information given on their medical records.

Three implants in two study group patients were failed to integrate with the surrounding peri-implant tissue. One lower posterior implant with bone augmentation by the xenogenic grafting bone and barrier membrane was considerably lost its stability at 1 month post-operation then it was consequently removed. The other

patient with two installed implants simultaneously with bone augmentation by the same type of previous material in the upper anterior region were failed to integrate with the inter-implant gingiva, implants were adjacently placed as the canine and first premolar position. The attending prosthodontist concerned about the movable inter-implant gingival papilla not only for the esthetic appearance of the prosthesis but also for the health of peri-implant tissue. Finally, the explantation procedure of these implants was considered and surgically performed. According to the operative note, the totally labial and inter-proximal bone loss was found in addition with the ingrowth of granulation tissue instead. The implants were removed by the reverse torque technique, inflamed tissue was cleared, allogenic bone-substitute material was then grafted to that defects. This explantation was performed at 8 months post-operation. Overall number of patient recruitment, inclusion and exclusion is shown in (Figure 4).



Figure 4 The flow chart represent the number of patients included ,excluded and the reason for exclusion.

Patient characteristics

Socio-demographic and dental history

From fifty-two patients whom complete the evaluation, they were classified into two main groups following this study's objectives. Fourteen patients were received surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone regeneration which was considered as "study group" while the others were only received surgical implant placement without the additional bone augmentation called "comparison group". (Table 5) Almost 80% of patients are older than 45 years with mean (SD) of age 54.3 (11.7) years. The patients in the two study's group have the similar mean (SD) of age which are 54.8 (13.2) years for study group and 54.1 (11.2) years for the other one. Although half of patients in the comparison group were classified in the 45-59 years group and 42.8% of study group were in more than 60 years group, the proportion of patients classified by groups of age between study's groups was the same. Proportion of female patients (57.7%) was slightly higher than male. The gender distribution among study group was not different. More than 80% of welleducated patients in the level of university or above participated this study, most of them (57.7%) graduated in the bachelor degree. About the general health of patients, half of them (51.7%) reported at least a kind of systemic disease. In the study group, 64.3% of patients present with systemic disease but 52.6% in the comparison group were healthy. No significant different is found between study's group and the systemic disease reported.

Patients were also interviewed on the past dental history especially the previous denture experience. Removable prostheses which are popularly prosthesis of choice in Thailand due to its conservative, non-invasive, simple and inexpensive were experienced only 28.8% of patients. The proportion of patients with history of removable prosthesis was higher in the study group while most of patients (81.6%) in the comparison groups had no experience as denture wearer. Statistical significant is found between study's groups according to this experience. (*p*-value=0.006) Uninterestingly, dental implant prosthesis is still the new treatment modality for edentulous reconstruction in Thai population, approximately 80% of all patients and the similar proportion 71.4% and 84.2% in study and comparison group never been treated with this kind of prosthesis.

Clinical and surgical-related variables

The total of 65 implants was placed in these 52 patients. Most of them were installed as single one (80.8%) and mainly located at the posterior dental region (94.2%). The dissimilarity of the amount and location of placed implants was found between study's groups (*p*-value< 0.05). Most of patients (89.5%) in the comparison group required only single implants for single unit prosthesis but patients in the study group required prosthesis-supported by single (57.1%) or multiple implants (42.9%) in the close proportion. All implants in the comparison group were at posterior edentulous (100%) while implants in the study group were even placed at anterior (21.4%) and posterior (78.6%) region. Edentulous mandible was encountered for implant placement more than the maxilla which also distributed in the same proportion among study's group. All patients experienced tooth loss status for a period. Patients (59.6%) were placed following tooth loss more than 6 months as "delay" or "conventional" placement while the others were placed as "early" approach. No proportional difference was found between study's groups in this variable. Attending surgeons and prosthodontists were considered as variable on the

surgical procedure and prosthodontic process, respectively. Patients were treated by experienced dental staffs in the larger proportion than the post-graduate students, however, proportion of dental staffs and students was indifferent distributed between study's groups.

Va	riables	Total (%) n=52	Study (%) n=14	Comparison (%) n=38	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Socio-demogra	phic variables		•		
Age	≤ 45 years	21.2	28.6	18.4	
	46-59 years	46.2	28.6	52.6	0.303
	≥ 60 years	32.6	42.8	29.0	
Gender	Male	42.3	42.9	42.1	0.0(1
	Female	57.7	57.1	57.9	0.961
Education	Under university	15.4	7.1	18.4	
level	University or 🚽 above	84.6	92.9	81.6	0.317
Systemic	Absent	51.9	64.3	47.4	0.070
Disease	Present	48.1	35.7	52.6	0.279
Removable	Ever	28.8	57.1	18.4	
denture experience	Never	71.2	42.9	81.6	0.006*
Implant	Ever	19.2	28.6	15.8	
experience	Never	80.7	71.4	84.2	0.300
Clinical variable	es				
Amount of	Single	80.8	57.1	89.5	0.000*
implant	Multiple	19.2	42.9	10.5	0.009
Implant	Anterior	5.8	21.4	0.0	0.002*
position	Posterior	94.2	78.6	100.0	0.005
Implant	Maxilla	28.8	35.7	26.3	0 5 0 7
location	Mandible	71.2	64.3	73.7	0.507
Timing of	Early	40.4	28.6	44.7	0.000
placement	Delay	59.6	71.4	55.3	0.292
Surgeon	Student	44.2	42.9	44.7	0.004
	Staff	55.8	57.1	55.3	0.904
Prosthodontist	Student	34.6	42.9	31.6	0.449
	Staff	65.4	57.1	68.4	0.448

Table 5 Patient's characteristics according to the study's group and the variable interested.

a: The global association of the socio-demographic and clinical variables according to the study and comparison group by Chi-Square test / *: Statistical significant at 95% confident interval

The overtime change on OIDP assessment

Change in OHRQoL was assessed at before implant placement as preoperation, 2 weeks-, 1 month-, 3 months post-operation and post-prosthesis. (Table 6) In all patients, median of overall OIDP score was 3.75 at pre-operation increased significantly (*p*-value<0.001) to 8.50 at 2 weeks post-operation then ordinal decreased to 5.0 and 4.0 at 1 month and 3 months post-operation which statistically comparable with pre-operational stage, however, the median of overall OIDP postprosthesis was 0. The statistical significant difference was found between median score of pre-operation and post-prosthesis (*p*-value<0.001). (Figure 5) The pattern of overall OIDP score change in study and comparison group was similar to the trend of change in all patients. (Figure 6 and Figure 7) The median of overall OIDP score increased from baseline pre-operation at 2 weeks post-operation statistical significantly and then got back in comparable to pre-operation at 1 and 3 months post-operation.

Although patients in the comparison group reported the post-prosthesis median score as 0 that remarkably lower than pre-operation score (*p*-value<0.001), the study group was not. Patients in the study group also reported the reduction in overall OIDP median score from 6.75, pre-operation, to 2.5, post-prosthesis, which unable to show the statistical difference.

	Time point assessed						
Overall	Dro	2 wks	1 mo	3 mo	nest		
OIDP score	eneration	post-	post-	post-	post-		
	operation	operation	operation	operation	prostnesis		
Median							
All	3.75	8.50	5.00	4.00	0.00		
Study	6.75	13.75	7.25	7.25	2.50		
Comparison	2.50	7.00	2.50	2.50	0.00		
Mean (SD)							
All	6.35 (6.70)	11.05 (8.09)	6.32 (6.38)	6.17 (6.47)	2.90 (5.83)		
Study	9.04 (9.84)	16.71 (10.44)	8.96 (9.47)	8.96 (9.47)	6.11 (9.40)		
Comparison	5.36 (4.91)	8.96 (5.94)	5.34 (4.58)	5.14 (4.70)	1.72 (3.23)		
Minimum - N	<i>l</i> laximum						
All	0-38	2.5-38	0-38	0-38	0-31		
Study	0-38	3-38	0-38	0-38	0-31		
Comparison	0-17.5	2.5-25	0-15	0-15	0-12.5		

Table 6 Median, mean and minimum-maximum of overall (aggregate) OIDP score at different time point assessed according to the study's group.

wks: weeks / mo: month(s) / SD.: standard deviation



Figure 5 Box plot demonstrates the overall OIDP score in 52 patients at different time assessed
↔ Statistical significant different by Related-samples Wilcoxon signed rank test at *p*-value < 0.001



Figure 6 Box plot demonstrates the overall OIDP score in the study group at different time assessed

 \leftrightarrow Statistical significant different by Related-samples Wilcoxon signed rank test at *p*-value < 0.05



Figure 7 Box plot demonstrates the overall OIDP score in the comparison group at different time assessed.

↔ Statistical significant different by Related-samples Wilcoxon signed rank test at *p*-value < 0.001

The impact prevalence, which infer to how many patients reported the impact, shown that edentulous condition caused daily performances impact in about 84% of patients then, latterly at 2 weeks post-operation, all patients noticeably demonstrated at least one performance impact from surgery. However, the impact prevalence changed in comparable to the pre-operational stage at 1 and 3 months post-operation. Following the prosthesis usage, the reduction in patient proportion with oral impacts was found. Only 31% of patients in the comparison group whereas about 64% in the study group still reported the oral impacts post-prosthesis. (Table 7)

Impact extent counting the number of affected daily performance according to the 8 OIDP activities assessed was grouped into 4 levels, 0, 1-2, 3-5 and 6-8. (Table 7) At pre-operation, most of patients reported only 1 to 2 performances impacts. Increasing number of patients in the study group (42.9%) encountered oral impacts in 3-5 performances during 2 weeks after surgery while only 18.4% in contralateral group shown the same as that impacts magnitude, nevertheless, less than 2 performances were mostly reported again at 1 and 3 months post-operation. Implant prosthesis decreased previous oral impacts till no performance difficulty was reported especially in comparison group but unable to demonstrate that effect to the study group. There was 1-2 performances largely reported after prosthesis delivery in study group. (Figure 8-10)

Other	Time point assessed							
formats of	Pre-	2 wks post-	1 mo post-	3 mo post-	post-			
OIDP score	operation	operation	operation	operation	prosthesis			
Impacts preva	alence (%)							
All	84.6	100.0	88.5	86.5	40.4			
Study	85.7	100.0	85.7	85.7	64.3			
Comparison	84.2	100.0	89.5	86.8	31.6			
Median of impact extent								
All	1-2	1-2	1-2	1-2	0			
Study	1-2	3-5	1-2	1-2	1-2			
Comparison	1-2	1-2	1-2	1-2	0			
Median of im	pact intensity							
All	Little to	Caucara	. 1:441 o	1 :++ ~				
	Moderate	Severe	Little	LILLE	No impacts			
Study	Moderate to	Covera	Moderate	Moderate to				
	Severe	Severe	to Severe	Severe	Little			
Comparison	Little	Moderate	Little	Little	No impacts			

Table 7 The impacts prevalence, extent and intensity of OIDP at different time point assessed according to the study's group.

Impact prevalence: the percentage of patients that reported impacts at any degree / Impact extent: the number of daily performance impacts from 8 daily activities assessed (Maximum extent is 8) / Impact intensity: The magnitude of impacts classified ordinally from no impact to very severe / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)



Figure 8 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP extent in 52 patients at different time assessed.





Pre-op: Pre-operation / PO: Post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)



Figure 10 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP extent in comparison group, 38 patients, at different time assessed.

Intensity of occurred impacts ranging from no impacts to severe impacts was also considered. (Table 7) Tooth loss condition in the study group caused impacts in the moderate to severe intensity which differed from comparison group that caused little intensity of impacts. Alteration of these was found at 2 weeks postsurgery, impact intensity changed to severe and moderate in study and comparison group respectively. At 1 and 3 months post-operation, impact intensity returned to the baseline level and then decreased to little and no impacts in study and comparison group respectively post-prosthesis. (Figure 11-13)







Figure 12 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP intensity in study group, 14 patients, at different time assessed.

Pre-op: Pre-operation / PO: Post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)



Figure 13 The cumulative bar chart demonstrated the distribution of OIDP intensity in comparison group, 38 patients, at different time assessed.

Pre-op 2 wks PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	25	0	0.008*	
Severe (n)	8	19		
Pre-op 1 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	p-value®	
Less than severe (n)	33	1	1.000	
Severe (n)	0	18		
Pre-op 3 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	33	1	1.000	
Severe (n)	0	18		
Pre-op Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	31	13	0.007 [*]	
Severe (n)	จากรณม 2 กาทยาลั	6		
2 wks PO 1 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	25	9	0.004*	
Severe (n)	0	18		
2 wks PO 3 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	25	9	0.004*	
Severe (n)	0	18		
2 wks PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	p-value ^ª	

Less than severe (n)	24	20	<0.001*	
Severe (n)	1	7		
1 mo PO 3mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	34	0	1.000	
Severe (n)	0	18		
1 mo PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	31	13	0.021*	
Severe (n)	3	5		
3 mo PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Less than severe (n)	31	13	0.021*	
Severe (n)	3	5		

Table 8 Number of patients according to less than severe or severe impact intensity at each match-paired time point comparison (all 52 patients)

Pre-op: Pre-operation / PO: Post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)

a: The association of the paired patient proportion by McNemar test / *: Statistical significant

Pre-op 2 wks PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	3	0	0.125
Severe (n)	4	7	
Pre-op 1 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Pre-op 1 mo PO Less than severe (n)	Less than severe (n) 7	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^a

Pre-op 3 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	7	0	1.000
Severe (n)	0	7	
Pre-op Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	6	5	0.219
Severe (n)	1	2	
2 wks PO 1 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	3	4	0.125
Severe (n)	0	7	
2 wks PO 3 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	3	4	0.125
Severe (n)	0	7	
2 wks PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	3	8	0.008*
Severe (n)	0	3	
1 mo PO 3mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	7	0	1.000
Severe (n)	0	7	
1 mo PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	6	5	0.219

Severe (n)	1	2	
3 mo PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	6	5	0.219
Severe (n)	1	2	

Table 9 Number of patients according to less than severe or severe impact intensity at each

match-paried time point comparison (14 patients in study group)

Pre-op: Pre-operation / PO: Post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)

a: The association of the paired patient proportion by McNemar test / *: Statistical significant

Pre-op 2 wks PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	22	0	0.125
Severe (n)	4	12	
Pre-op 1 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	p-value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	26	1	1.000
Severe (n)	0 Longkorn Univers	11 SITY	
Pre-op 3 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	26	1	1.000
Severe (n)	0	11	
Pre-op Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	25	8	0.039 [*]
Severe (n)	1	4	
2 wks PO 1 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª

Less than severe (n)	22	5	0.063
Severe (n)	0	11	
2 wks PO 3 mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	22	5	0.063
Severe (n)	0	11	
2 wks PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	21	12	0.003*
Severe (n)		4	
1 mo PO 3mo PO	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	p-value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	27	0	1.000
Severe (n)	0	11	
1 mo PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	p-value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	25	8	0.109
Severe (n)	2	3	
3 mo PO Post-prosthesis	Less than severe (n)	Severe (n)	p-value ^ª
Less than severe (n)	25	8	0.109
Severe (n)	2	3	

Table 10 Number of patients according to less than severe or severe impact intensity at each

match-paried time point comparison (38 patients in comparison group)

Pre-op: Pre-operation / PO: Post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)

a: The association of the paired patient proportion by McNemar test / *: Statistical significant

Among the available scoring formats, impact intensity was the most appropriate format that correlates to individual overall perception. (17) According to the alteration of impact intensity as showed previously, severe intensity seemed to change obviously. The proportions of patients with either severe intensity or others degree of intensity were compared at each match-paired time point. (Table 8-10) The significant difference between 2 weeks post-operation and pre-operation was found when considering in all study's patients (*p*-value=0.008) while this was not found in neither study nor comparison groups. Moreover, the difference of this proportion was demonstrated between post-prosthesis and pre-operation in comparison group (*p*value=0.039) but did not in study group. The similar severe intensity distribution was found when comparing between 1 or 3 months post-operation and pre-operation in both study's groups.

The change of assessed daily performances

From 8 daily performances assessed, the performance score, impact prevalence and intensity in all patients were illustrated. (Table 11, Figure 14) Before implant placement, the most common complaint of patients with partial edentulous was the difficulty on eating or chewing food that affected almost 80% of patients. The intensity of this impact presented in the moderate to severe and little in study and comparison group respectively. Others performances occurred in small proportion, less than 10% except smiling which affected 15.4% of patients with no impact intensity. After implant surgery, nearly all patients (98.1%) reported the impact on eating performance with moderate intensity while oral hygiene cleaning, that less than 10% of patients previously complaint, distinctly increased in impact prevalence to 73.1% with little intensity. Moreover, the proportion of patients with other performances impact including speaking, sleeping, maintaining emotion, smiling, contacting with people and working also increased in different degree ranging from 3.8-19.2%. In addition, eating (p-value=0.003) and cleaning (p-value<0.001) performances score in all patients increased significantly from pre-operation. Although the going up of impact prevalence occurred in all performances short period after surgery, this phenomenon was not found at 1 and 3 months postoperation. All performances prevalence and intensity at these time point assessed tended to approximate or less than pre-operational baseline unless cleaning ability that still affected to patient's daily life, nevertheless, in the reduced prevalence and intensity. Dramatically lessening of the eating difficulty prevalence and intensity was evidently revealed following prosthesis delivery but remaining 30.8% of patients shown oral impact on this activity. Oral hygiene cleaning and maintaining emotion demonstrated the higher impact prevalence whereas sleeping, contacting with people and working presented equal or less than pre-operational baseline. Smiling and speaking impact prevalence were reduced till no patients reported these impact after prosthesis used. In all patients, median of performances score was only significant different from pre-operation on eating (p-value<0.001) and smiling (pvalue=0.011). This was inconsistent when considering on study's group. No difference on eating performance score in study group but statistical significant in comparison group (p-value<0.001). Conversely, smiling performance score in study group was statistical different (p-value=0.039) but not in the comparison group. In addition, difficulty in oral hygiene cleaning was significantly found in study group (*p*-value=0.024) in comparing to baseline pre-operation.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Daily Performances	Pre	Pre-operation		pos	2 wks st-opera	tion	pos	1 mo t-opera	tion	pos	3 mo post-operation		pos	t-prosth	esis
	Α	S	С	Α	S	С	Α	S	С	Α	S	С	Α	S	С
Eating															
Median scores	5	12.5	5	10	20	10	5	12.5	5	5	12.5	5	0	2.5	0
Prevalence (%)	80.8	78.6	81.6	98.1	100	97.4	84.6	78.6	86.8	82.7	78.6	84.2	30.8	57.1	21.1
Median intensity	1	2.5	1	2	3	2	1	2.5	1	1	2.5	1	0	1	0
Speaking															
Median scores	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	7.7	21.4	2.6	11.5	21.4	7.9	7.7	21.4	2.6	7.7	21.4	2.6	0	0	0
Median intensity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cleaning															
Median scores	0	0	0	4	5	3.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	9.6	7.1	10.5	73.1	85.7	68.4	13.5	21.4	10.5	9.6	21.4	5.2	21.2	42.9	13.2
Median intensity	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sleeping															
Median scores	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	1.9	0	2.6	11.5	14.2	10.5	1.9	0	2.6	1.9	0	2.6	1.9	7.1	0
Median intensity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Maintaining emotiona	al state														
Median scores	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	3.8	14.2	0	7.7	14.2	5.3	1.9	7.1	0	1.9	7.1	0	5.8	21.4	0
Median intensity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Smiling															
Median scores	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	15.4	35.7	7.9	19.2	42.9	10.5	11.5	28.6	5.3	11.5	28.6	5.3	0	0	0
Median intensity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Contacting with peop	ole														
Median scores	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	3.8	14.2	0	9.6	35.7	0	3.8	14.2	0	3.8	14.3	0	1.9	7.1	0
Median intensity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Working or studying															
Median scores	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Prevalence (%)	0	0	0	3.8	7.1	2.6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Median intensity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 11 The median of OIDP performance scores and impact prevalence of each daily activity

according to study's group and time assessed.

Prevalence: percentage of patient whom reported the impacts / Intensity: magnitude of impacts classified as no impacts (0), little (1), moderate (2) and severe (3) / wks: weeks / mo: month(s) / A: all 52 patients / S: study group / C: comparison group





Figure 14 The Box plots of all 8 daily performances scores at different time point assessed in study's groups.

Pre-op: Pre-operation / PO: Post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)

Difference in the OHRQoL between study and comparison group

The overall OIDP score, impact extent and intensity were compared in order to reveal the association of these between study and comparison patient's groups. Pre-operatively, the study group reported more oral impacts than comparison group with median of overall score at 6.75 and 2.5 respectively but unable to show statistical significant difference. Two weeks after surgery, overall score of patients in both group significantly increased whereas higher score at 13.75 versus 7.00 of study and comparison group demonstrated the statistic difference (*p*-value=0.01). As the score tended to decrease after surgery, patients in study and comparison group showed similar overall score as pre-operation so there was no statistical significant between groups at 1 and 3 months post-operation. At the post-prosthesis assessment, patients in the comparison group presented the median score as 0 while study group still reported median score as 2.5 which was significant difference (*p*value=0.029). (Figure 15)



study's group according time assessed

The association among impact extent with study's groups was shown in Table 12. For impact extent, the distribution of patient's proportion in both groups at preoperation was comparable which mostly demonstrated oral impacts in 1-2 performances without the extremely 6-8 performances oral impact reported. The 2 weeks post-operation, about 85% study group patients showed 1-2 and 3-5 performances impact while 81.6% in comparison expressed only 1-2 performances impact. These proportional discrepancy were statistical significant difference (*p*-value=0.003). At 1 and 3 months post-operation, the proportion of patients according to impact extent presented the same distribution pattern in study and comparison group. Following the prosthesis delivery, 42.9% and 21.4% of study's group patients showed 1-2 and 3-5 performances oral impact while 68.4% and 31.6% of the opposite group showed no and 1-2 performance impact. This inconsistent was significantly in statistic tested (*p*-value=0.011).

^{*} Statistical significant different by Independent-samples Mann-Whitney U test at *p*-value < 0.05 Pre-op: pre-operation / PO: post-operation / wks: weeks / mo: month(s)

Time assessed		Impact extent					
Study's group	0 1-2 3-5			6-8	<i>p</i> -value		
Pre-operation							
Study (%)	14.3	57.1	28.6	0	0.057		
Comparison (%)	15.8	84.2	0	0	0.056		
2 weeks post-ope	ration						
Study (%)	0	42.9	42.9	14.3	0.002*		
Comparison (%)	0	81.6	18.4	0	0.005		
1 month post-ope	eration						
Study (%)	14.3	71.4	14.3	0	0.425		
Comparison (%)	10.5	89.5	0	0	0.435		
3 months post-op	peration						
Study (%)	14.3	71.4	14.3	0	0.250		
Comparison (%)	13.2	86.8	0	0	0.352		
Post-prosthesis							
Study (%) –	35.7	42.9	21.4	0	*		
Comparison (%) 🧉	68.4	31.6	0	0	0.011		
	1 11 11 11						

Table 12 The percentage of patients in the study and comparison group according to OIDP extent at different time assessed.

a: The association of the patient's proportion according to the study's group and OIDP extent by Spearman correlation analysis/ *: Statistical significant at 95% confident interval

Although, impact intensity of study group patients at pre-operation was mainly (50%) in severe level while comparison group reported the little and severe in close proportion (39.5% and 31.6%), there was no statistical association between study's group. In contrast to the post-surgery period, about 78.6% of study group patients reported impact intensity as severe but only 42.1% in comparison group reported that intensity. Others in the comparison group demonstrated little (39.5%) and moderate (18.4%) whereas the rest of patient in study group had little intensity. The statistical difference of this was shown (*p*-value=0.047). At 1 and 3 months post-operation, constant patient distribution according to impact intensity was similar to pre-operational baseline that was statistically indifferent between study's groups.

Subsequently post-prosthesis, 42.9% and 21.4% of patients in the study group still reported impact intensity as little and severe while majority (68.4%) in comparison group had no impact intensity. However this was unable to demonstrate any association of this between study's groups. (Table 13)

Time accord						
Study's group	No impact	Little	Moderate	Severe	<i>p</i> -value ^ª	
Pre-operation						
Study (%)	14.3	21.4	14.3	50.0	0.268	
Comparison (%)	15.8	39.5	13.2	31.6		
2 weeks post-ope	eration					
Study (%)	0	21.4	0	78.6	0.047*	
Comparison (%)	0	39.5	18.4	42.1	0.047	
1 month post-operation						
Study (%)	14.3	21.4	14.3	50.0	0.017	
Comparison (%)	10.5	47.4	13.2	28.9	0.240	
3 months post-operation						
Study (%)	14.3	21.4	14.3	50.0	0.226	
Comparison (%)	13.2	44.7	13.2	28.9		
Post-prosthesis						
Study (%)	35.7	42.9	18108	21.4	0.061	
Comparison (%)	68.4	15.8	2.6	13.2		

Table 13 The percentage of patients in the study and comparison group according to OIDP intensity at different time assessed.

a: The association of the patient's proportion according to the study's group and OIDP intensity by Spearman correlation analysis/ *: Statistical significant at 95% confident interval

The change according to the minimal important different concept

According to the previous results shown about the overtime changed in OIDP, irrespective to scoring formats, and the difference among them. There was evidently clear that afterwards 2 weeks post-operation as post-surgical change and post-prosthesis demonstrated significant difference from the others. Changes among post-

surgical and post-prosthesis with pre-operational baseline were used for analyzing the important change in the conceptual theory of minimal important different (MID).

In post-surgical change, median of individual changed score in all patients was 2.5 which equal to comparison group while study group demonstrated the median changed as 4.75 without statistical significant different. The changed score presented in positive way infer to the deterioration in OHRQoL. Conversely at post-prosthesis change, improvement in OHRQoL was found as the median of individual changed score was -3.0 and -2.5. These changes were also similar following statistic tested. (Table 14)

OIDP Individual changed score		All	Study	Comparison	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
Post-surgical change	Mean (std. deviation)	4.7 (5.5)	7.7 (7.6)	3.6 (4.2)	N/A
	Median	2.5	4.75	2.5	0.066
Post-prosthesis	Mean (std. deviation)	-3.4 (8.5)	-2.9 (14. 7)	-3.6 (4.9)	N/A
change	Median	-2.5	-3.0	-2.5	0.950

Table 14 The mean and median of OIDP individual changed score at two different observed period.

a: The median difference of individual changed score between study's group by Mann-Whitney U test N/A: Not applicable

JHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

MID was calculated in 2 different ways; distribution-based and anchor-based method. For the distribution-based MID, the effect size, standardized response mean, standard error of measurement and Norman's rule of thumb were demonstrated. (Table 15) The ES and SRM infer the magnitude of changed effect whether small, moderate or large effect according to Cohen's benchmark. (174) The moderate to large effect was shown in post-surgical change (ES = 0.7, SRM = 0.8) in contrast to post-prosthesis change, the effect was small to moderate level (ES = 0.5 SRM = 0.4). Unlike the SEM and Norman's rule of thumb, they provide MID value in form of the unit of changed score which considered as clinical important or meaningful. These

could be derived in a single value regardless of the different changed period. MID value was 2.3 and 3.4 from SEM and Norman's rule of thumb, respectively. For anchor-based MID, patients were rearranged into new groups according to categorization on change magnitude under the global rating of change. (Table 16) This categorization based on how much of the change happened whether unchanged, small change and large change irrespective to the change direction. The difference value of mean changed score between small change group and unchanged group was 2.9 (2.0-(-0.9)). This was considered as MID.

	Distribution-based minimal important different				
Observed period	Effect size	Standardized Response Mean	Standard Error of Measurement ^a	Norman's rule of thumb	
Post-surgical change	0.7	0.8	2.2	2.4	
Post-prosthesis change	0.5	0.4	2.5	5.4	

Table 15 The minimal important different value by the distribution-based method.

a: The internal reliability of this OIDP measure, derived from Cronbach's Alpha, was 0.879

Chulalongkorn University

	Categorized of Global Transition rating			
	Unchanged	Small change	Large change	
	(Rating -1,0,1)	(Rating -3,-2,2,3)	(Rating -5,-4,4,5)	
Number of patients (n=52)	7	7	38	
Mean changed score (SD) at	0.0 (2.4)		-4.9 (9.1)	
Post-prosthesis	-0.9 (3.4)	2.0 (6.3)		

Table 16 The mean of individual changed score categorized by the level of change according to

global transition rating in all patients.

SD: standard deviation

In order to obtain the single value MID, the MID value from distribution-based and anchor-based method were pooled and criticized together. The distributionbased MID was 2.3 and 3.4 while anchor-based MID was 2.9. These MID ranged from 2.3 to 3.4 with average at 2.9, however, the assessed score was an integer so this unit of change required to be an integer. Finally, the three units of changed score, approximate from 2.9, was considered as MID value in this study.

Following the obtaining of MID value, 3 units of score change was used to classified patients as had or had not an important change along with considering on the direction of change. (Figure 16) In post-surgical change, the OIDP score at 2 weeks post-operation was greater than pre-operation causing positive changed score that infer deterioration in OHRQoL. The 46.2% of all patients, 64.3% of study group and 39.5% of comparison group, reported at least 3 units of positive score change. In contrast to post-prosthesis change, the score tended to decrease lower than baseline leading to the negative changed score that infer improvement in OHRQoL. Implant prosthesis caused 38.5% of all patients demonstrated the improvement change, 50% and 34.2% of patients in the study and comparison group shown this change.



Figure 16 The flow diagram displayed the proportion of patients in the study's groups according to the minimal important different change, 3 unit of changed score. wks: weeks / Pre-op: pre-operation

Related factors on the change in OHRQoL

Patients were classified according to all interested variables including sociodemographic and clinical variables based on whether meaningful or meaningless change in post-surgical change and post-prosthesis change. (Table 17) For postsurgical change, association between this change and study's variable was illustrated only for amount of placed implant (*p*-value=0.031). The post-surgical change was clinical meaningful in 38.1% in patients whom received single implant placement but almost 80% of patients with multiple implants placement demonstrate this meaningful change. Others variables along with study's group were incapable to show the association. For post-prosthesis change, gender (*p*-value=0.02) and experienced on removable denture (*p*-value=0.012) were the only two variables that associated to the change. The 81.8% of males claimed on the minimal change which considered as meaningless whereas more than half (53.6%) of females expressed that change meaningfully. The post-prosthesis change of 66.7% on patients with removable denture history was clinical meaningful while only 27% of the other patients group reported that change. Two of these study's groups could not present the association to the meaning of the change.

At post-surgical change, 64.3% of patients in study group but only 39.5% in comparison group reported the clinical significant change. For the post-prosthesis change, half of patients in study group and 34.2% in comparison group showed the meaningful change. Although this was the quietly different proportional ratio between meaningful and meaningless change, there was no association detected statistically.

	Post-surgical change		8	Post-prosthesis change		
Variables	Meaningful	Meaningless	<i>p</i> -value ^a	Meaningful	Meaningless	<i>p</i> -value ^ª
	(%)	(%)	AND -	(%)	(%)	,
				21		
Socio-demographie	c variables					
Age						
Under 45 yrs.	54.5	46.5	าวทยา	46.5	54.5	0.631
46-59 yrs.	29.2	70.8	0.065	41.7	58.3	
More than 60 yrs.	64.7	35.3		29.4	70.6	
Gender						
Male	40.9	59.1	0.501	18.2	81.8	0.020*
Female	50.0	50.0	0.581	53.3	46.7	
Education level						
Under university	50.0	50.0		37.5	62.5	
University or	45 F	E4 E	1.000	20 7	61.2	1.000
above	45.5	54.5		50.1	01.5	
Systemic disease						
Absent	44.4	55.6	1.000	33.3	66.7	0.570
Present	48.0	52.0		44.0	56.0	
Removable denture experience						
Ever	53.3	46.7	0.553	66.7	33.3	0.012*
Never	43.2	56.8		27.0	73.0	
Implant experience						
Ever	60.0	40.0	0.483	40.0	60.0	1.000
Never	42.9	57.1		38.1	61.9	
	Post-surgical change			Post-prosthesis change		
---	----------------------	-------------	------------------------------	------------------------	-------------	------------------------------
Variables	Meaningful	Meaningless	<i>p</i> -value ^a	Meaningful	Meaningless	<i>p</i> -value ^a
	(%)	(%)	P	(%)	(%)	<i>p</i> • • • • • • •
Clinical variables						
Study's group						
Study	64.3	35.7	0.120	50.0	50.0	0.347
Comparison	39.5	60.5	0.130	34.2	65.8	
Amount of placed	l implant					
Single	38.1	61.9	*	38.1	61.9	1.000
Multiple	80.0	20.0	0.031	40.0	60.0	
Implant position						
Anterior	33.3	66.7	1.000	100.0	0.0	0.052
Posterior	46.9	53.1	1.000	34.7	65.3	
Implant location	•				•	
Maxilla	46.7	53.3	1.000	60.0	40.0	0.061
Mandible	45.9	54.1	1.000	29.7	70.3	
Timing of implant placement post-extraction						
Early	38.1	61.9	0.403	38.1	61.9	1.000
Delay	51.6	48.4		38.7	61.3	
Surgeon						
Student	47.8	52.2	1.000	N/A	N/A	N/A
Staff	44.8	55.2		N/A	N/A	
Prosthodontist						
Student	N/A	N/A		38.9	61.1	1.000
Staff	N/A	N/A	N/A	38.2	61.8	

Table 17 The percentage of patients in each interested variables according to the

meaningful/meaningless change at two different observed periods.

Meaningful change at 2 weeks Post-operation and Post-prosthesis from Pre-operation: The percentage of patients that reported at least 3 positive changed scores and negative changed scores, respectively. a : The association of the patient's proportion according to the variables and change by Fisher's exact test for 2 categorized variables and Chi-Square test for more than 2 categorized variables/ * : Statistical significant at 95% confident interval

Responsiveness of the OIDP assessment

Responsiveness was defined in order to test the ability of this study's measurement by OIDP index on how sensitive of this instrument to detect occurrence change. Change between post-prosthesis and pre-operation period was used to demonstrate this instrument's property. The correlation of post-prosthesis individual changed score and global transition rating was tested by Pearson's correlation analysis. Our study's result showed the correlation coefficient at -0.614 with *p*-value less than 0.001, implying the conversely significant linear correlation. This means the more negative changed score, the greater positive global transition change. In addition, Kruskal-Wallis test was clarified that individual changed score classifying by global transition rating had dissimilar distribution (*p*-value=0.023). Furthermore, there was the association between individual changed intensity level and global transition rating which tested by Spearman's correlation analysis (*p*-value < 0.001).

The other statistical method to detect instrument's responsiveness was proposed by Juniper E, et al. (175), this method was also used in the OHRQoL study. (176) Comparison of median overall score between pre- and post-operation in patients with various degrees of change according to global transition rating demonstrated significant different only at patients whom report positive large change, global transition rating as +4 and +5 (*p*-value<0.001). While the small change even if in positive or negative direction was unable to show statistical significant difference. (Table 18) The median of post-prosthesis changed score in patients whom were classified as small and large change according to degree of global transition change was compared with the median post-prosthesis changed score of unchanged-

categorized patients. Statistical significant different was found only in positive large change group. (Table 19)

Level of global	n	Overall OIDP s	a	
Perceived change		Pre-operation	Post-prosthesis	<i>p</i> -value
Positive large change	37	ΕO	0.0	<0.001*
(Global +4,+5)		5.0		
Positive small change	5	2.5	1 5	0.100
(Global +2,+3)		2.5	1.5	0.109
Unchanged	7	2.5	2 5	0.414
(Global -1,0,+1)	1	2.5	2.2	0.414
Negative small change	2	6.95	16.05	0.180
(Global -2,-3)		0.20	10.25	
Negative large change	-1		N1/A	
(Global -4,-5)		N/A	N/A	IN/A

Table 18 The median of overall OIDP score according to the level of global perceived change. a: The difference of median score between pre-operation and post-prosthesis by Wilcoxon Signed rank test/ *: Statistical significant at 95% confident interval

	0.00				
Level of global				Positive	Positive
perceived	Negative	Negative	Unchanged	small	large
change	large change	small change	(Global -	change	change
Changed	(Global -4,-5)	(Global -2,-3)	1,0,+1)	(Global	(Global
Score				+2,+3)	+4,+5)
Median	N/A	10.0	0.0	-1.0	-2.5
<i>p</i> -value ^b	N/A	0.176	As anchor	0.981	0.049*

Table 19 The median of individual changed score according to the level of global perceived

change.

a: Individual changed score between post-prosthesis and pre-operation. b: The difference of median changed score between unchanged and the others group by Mann-Whitney U test. As anchor: The median changed score in unchanged global perceived changed group was used for match-pair comparison with the others group/ *: Statistical significant at 95% confident interval

Chapter 5 Discussion

Reconstructing the edentulous status with the implant prosthesis aims not only to fulfil the lost teeth, but also intends to restore patient's daily life. Our study purposes to evaluate the outcome of implant prosthesis, especially patients who received bone augmentation by GBRs technique, from patient's perspective through the OHRQoL assessment. The OHRQoL changed overtime throughout the treatment process, deterioration after surgery and improvement following prosthesis usage. Surgical implant placement causes poorer OHRQoL short period afterward surgery, however, recovery was shown later. Eating and oral hygiene were significantly affected. Although patients with simultaneous bone augmentation reported more worsening OHRQoL than who do not require that procedure, this additional bone augmentation had no association to surgical-related OHRQoL deterioration but the association was seen only in multiple-placed implant patients. Advantage of implant prosthesis was remarkably proved by females and patients with removable denture experience while the bone augmentation during implant placement did not relate to the improvement on OHRQoL after treatment completion. Regaining on eating ability and smiling or showing teeth with confidence was illustrated from implant prosthesis construction.

Changing of OHRQoL in implant prosthesis-reconstructed partial edentulous patients was studied in the previous literature. Most of them concentrated on the change from prior to after prosthesis delivery but only few studies monitored the OHRQoL throughout the treatment process especially after implantation prior to prosthesis construction. Eitner S, et al. (31) showed the significant increase in OHIP-G55 score from 75.8 at pre-operation to 85.3 at 4-5 months post-operation then the score decreased to 29.5 after prosthesis delivery. This pattern of change is identical to our study that OHRQoL was deteriorated following surgery then the improvement would be gained after prosthesis used. The main distinct result was that deterioration still reported at 4-5 months post-operation especially in the psychological dimension and some physical pain while our study clearly showed the restriction of that effect in a short period after surgery and latterly recovered soon at 1 month postoperation. Conversely to the study by Reisine S, et al. (34), they solely found better in OHRQoL after 9 months of implant prosthesis delivery but unable to show any statistical OHRQoL alteration during post-surgical period. In that mentioned study, implants were placed simultaneously with different bone augmentation techniques without the simple implant placement as negative comparison group. The OHIP-14 score at prior treatment, 15.4, and 1 week after surgery, 13.7, was comparable that inconsistent with our study which found the significant worsening scores alteration following surgery in patients receiving GBRs bone augmentation. This different may from the strictly confined patient samples in which only post-menopausal women were included in that study while our study included a diversity of samples that could express their impacts in various dimensions. However, there were very few studies that illustrated this pattern of OHRQoL alteration in surgical implant placement patients which make these findings inability to conclude.

Deterioration in OHRQoL following surgical procedure was found due to the occurrence of post-operative adverse events as well as in surgical implant placement. Pain is commonly complaint in which the 60-80% of patients reported

pain at mild to moderate level especially on the first day following conventional implant placement which then gradually declined to its prevalence and intensity. (33, 142) Post-operative swelling was also addressed in which high degree of swelling was evidenced during 1^{st} and 2^{nd} day post-surgery, moreover, nearly 30% of patients still reported swelling at a week after the operation. (32) Implant treatment rejection was influenced by these general post-operative events. (177) All patients in our study showed the score increasing, more amount of performances with impact and higher degree of impact intensity regardless of study groups. Patients receiving implant placement with bone augmentation addressed the significant OHRQoL impairment than conventional implant placement. The possible explanation of this was the more surgical invasiveness and complexity as well as time consuming are expected. GBRs technique usually requires additional surgical steps such releasing incision in order to coronally-positioned the gingival flap for tension free closure at the augmented sites and/or in some cases that needing localized corticotomy which aim to increase graft's blood supply. Although patients with bone augmentation obviously declined their OHRQoL after surgery comparing to opposite patient group, the augmentation procedure had no association with the meaningful clinical change but only multiple implants placement demonstrated that association. Installation more than single implant evidently reported as a main contributing factor on post-operative pain and also swelling (32, 142) because of its more complicated procedure, extended surgical area required as well as longer operation time than placing a single one. The more surgical invasiveness performed in minor oral surgery, the poorer in OHRQoL postoperatively. (178) Furthermore, the declination of OHRQoL was also influenced by post-operative swelling. (179) Even though patient's age and gender, surgeon expertise, area of placed implant were formerly stated as contributing factors to post-operative discomforts after implant surgery (32, 33, 142), our study is unable to show any association of these factors with the OHRQoL change. However, worsening or steadiness on OHRQoL in the period after surgery that was found in this study could not totally infer from these post-operative discomforts because OHRQoL assessment particularly via OIDP index that objectively measures ultimate impacts consequently from not only mentioned pain and discomfort but also involving in functional limitation and unsatisfied appearance. Moreover. the pain, discomfort, limitation in function or unsatisfied looks must intense enough that could negatively affect to daily activities.

In current dental practice, the best treatment of choice if patients lost their teeth is going toward implant prosthesis. Clinicians believe on its superiority characteristics over other type of prostheses in various reasons such as its comfortability as fixed prosthesis, ultimately mimic natural tooth, strong enough for physical function, conservation adjacent tooth structure, long-life usage, biological-and hygiene-friendly which eventually hope to bring patient's life better. Moreover, patients perceived this treatment modality in a highly positive way as shown by the notable satisfaction level. (4, 5, 147) Numerous studies were apparently published on the OHRQoL improvement following implant prosthesis construction whether in agreement with our study. The majority of patients in this study expressed the extremely low (median score nearly close to 0) OIDP score at post-prosthesis and had no remaining performances with impacts that means they importantly realized the better well-being. However, patients receiving bone augmentation during implant

placement interestingly showed the comparable OHRQoL level to pre-operational baseline along with 1-2 performances difficulty in little intensity. As reported by Hof M, et al. (172) in which implant with GBRs satisfied patients in the lowermost (75%) when comparing to other approaches on implant placement. These findings were inconsistent with the study of Reisine S, et al. (34) that found the better OHRQoL after prosthesis completion whether installed implant receiving site development in any techniques. Although, the overall score of this study group patients unable to reach statistically significant different, some of the raw parameters assessed tends to show the better OHRQoL such reduction of the median overall score, impact prevalence and intensity from 6.75 to 2.5, 85% to 64% and moderate-severe to little, respectively.

The factors influencing the OHRQoL alteration following implant prosthesis rehabilitation were widely considered in the publish literatures. Our study found the association between significant OHRQoL change only with gender and removable denture experience while other socio-demographic and clinical factors, including the bone augmentation by means of GBRs technique lacked of that association. Half of females, while less than 20% of males, in this study meaningfully perceived better shifting on OHRQoL. Similar to patients with removable denture experience, nearly 67% of them expressed meaningful change while only 27% of the opposite group showed the same change. Controversy on gender and OHRQoL alteration was stated, Yu S-J, et al. (30) reported contrast findings to our study in which greater improvement on OHRQoL was found in male over female patients following anterior implant construction whereas the other studies found no association of gender and OHRQoL alteration. (164, 165, 168) Although no previous studies mentioned on the

effect of removable denture experienced in OHRQoL change after implant prosthesis treatment, there was other aspect of studies that compared OHRQoL between removable denture and implant prosthesis patients. Furuyama C, et al. (149) revealed the better OHRQoL in implant prosthesis patients comparing to removable denture wearers. A similar conclusion was reported by Peršić S, et al. (180) which showed greater improvement in OHRQoL on implant-supported fixed prosthesis over removable denture. Improvement on this perceived OHRQoL in whom previously experienced by denture wearer was expected because of the dramatically change from removable uncomfortable denture to the fixed tooth-mimic prosthesis. Besides, there were many factors that had been studied and found to associate with OHRQoL increasing in partial edentulous patients with implant prosthesis. Ponsi J, et al.(28) demonstrated the better OHRQoL of implant prosthesis at incisor and premolar region whereas OHRQoL for molar prosthesis was still unchanged. Timing of implant placement post-extraction was also considered, Raes F et al. (169) performed domain analysis of OHIP-14 between immediate and delayed implant placement. Although gaining on OHRQoL was shown in both groups, physical pain and psychological discomfort was predominant in delayed and immediate implant placement, respectively. In addition to loading protocol of implant prosthesis, Dolz J, et al. (167) demonstrated higher degree of OHRQoL increasing in immediate loaded prosthesis than delayed. However, our study found no association of those mentioned factors, such implant position, placement timing, and others factors including age, educational level, pre-existing systemic disease, implant prosthesis experience, simultaneous bone augmentation, implant location and expertise level of surgeon or prosthodontist. The difference in OHRQoL measuring index, main

factors of interest and also study's population, moreover, the distinction in analysis method of these related factors caused the variety of these results. The majority of studies correlated index changed score between couple period evaluated or solely index score at a single time point with the factors of interest, some applied a type of regression analysis among index score or changed score with related factors but our study achieves the difference. This study classified the change into meaningful and meaningless change according to MID value which then analyzed associated factors through proportional analysis. Further about MID will be discussed later.

Since the outstanding characteristic of OIDP index that capture an ultimate impact from all influential impairment, discomfort, limitation or dissatisfaction on oral-related daily activities, this is the outstanding feature of this index in order to clearly clarify those oral impacts in the form of behavioral-based more than feeling/opinion-based outcomes. Details from all of 8 performances in daily living were analyzed to illustrate the change throughout the implant treatment process in our study. Prior to receiving treatment, impact on eating is expected to be found because almost patients in this study lost the posterior teeth which, commonly known as a key point of the mastication power zone. While an embarrassment on smiling or showing their dentition demonstrated as the second most common difficulty after tooth loss implying the greater concern on personal good looking of current people about existing edentulous space. This finding agrees with Al-Omiri MK, et al. (171) that reported the high prevalence of eating or chewing and appearance dissatisfaction in partial edentulous patients going to receive implant placement. At an early period after surgery, all performances got worse however only eating and oral hygiene cleaning was essentially affected. In routine post-surgical instruction

given to, especially, implant patients is generally advice about the more careful on biting or chewing as well as brushing or rubbing at the surgical area in order to leave the installed implant stable in place as much as possible for the success in osseointegration. Resemble findings was reported by Raes F, et al. (169) which showed more physical disability, composing by two questions about eating difficulty regarding to OHIP index, in patients whom were placed implant in healed ridge over the immediate placement at 1 month after surgery. No more study additionally revealed activities with impacts following surgical implant placement. After treatment completion, significant in eating and smiling difficulty reduction was demonstrated in our study in which improving on eating or chewing was predominantly found in the comparison group whereas smiling or showing teeth without embarrassment was better demonstrated in study group. This was expected because of the difference on region of placed implant between these study's groups. All implants in the comparison group were only placed in the posterior region while about 20% of implants in the study group were placed in the anterior esthetic region. Furthermore, a report on Al-Omiri MK, et al. (171) showed nearly 90% of patients satisfied on chewing and appearance. Moreover Raes F, et al. 2013 (170) found the better chewing comfortability, relaxation, confident smiling, less emotion irritable as well as doing their jobs after 1 year of implant prosthesis used.

Although the majority of patients in this study improved their OHRQoL after receiving implant prosthesis, few of them suffered from this kind of prosthesis. Interesting OHRQoL (data not showed) was the report of oral impacts in severe intensity following implant prosthesis used. Three (3/14) and five (5/38) patients in the study and comparison groups respectively demonstrated that severe impacts.

The majority of them suffered with the interproximal food retention or food impaction that not only disturbed meals enjoying but also annoyed patients when cleaning in that area. Furuyama C, et al. 2012 (149) also stated the same finding on food retention/impaction in more than half of implant prosthesis patients, however, no reported on consequently adverse events from this problem as showed in the current study. The main anatomical consideration of implant prosthesis causing impaction of food suspects from the narrow cervical portion of prosthesis according to the limitation of placed implant diameter although large gingival forming abutment in order to create a suitable emergence profile was applied. However, the interdental papilla formation was quiet more difficult particularly in multiple implants posterior prosthesis. So lacking the gingival papilla might lead to the more susceptible for food retention in that area. Moreover, an alteration on remaining dentition following tooth lost such as tilted angulation of adjacent teeth originate an improper contact embrasure between prosthesis and natural teeth, vertical positioning change toward edentulous space of occluding dentition causing prominent plunger cusp pushing the food into interproximal contact. Beside the interproximal food impaction, some of these patients still avoided to chew the solid food because of worrying about the possibility of prosthesis failure as well as unnatural feeling.

As the measuring indexes require the score value to represent a degree of OHRQoL, increasing or decreasing of index score was interpreted as OHRQoL either improvement or deterioration. Recently, concerning on the meaning of score including changed score was questioned and had been emphasized, minimal important different was proposed to convince these OHRQoL index score more meaningful interpretability. Both of distribution-based and anchor-based method to find out MID value was applied in this study. The effect size conjunction with standardized response mean demonstrated the moderate to large change effect following implant surgery. No previous study had demonstrated the effect size for this post-surgical change. Only small to moderate change effect was demonstrated in this study when comparing before treatment and after prosthesis used whereas Yu S-J, et al. (30) and Dolz J, et al. (167) reported large change effect (ES > 0.8) on OHIP assessment in almost index after treatment of implant prosthesis. Distinction of current study and the mentioned study on the magnitude of effect following this intervention is suspected to be from the different on the degree of changed score and standard deviation value at pre-operation baseline reported. Lower individual changed score, about 3 unit score, was reported in our study but those cited studies demonstrated the range of changed score during 7 to 18 unit score. Moreover the highly distribution of pre-operational score that might from the small numbers of patients in this study leading to greater value of standard deviation while the mentioned studies included hundreds of patients leading the score less distributed consequently with small values of standard deviation. Unlike the effect size and standardized response mean, standard error of measurement and Norman's rule of thumb provided the approximate score that inferred to MID value. Furthermore, anchoring the changed score with global transition rating in this study conjunction with estimate MID value by distribution-based method revealed the MID value of 3 units of changed score eventually. However, this is the first study that explored MID value according to OIDP index in partial edentulous patients undergoing implant prosthesis reconstruction. A previous study on OHRQoL in periodontitis-treated

patients were the earliest published which assessed the MID value by two similar approached methods as this study and demonstrated MID about 5 units of OIDP changed score.(54) Our study proposed the novel different analytical method in order to explore the influencing factors on the OHRQoL alteration. The calculated MID value, which conceptually considered as the clinically meaningful OHRQoL alteration (51), was applied in order to categorize patients into meaningful or meaningless change and then analyzing for that association with interested factors. This technique might provide the true potential factors causing clinical meaningful change than analyzing them with any degree of changed score.

Responsiveness of OHRQoL measuring index, as OIDP used in this study, for assessing the overtime change is needed to evaluate how sensitive of the index used for capturing that occurrence of change. However, many approaches with different analytical techniques and interpretations were proposed. (181) This study found the significant correlation between changed score and global transition rating in which the better in OHRQoL the more positive global transition rated, implying the correct direction of changed detected by this instrument. Individual change in index score and impact intensity were also importantly different at the classified level of global change, this demonstrate an ability of index to actually discriminate the change. Finally, testing the index sensitivity was performed through the previous proposed method (175) and had been used in OHRQoL study. (176) The significant postprosthesis change was found only in patients reported large global change while small global change as well as the unchanged group was not found. The index with good sensitivity usually requires to show significant differences at all levels of change especially at the smallest change level categorized. These findings are unsurprising since MID value also considered as one of the responsiveness approaches in which small global changed group in this study reported the changed score less than 3 units of score therefore that difference was actually not found. Taken together, OIDP measuring in this study characterized as "Fair" according to this responsiveness discussion.

Performing the patient-based outcome studies especially in implant patients as this study is still required in order to show or confirm the ultimate clinical advantages of this treatment modality by the patients themselves. This assessment on OHRQoL through OIDP index not only provides the information on level of patient's OHRQoL according to its constructed theory but also clarified deeply into details of oral-related daily performances affected. Interpretation these impacts through the predominant scoring method which evaluate impact frequency and severity conjunction with various score formats including overall score, performance score, impact prevalence and impact intensity. This information was useful for attending dentist to inform the patient on which impacts might be happen during treatment process. Moreover this study paid more attention to the meaning of that changed score by assessing the MID value which never been prior studied in this field of literature and also proposed the optional method in order to find out the factors or variables association to OHRQoL alteration through the benefit of MID value. However, this study shows various limitations that could be considered in term of clinical or further literature application. A small number of patients whom completing this evaluation particularly patients with bone augmentation during implant placement was unavoidable due to the limitation of the author's study period. Each patient in this study received implant prosthesis treatment by the

various specialty dentists in different department therefore longer treatment time from some problems in inter-department communication, high workload of attending dentist or end of semester holidays could be expected. The less patients samples the more distribution of gathering response with low power of statistical analysis was encountered. Measuring OHRQoL in partial edentulous patients that still present remaining dentition in their mouth could be done with caution because assessment was performed in the form of overall perceived impacts on each oral-related activities so confounding effect from others remaining tooth problem could be regarded.

There are several topics that could be suggested for further study. In addition to the bone augmentation by GBR technique, various surgical procedures proposing for implant site development to reconstruct the atrophic edentulous including hard and soft tissue surgery such onlay bone graft, ridge splitting, distraction osteogenesis as well as free gingival- and sub-epithelial connective tissue graft are still waiting for illustration the treatment effectiveness in term of patient's outcome. OHRQoL alteration throughout treatment process corresponding to these kinds of surgery will be useful for not only outcome evaluation but also promoting better patient's care management. Development of the self-reported OIDP questionnaire could gather more OHRQoL data in larger group of patients with less time and human resource consuming. In addition, the modification of performance score weighting in term of the coefficient needs to be considered in order to giving impact priority corresponding to interested oral conditions. For example, if the study focuses on the OHRQoL in anterior implant prosthesis, the performance score on smiling or contacting with people should get more attention than eating by assigning the higher coefficient such as 1.5 for smiling and 0.5 for eating. Others related factors that suspect to associate on OHRQoL in implant prosthesis patients such as patient's psychological trait, socio-economic level, oral and health concerns, overall treatment duration, type of retained prosthesis, etc. need to be studied. The patient-based outcome study in partial edentulous with implant prosthesis besides OHRQoL such as cost-effectiveness, patient's expectation to the treatment, patient's satisfaction and also post-surgical patient's response including pain, swelling, decrease mouth opening or others possible events was still paid less attention in current literatures. In addition, the association of those mentioned aspects with OHRQoL assessment would make the study more attractive. Patient's psychological trait, prior implant site development, timing approach on implant prosthesis treatment including timing of implant treatment post-extraction, timing of implant restoration or loading would be considered as the factors in patient-based outcomes alteration. The main problem following implant prosthesis such interproximal food impaction needs to be intensively studied in term of etiology and contributing factors such as design of prosthesis, type of prosthesis contact, degree of proximal contact tightness, diameter of installed implant, pre-operative alveolar ridge dimension, angulation of adjacent teeth, pre-existing plunger cusp, occluding dentition and patient's preferable chewing habits. This could provide the more satisfied prosthesis to make a patient's life better.

Chapter 6 Conclusion

The OHRQoL on patients undergoing surgical implant placement changed overtime throughout treatment process. Implant surgery caused oral impacts in a brief period particularly on eating and oral hygiene cleaning performances. Patients with bone augmentation by GBRs technique were affected by surgery more than patients receiving only implant placement. Multiple implants placement was a predominant factor associated to OHRQoL deterioration after surgery. At 1 and 3 months later, the OHRQoL recovered to pre-operational baseline. Following prosthesis used, the better in OHRQoL was found especially in females and patients with removable denture experience. Eating and smiling performances were improved. GBRs technique for simultaneous bone augmentation during implant placement had no association to OHRQoL change neither in post-surgical period nor post-prosthesis

used. GHULALONGKORN UNIVE

REFERENCES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University 1. Lambrecht JT, Filippi A, Künzel AR, Schiel HJ. Long-term Evaluation of Submerged and Nonsubmerged ITI Solid-Screw Titanium Implants: A 10-year Life Table Analysis of 468 Implants. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2003;18(6):826-34.

2. Buser D, Mericske-stern R, Pierre Bernard JP, Behneke A, Behneke N, Hirt HP, et al. Long-term evaluation of non-submerged ITI implants. Part 1: 8-year life table analysis of a prospective multi-center study with 2359 implants. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 1997;8(3):161-72.

3. Romeo E, Chiapasco M, Ghisolfi M, Vogel G. Long-term clinical effectiveness of oral implants in the treatment of partial edentulism. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2002;13(2):133-43.

4. Vermylen K, Collaert B, Lindén U, Björn A-L, De Bruyn H. Patient satisfaction and quality of single-tooth restorations : A 7-year follow-up pilot study in private dental practices. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2003;14(1):119-24.

5. Pjetursson BE, Karoussis I, Bürgin W, Brägger U, Lang NP. Patients' satisfaction following implant therapy : A 10-year prospective cohort study. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2005;16(2):185-93.

6. Martin W, Lewis E, Nicol A. Local Risk Factors for Implant Therapy. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2009;24:28-38.

7. Chiapasco M, Zaniboni M, Boisco M. Augmentation procedures for the rehabilitation of deficient edentulous ridges with oral implants. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2006;17(S2):136-59.

8. Zitzmann NU, Schärer P, Marinello CP. Long-term Results of Implants Treated with Guided Bone Regeneration: A 5-year Prospective Study. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2001;16(3):355-66.

9. Jung RE, Fenner N, Hämmerle CHF, Zitzmann NU. Long-term outcome of implants placed with guided bone regeneration (GBR) using resorbable and non-resorbable membranes after 12-14 years. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2013;24(10):1065-73.

10. Chiapasco M, Zaniboni M. Clinical outcomes of GBR procedures to correct peri-implant dehiscences and fenestrations: A systematic review. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2009;20(SUPPL. 4):113-23.

11. Buser D, Chappuis V, Kuchler U, Bornstein MM, Wittneben JG, Buser R, et al. Long-term stability of early implant placement with contour augmentation. Journal of Dental Research. 2013;92(12):176S-82S.

12. Albert D. Guckes MSS, Daniel A. Shugars. A conceptual framework for understanding outcomes of dental implant therapy. J Prosthet Dent. 1996;75:633-9.

13. Alf Eliasson SP, Björn Svenson, Katarina Sondell. Five-Year Results with Fixed Complete-Arch Mandibular Prostheses Supported by 4 Implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2000;15:505-10.

14. Jan-Anders Ekelund LWL, Gunnar E. Carlsson, Torsten Jemt. Implant Treatment in the Edentulous Mandible: A Prospective Study on Brånemark System Implants over More than 20 Years. Int J Prosthodont. 2003;16:602–8.

15. Muhittin Toman ST, Ahmet Saraçog⁻lu, Cenk Cura, Anıl Hatipog⁻lu. Masticatory Performance and Mandibular Movement Patterns of Patients with Natural Dentitions, Complete Dentures, and Implant-Supported Overdentures. Int J Prosthodont. 2012;25:135-7.

16. Ronald E. Jung BEP, Roland Glauser, Anja Zembic, Marcel Zwahlen, Niklaus P. Lang. A systematic review of the 5-year survival and complication rates of implant-supported single crowns. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2008;19:119–30.

17. Krisdapong S, Sheiham A. Which aspects of an oral health-related quality of life measure are mainly associated with global ratings of oral health in children? Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology. (In Print).

18. Tsakos G, Allen PF, Steele JG, Locker D. Interpreting oral health-related quality of life data. Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology. 2012;40(3):193-200.

19. Leekumnerdthai P, Pimkhaokham A, Krisdapong S. Oral Health-Related Quality of Life in Cleft Lip and Palate Patients Before and After Alveolar Bone Grafting. Bangkok: Chulalongkorn University; 2012.

20. Suksang S, Pimkhaokham A, Krisdapong S. Evaluation of Oral Health Related Quality of Life in Patients Undergoing Orthognathic Surgery at The Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. Bangkok: Chulalongkorn University; 2013.

21. BernabÉ E, Sheiham A, De Oliveira CM. Impacts on daily performances attributed to malocclusions by British adolescents. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 2009;36(1):26-31.

22. Baker SR, Pankhurst CL, Robinson PG. Utility of two oral health-related quality-of-life measures in patients with xerostomia. Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology. 2006;34(5):351-62.

23. Suriyakaewneramit W, Pimkhaokham A, Krisdapong S. The Evaluation of Oral Health-Related Quality of Life and Masticatory Performance in Patients Wearing Mandibular Implant-Retained Overdenture Bangkok: Chulalongkorn University; 2013. 24. Melas F, Marcenes W, Wright PS. Oral Health Impact on Daily Performance in Patients with Implant-Stabilized Overdentures and Patients with Conventional Complete Dentures. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2001;16(5):700-12.

25. M.A. Awadl DL, N. Korner-Bitensky, J.S. Feine. Measuring the Effect of Intra-oral Implant Rehabilitation on Health-related Quality of Life in a Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. J Dent Res. 2000;79(9):1659-63.

26. Elham Emami GH, Pierre H. Rompre, Pierre de Grandmont, Jocelyne S. Feine. Impact of implant support for mandibular dentures on satisfaction, oral and general health-related quality of life: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2009;20:533–44.

27. Heydecke G, Locker D, Awad MA, Lund JP, Feine JS. Oral and general healthrelated quality of life with conventional and implant dentures. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2003;31:161-8.

28. Ponsi J, Lahti S, Rissanen H, Oikarinen K. Change in Subjective Oral Health After Single Dental Implant Treatment. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2011;26(3):571-7.

29. Nickenig H-J, Wichmann M, Andreas SK, Eitner S. Oral health-related quality of life in partially edentulous patients: Assessments before and after implant therapy. Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery 2008;36(8):477- 80.

30. Yu S-J, Chen P, Zhu G-X. Relationship between implantation of missing anterior teeth and oral health-related quality of life. Quality of Life Research. 2012:1-8.

31. Eitner S, Wichmann M, Schlegel KA, Kollmannsberger JE, Nickenig H-J. Oral health-related quality of life and implant therapy: An evaluation of preoperative, intermediate, and post-treatment assessments of patients and physicians. Journal of Craniomaxillofacial Surgery. 2012;40(1):20-3.

32. Santana HG, Diago MP, Carbó JG, Martínez JB. Pain and inflammation in 41 patients following the placement of 131 dental implants. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2005;10:258-63.

 Al-Khabbaz AK, Griffin TJ, Al-Shammari KF. Assessment of Pain Associated With the Surgical Placement of Dental Implants. Journal of Periodontology. 2007;78(2):239-46.

34. Reisine S, Freilich M, Ortiz D, Pendrys D, Shafer D, Taxel P. Quality of life improves among post-menopausal women who received bone augmentation during dental implant therapy. Int J OralMaxillofac Surg. 2012;41(12):1558-62.

35. Berglundh T, Giannobile WV. Investigational clinical research in implant dentistry: Beyond observational and descriptive studies. Journal of Dental Research. 2013;92(12):107S-8S.

36. Preamble to the Constitution of the World Health Organization. The International Health Conference; New York, 19-22 June: Official Records of the World Health Organization; 1946. p. 100.

37. WHO. The World Health Organization quality of life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. Soc Sci Med. 1995:1403-10.

38. Dolan TA. Identification of appropriate outcomes for an aging population. Special Care in Dentistry. 1993;13(1):35-9.

39. Locker D, Clarke M, Payne B. Self-perceived Oral Health Status, Psychological Well-being, and Life Satisfaction in an Older Adult Population. Journal of Dental Research. 2000;79(4):970-5.

40. Atchison KA, Gift HC. Perceived Oral Health In a Diverse Sample. Advances in Dental Research. 1997;11(2):272-80.

41. Locker D. Self-Esteem and Socioeconomic Disparities in Self-Perceived Oral Health. Journal of Public Health Dentistry. 2009;69(1):1-8.

42. Slade GD, editor. Measuring Oral Health and Quality of Life. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, Dental Ecology; 1997.

43. Slade GD. The oral health impact profile. In: Slade GD, editor. Measuring oral health and quality of life. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina; 1997. p. 93-104.

44. Adulyanon S, Sheiham A. Oral impacts on daily performances. In: Slade GD, editor. Measuring oral health and quality of life. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina; 1997. p. 151-60.

45. Locker D. Measuring oral health: a conceptual framework. Community Dent Health. 1988;5(1):3-18.

46. Adulyanon S, Vourapukjaru J, Sheiham A. Oral impacts affecting daily performance in a low dental disease in Thai population. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 1996;24: 385-9.

47. Srisilapanan P, Sheiham A. The prevalence of dental impacts on daily performances in older people in Northern Thailand. Gerodontology. 2001;18(2):102-8.

48. Sudaduang Krisdapong AS, Georgios Tsakos. Oral health-related quality of life of 12- and 15-year-old Thai children: findings from a national survey. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2009:509–17.

49. Gherunpong S, Tsakos G, Sheiham A. The prevalence and severity of oral impacts on daily performances in Thai primary school children. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2004;2(1):57.

50. The Sixth Thailand National Oral Health Survey 2006-2007. Bangkok: Dental Health Devision, Ministry of Public Health; 2008.

51. Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status: Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. Controlled Clinical Trials. 1989;10(4):407-15.

52. Norman GR, Sloan JA, Wyrwich KW. Interpretation of Changes in Healthrelated Quality of Life The Remarkable Universality of Half a Standard Deviation. MEDICAL CARE. 2003;41(5):582-92.

53. Revicki D, Hays RD, Cella D, Sloan J. Recommended methods for determining responsiveness and minimally important differences for patient-reported outcomes. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2008;61(2):102-9.

54. Tsakos G, Bernabé E, D'Aiuto F, Pikhart H, Tonetti M, Sheiham A, et al. Assessing the minimally important difference in the Oral Impact on Daily Performances index in patients treated for periodontitis. Journal of Clinical Periodontology. 2010;37(10):903-9.

55. Schropp L, Wenzel A, Kostopoulos L, Karring T. Bone Healing and Soft Tissue Contour Changes Following Single-Tooth Extraction: A Clinical and Radiographic 12-Month Prospective Study. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 2003;23(4):313-23.

Araújo MG, Lindhe J. Dimensional ridge alterations following tooth extraction.
An experimental study in the dog. Journal of Clinical Periodontology. 2005;32(2):2128.

57. Barone A, Ricci M, Tonelli P, Santini S, Covani U. Tissue changes of extraction sockets in humans: a comparison of spontaneous healing vs. ridge preservation with secondary soft tissue healing. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2012:1-7.

58. Chen ST, Buser D. Clinical and Esthetic Outcomes of Implants Placed in Postextraction Sites. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2009;24:186-217.

59. Chen S, Buser D. ITI Treatment Guide Vol 3: Implants in extraction sockets. Buser D, Wismeijer D, Belser U, editors. Berlin: Quintessence; 2008.

60. Morton D, Chen ST, Martin WC, Levine RA, Buser D. Consensus Statements and Recommended Clinical Procedures Regarding Optimizing Esthetic Outcomes in

Implant Dentistry. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2014 29(Supplement):216-20.

61. Froum SJ, Froum SH, Rosen PS. Successful Management of Peri-Implantitis with a Regenerative Approach: A Consecutive Series of 51 Treated Implants with 3- to 7.5-Year Follow-up. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 2012;32(1):10-20.

62. Roos-Jansåker A-M, Lindahl C, Persson GR, Renvert S. Long-term stability of surgical bone regenerative procedures of peri-implantitis lesions in a prospective case–control study over 3 years. Journal of Clinical Periodontology. 2011;38(6):590-7.

63. Hwang D, Sonick M. Guided bone regeneration: Concepts and materials. In: Sonick M, Hwang D, editors. Implant Site Development: Wiley-Blackwell; 2012.

64. Shirota T, Ohno K, Michi K-I, Tachikawa T. An experimental study of healing around hydroxylapatite implants installed with autogenous iliac bone grafts for jaw reconstruction. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 1991;49(12):1310-5.

65. Schwartz-Arad D, Levin L, Sigal L. Surgical Success of Intraoral Autogenous Block Onlay Bone Grafting for Alveolar Ridge Augmentation. Implant Dent. 2005;14(2):131-8.

66. Bell RB, Blakey GH, White RP, Hillebrand DG, Molina A. Staged reconstruction of the severely atrophic mandible with autogenous bone graft and endosteal implants. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2002;60(10):1135-41.

67. Levin L, Nitzan D, Schwartz-Arad D. Success of Dental Implants Placed in Intraoral Block Bone Grafts. J Periodontol. 2007;78:18-21.

68. Verhoeven JW, Cune MS, Terlou M, Zoon MAOW, de Putter C. The combined use of endosteal implants and iliac crest onlay grafts in the severely atrophic mandible: a longitudinal study. International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 1997;26(5):351-7.

69. Verhoeven JW, Ruijter J, Cune MS, Terlou M, Zoon M. Onlay grafts in combination with endosseous implants in severe mandibular atrophy: one year results of a prospective, quantitative radiological study. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2000;11(6):583-94.

70. Matteo Chiapasco PC, Marco Zaniboni. Bone Augmentation Procedures in Implant Dentistry. INT J ORAL MAXILLOFAC IMPLANTS 2009:237–59.

71. Gerry M. Raghoebar LM, Wouter W. I. Kalk, Arjan Vissink. Morbidity of Mandibular Bone Harvesting: A Comparative Study. INT J ORAL MAXILLOFAC IMPLANTS. 2007:359–65.

72. Cordaro L, Torsello F, Tindara Miuccio M, Mirisola di Torresanto V, Eliopoulos D. Mandibular bone harvesting for alveolar reconstruction and implant placement: subjective and objective cross-sectional evaluation of donor and recipient site up to 4 years. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2011;22(11):1320-6.

73. A. Joshi GCK. An investigation of post-operative morbidity following iliac crest graft harvesting. British Dental Journal 2004:167–71.

74. ten Bruggenkate CM, van den Bergh JPA. Maxillary sinus floor elevation: a valuable pre-prosthetic procedure. Periodontology 2000. 1998;17(1):176-82.

75. Bornstein MM, Chappuis V, Von Arx T, Buser D. Performance of dental implants after staged sinus floor elevation procedures: 5-year results of a prospective study in partially edentulous patients. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2008;19(10):1034-43.

76. Del Fabbro M, Rosano G, Taschieri S. Implant survival rates after maxillary sinus augmentation. European Journal of Oral Sciences. 2008;116(6):497-506.

77. Del Fabbro M, Testori T, Francetti L, Weinstein R. Systematic Review of Survival Rates for Implants Placed in the Grafted Maxillary Sinus. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 2004;24(6):564-77.

78. Summers RB. Sinus Floor Elevation with Osteotomes. Journal of Esthetic and Restorative Dentistry. 1998;10(3):164-71.

79. Antonaya-Mira R, Barona-Dorado C, Martínez-Rodríguez N, Cáceres-Madroño E, Martínez-González J-M. Meta-analysis of the increase in height in maxillary sinus elevations with osteotome. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2012;1(17):146-52.

80. Cavicchia F, Bravi F, Petrelli G. Localized Augmentation of the Maxillary Sinus Floor Through a Coronal Approach for the Placement of Implants. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 2001;21(5):474-85.

81. Fermergård R, Åstrand P. Osteotome Sinus Floor Elevation and Simultaneous Placement of Implants – A 1-Year Retrospective Study with Astra Tech Implants. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2008;10(1):62-9.

82. Fermergård R, Åstrand P. Osteotome Sinus Floor Elevation without Bone Grafts – A 3-Year Retrospective Study with Astra Tech Implants. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2012;14(2):198-205.

83. Ferrigno N, Laureti M, Fanali S. Dental implants placement in conjunction with osteotome sinus floor elevation: a 12-year life-table analysis from a prospective study on 588 ITI®implants. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2006;17(2):194-205.

84. Toffler M. Osteotome-Mediated Sinus Floor Elevation: A Clinical Report. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2004;19(2):266-73. 85. Rosen PS, Summers R, Mellado JR, Salkin LM, Shanaman RH, Marks MH. The Bone-Added Osteotome Sinus Floor Elevation Technique: Multicenter Retrospective Report of Consecutively Treated Patients. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 1999;14(6):853-8.

86. Chao Y-L, Chen H-H, Mei C-C, Tu Y-K, Lu H-K. Meta-regression analysis of the initial bone height for predicting implant survival rates of two sinus elevation procedures. Journal of Clinical Periodontology. 2010;37(5):456-65.

87. Ardekian L, Oved-Peleg E, Mactei EE, Peled M. The Clinical Significance of Sinus Membrane Perforation During Augmentation of the Maxillary Sinus. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2006;64(2):277-82.

88. Karabuda C, Arısan V, Hakan Ö. Effects of Sinus Membrane Perforations on the Success of Dental Implants Placed in the Augmented Sinus. Journal of Periodontology. 2006;77(12):1991-7.

89. Bandar Abdulrahman Almaghrabi MNH, Sebastiano Andreana, Mark A. C. Hoeplinger. Treatment of Severe Sinus Infection After Sinus Lift Procedure: A Case Report. Implant Dent 2011:430-3.

90. Doud Galli SK, Lebowitz RA, Giacchi RJ, Glickman R, Jacobs JB. Chronic Sinusitis Complicating Sinus Lift Surgery. American Journal of Rhinology. 2001;15(3):181-6.

91. Manor Y, Mardinger O, Bietlitum I, Nashef A, Nissan J, Chaushu G. Late signs and symptoms of maxillary sinusitis after sinus augmentation. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology. 2010;110(1):e1-e4.

92. Duncan JM, Westwood RM. Ridge Widening for the Thin Maxilla: A Clinical Report. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 1997;12(2):1-9.

93. González-García R, Monje F, Moreno C. Alveolar split osteotomy for the treatment of the severe narrow ridge maxillary atrophy: a modified technique. International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2011;40(1):57-64.

94. Chiapasco M, Ferrini F, Casentini P, Accardi S, Zaniboni M. Dental implants placed in expanded narrow edentulous ridges with the Extension Crest® device. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2006;17(3):265-72.

95. Demarosi F, Leghissa GC, Sardella A, Lodi G, Carrassi A. Localised maxillary ridge expansion with simultaneous implant placement: A case series. British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2009;47(7):535-40.

96. Blus C, Szmukler-Moncler S, Vozza I, Rispoli L, Polastri C. Split-crest and immediate implant placement with ultrasonic bone surgery (piezosurgery): 3-year follow-up of 180 treated implant sites. Quintessence Int. 2010;41:463–9.

97. Sethi A, Kaus T. Maxillary Ridge Expansion with Simultaneous Implant Placement: 5-Year Results of an Ongoing Clinical Study. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2000;15(4):491-9.

98. Clementini M, Morlupi A, Canullo L, Agrestini C, Barlattani A. Success rate of dental implants inserted in horizontal and vertical guided bone regenerated areas: a systematic review. International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2012;41(7):847-52.

99. Buser D, Brägger U, Lang NP, Nyman S. Regeneration and enlargement of jaw bone using guided tissue regeneration. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 1990;1(1):22-32.

100. Buser D, Dula K, Hirt HP, Schenk RK. Lateral ridge augmentation using autografts and barrier membranes: A clinical study with 40 partially edentulous patients. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 1996;54(4):420-32.

101. Urban IA, Jovanovic SA, Lozada JL. Vertical Ridge Augmentation Using Guided Bone Regeneration (GBR) in Three Clinical Scenarios Prior to Implant Placement: A Retrospective Study of 35 Patients 12 to 72 Months After Loading. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2009;24(3):502-10.

102. Pieri F, Corinaldesi G, Fini M, Aldini NN, Giardino R, Marchetti C. Alveolar Ridge Augmentation With Titanium Mesh and a Combination of Autogenous Bone and Anorganic Bovine Bone: A 2-Year Prospective Study. Journal of Periodontology. 2008;79(11):2093-103.

103. Canullo L, Malagnino VA. Vertical Ridge Augmentation Around Implants by e-PTFE Titanium-Reinforced Membrane and Bovine Bone Matrix: A 24- to 54-Month Study of 10 Consecutive Cases. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2008;23(5):858-66.

104. Simion M, Jovanovic SA, Trisi P, Scarano A, Piattelli A. Vertical Ridge Augmentation Around Dental Implants Using a Membrane Technique and Autogenous Bone or Allografts in Humans. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 1998;18(1):8-23.

105. Blanco J, Alonso A, Sanz M. Long-term results and survival rate of implants treated with guided bone regeneration: a 5-year case series prospective study. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2005;16(3):294-301.

106. De Boever AL, De Boever JA. Guided bone regeneration around nonsubmerged implants in narrow alveolar ridges: a prospective long-term clinical study. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2005;16(5):549-56. 107. Tinti C, Parma-Benfenati S. Clinical Classification of Bone Defects Concerning the Placement of Dental Implants. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 2003;23(2):146-55.

108. Simion M, Baldoni M, Rassi P, Zaffe D. A Comparative Study of the Effectiveness of e-PTFE Membranes With and Without Early Exposure During the Healing Period. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 1994;14(2):166-80.

109. Moses O, Pitaru S, Artzi Z, Nemcovsky CE. Healing of dehiscence-type defects in implants placed together with different barrier membranes: a comparative clinical study. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2005;16(2):210-9.

110. Machtei EE. The Effect of Membrane Exposure on the Outcome of Regenerative Procedures in Humans: A Meta-Analysis. Journal of Periodontology. 2001;72(4):512-6.

111. Shanaman RH. A Retrospective Study of 237 Sites Treated Consecutively With Guided Tissue Regeneration. International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry. 1994;14(4):292-301.

112. Lindfors LT, Tervonen EAT, Sándor GKB, Ylikontiola LP. Guided bone regeneration using a titanium-reinforced ePTFE membrane and particulate autogenous bone: the effect of smoking and membrane exposure. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology. 2010;109(6):825-30.

113. Schrott AR, Jimenez M, Hwang J-W, Fiorellini J, Weber H-P. Five-year evaluation of the influence of keratinized mucosa on peri-implant soft-tissue health and stability around implants supporting full-arch mandibular fixed prostheses. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2009;20(10):1170-7.

114. Chung DM, Oh T-J, Shotwell JL, Misch CE, Wang H-L. Significance of Keratinized Mucosa in Maintenance of Dental Implants With Different Surfaces. Journal of Periodontology. 2006;77(8):1410-20.

115. Roccuzzo M, Bunino M, Needleman I, Sanz M. Periodontal plastic surgery for treatment of localized gingival recessions: a systematic review. Journal of Clinical Periodontology. 2002;29:178-94.

116. Studer SP, Lehner C, Bucher A, Schärer P. Soft tissue correction of a singletooth pontic space: A comparative quantitative volume assessment. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2000;83(4):402-11.

117. Wiesner G, Esposito M, Worthington H, Schlee M. Connective tissue grafts for thickening peri-implant tissues at implant placement. One-year results from an

explanatory split-mouth randomised controlled clinical trial. European Journal of Oral Implantology. 2010;3(1):27-35.

118. Griffin TJ, Cheung WS, Zavras AI, Damoulis PD. Postoperative Complications Following Gingival Augmentation Procedures. Journal of Periodontology. 2006;77(12):2070-9.

119. Wessel JR, Tatakis DN. Patient Outcomes Following Subepithelial Connective Tissue Graft and Free Gingival Graft Procedures. Journal of Periodontology. 2008;79(3):425-30.

120. Sclar AG. Strategies for management of single-tooth extraction sites in aesthetic implant therapy. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2004;62, Supplement 2(0):90-105.

121. Garg AK. Bone biology, harvesting, and grafting for dental implants : rationale and clinical applications Quintessence Publishing 2004.

122. Fiorellini JP, Nakajima Y, Weber HP. Osseointegration of Titanium Implants Following Guided Bone Regeneration Using Expanded Polytetrafluoroethylene Membrane and Various Bone Fillers. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2007;27:287-94.

123. Hitti RA, Kerns DG. Guided Bone Regeneration in the Oral Cavity: A Review. The Open Pathology Journal. 2011;5:33-45.

124. Zitzmann NU, Naef R, Schärer P. Resorbable versus nonresorbable membranes in combination with Bio-Oss for guided bone regeneration. The International journal of oral & maxillofacial implants. 1997;12(6):844-52.

125. Wang H-L, Carroll WJ. Guided bone regeneration using bone grafts and collagen membranes. Quintessence Int 2001;32:504-15.

126. Marinucci L, Lilli C, Baroni T, Becchetti E, Belcastro S, Balducci C, et al. In Vitro Comparison of Bioabsorbable and Non-Resorbable Membranes in Bone Regeneration. Journal of Periodontology. 2001;72(6):753-9.

127. Juodzbalys G, Raustia AM, Kubilius R. A 5-year follow-up study on one-stage implants inserted concomitantly with localized alveolar ridge augmentation. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 2007;34(10):781-9.

128. Lee D-w, Kim K-t, Joo Y-s, Yu M-K, Yu J-a, Ryu J-j. The role of two different collagen membranes for dehiscence defect around implants in humans. Journal of Oral Implantology. 2013:Article in Press.

129. Jung RE, Fenner N, Hämmerle CHF, Zitzmann NU. Long-term outcome of implants placed with guided bone regeneration (GBR) using resorbable and non-

resorbable membranes after 12–14 years. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2013;24(10):1065-73.

130. Jung RE, Benic GI, Scherrer D, Hämmerle CHF. Cone beam computed tomography evaluation of regenerated buccal bone 5 years after simultaneous implant placement and guided bone regeneration procedures - a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2013;Article in Press.

131. Schneider D, Weber FE, Grunder U, Andreoni C, Burkhardt R, Jung RE. A randomized controlled clinical multicenter trial comparing the clinical and histological performance of a new, modified polylactide-co-glycolide acid membrane to an expanded polytetrafluorethylene membrane in guided bone regeneration procedures. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2014;25(2):150-8.

132. McAllister BS, Haghighat K. Bone Augmentation Techniques. Journal of Periodontology. 2007;78(3):377-96.

133. Hassan KS, Kassim A, Ogaly A-URA. A comparative evaluation of immediate dental implant with autogenous versus synthetic guided bone regeneration. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology. 2008;106(5):e8-e15.

134. Widmark G, Ivanoff C-J. Augmentation of Exposed Implant Threads with Autogenous Bone Chips: Prospective Clinical Study. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2000;2(4):178-83.

135. von Arx T, Kurt B. Implant placement and simultaneous ridge augmentation using autogenous bone and a micro titanium mesh: a prospective clinical study with 20 implants. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 1999;10(1):24-33.

136. Sang-Hoon P, Kwang-won L, Tae-Ju O, Misch CE, Shotwell J, Hom-Lay W. Effect of absorbable membranes on sandwich bone augmentation. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2008;19(1):32-41.

137. Fu J-H, Oh T-J, Benavides E, Rudek I, Wang H-L. A randomized clinical trial evaluating the efficacy of the sandwich bone augmentation technique in increasing buccal bone thickness during implant placement surgery. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2014;25(4):458-67.

138. Schwarz F, Herten M, Ferrari D, Wieland M, Schmitz L, Engelhardt E, et al. Guided bone regeneration at dehiscence-type defects using biphasic hydroxyapatite+beta tricalcium phosphate (Bone Ceramic®) or a collagen-coated natural bone mineral (BioOss Collagen®): an immunohistochemical study in dogs. International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2007;36(12):1198-206. 139. Van Assche N, Michels S, Naert I, Quirynen M. Randomized Controlled Trial to Compare Two Bone Substitutes in the Treatment of Bony Dehiscences. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2013;15(4):558-68.

140. Stabholz A, Peretz B. Dental anxiety among patients prior to different dental treatments. International Dental Journal. 1999;49(2):90-4.

141. Muglali M, Komerik N. Factors Related to Patients' Anxiety Before and After Oral Surgery. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2008;66(5):870-7.

142. Kim S, Lee Y-J, Lee S, Moon H-S, Chung M-K. Assessment of pain and anxiety following surgical placement of dental implants. The International journal of oral & maxillofacial implants. 2013;28(2):531-5.

143. Tan WC, Ong M, Han J, Mattheos N, Pjetursson BE, Tsai AY-M, et al. Effect of systemic antibiotics on clinical and patient-reported outcomes of implant therapy – a multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2014;25(2):185-93.
144. Saintrain MVdL, Souza EHAd. Impact of tooth loss on the quality of life. Gerodontology 2012:e632–e6.

145. Heydecke G, Locker D, Awad MA, Lund JP, Fein JS. Oral and general healthrelated quality of life with conventional and implant dentures. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2003;31:161–8.

146. Thomason JM, Heydecke G, Feine JS, Ellis JS. How do patients perceive the benefit of reconstructive dentistry with regard to oral health-related quality of life and patient satisfaction? A systematic review. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2007;18 (Suppl. 3):168–88.

147. Gibbard LL, Zarb G. A 5-Year Prospective Study of Implant-Supported Single-Tooth Replacements. J Can Dent Assoc. 2002;68(2):110-6.

148. Schropp L, Isidor F. Clinical Outcome and Patient Satisfaction Following Full-Flap Elevation for Early and Delayed Placement of Single-Tooth Implants: A 5-year Randomized Study. International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants. 2008;23(4):733-43.

149. Furuyama C, Takaba M, Inukai M, Mulligan R, Igarashi Y, Baba K. Oral healthrelated quality of life in patients treated by implant-supported fixed dentures and removable partial dentures. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2012;23(8):958-62.

150. Locker D. Patient-Based Assessment of the Outcomes of Implant Therapy: A Review of the Literature. International Journal of Prosthodontics. 1998;11(5):453-61.

151. Albrektsson T, Blomberg S, BrÅNemark A, Carlsson GE. Edentulousness—an oral handicap. Patient reactions to treatment with jawbone-anchored prostheses. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation. 1987;14(6):503-11.

152. Cibirka RM, Razzoog M, Lang BR. Critical evaluation of patient responses to dental implant therapy. The Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 1997;78(6):574-81.

153. Awad MA, Lund JP, Dufresne E, Feine JS. Comparing the Efficacy of Mandibular Implant-Retained Overdentures and Conventional Dentures Among Middle-Aged Edentulous Patients: Satisfaction and Functional Assessment. International Journal of Prosthodontics. 2003;16(2):117-22.

154. Thomason JM, Lund JP, Chehade A, Feine JS. Patient Satisfaction with Mandibular Implant Overdentures and Conventional Dentures 6 Months After Delivery. International Journal of Prosthodontics. 2003;16(5):467-73.

155. Preciado A, Del Río J, Suárez-García M-J, Montero J, Lynch CD, Castillo-Oyagüe R. Differences in impact of patient and prosthetic characteristics on oral healthrelated quality of life among implant-retained overdenture wearers. Journal of Dentistry. 2012;40(10):857-65.

156. Allen PF, Thomason JM, Jepson NJA, Nohl F, Smith DG, Ellis J. A Randomized Controlled Trial of Implant-retained Mandibular Overdentures. Journal of Dental Research. 2006;85(6):547-51.

157. Allen PF, McMillan AS. A longitudinal study of quality of life outcomes in older adults requesting implant prostheses and complete removable dentures. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2003;14(2):173-9.

158. Awad MA, Lund JP, Shapiro SH, Locker D, Klemetti E, Chehade A, et al. Oral Health Status and Treatment Satisfaction with Mandibular Implant Overdentures and Conventional Dentures: A Randomized Clinical Trial in a Senior Population. International Journal of Prosthodontics. 2003;16(4):390-6.

159. Andersson L. Patient self-evaluation of intra-oral bone grafting treatment to the maxillary frontal region. Dental Traumatology 2008:164-9.

160. Emeka Nkenke MR-T, Jörg Wiltfang, Stefan Schultze-Mosgau, Gerhard Winkler, Friedrich Wilhelm, Neukam. Morbidity of harvesting of retromolar bone grafts: a prospective study. Clin Oral Impl Res 2002:514–21.

161. Daniel R. Reissmann BrD, Michael Vogeler, Rainer Schmelzeisen, Guido Heydecke. Impact of donor site for bone graft harvesting for dental implants on health-related and oral health-related quality of life. Clin Oral Impl Res. 2012:1–8.

162. Baracat LF, Teixeira AM, dos Santos MBF, da Cunha VdPP, Marchini L. Patients' Expectations Before and Evaluation After Dental Implant Therapy. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2011;13(2):141-5.

163. Nickenig H-J, Wichmann M, Andreas S, Eitner S. Oral health-related quality of life in partially edentulous patients: assessments before and after implant therapy. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2008;36(8):477 - 80.

164. Fillion M, Aubazac D, Bessadet M, Allegre M, Nicolas E. The impact of implant treatment on oral health related quality of life in a private dental practice: a prospective cohort study. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2013;11(1):197.

165. Kriz Pavel MS, Tatjana Dostalova, Valenta Zdenek, Karel Chleborad, Zvarova Jana, Jitka Feberova, Hippmann Radek. Dental implants and improvement of oral health-related quality of life. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2012:66–71.

166. Goiato MC, Torcato LB, dos Santos DM, Moreno A, Antenucci RMF, de Carvalho Dekon SF. Quality of life and satisfaction of patients wearing implantsupported fixed partial denture: a cross-sectional survey of patients from Araçatuba city, Brazil. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2014:n/a-n/a.

167. Dolz J, Silverstre FJ, Montero J. Changes in general and oral health-related quality of life in immediate or conventionally loaded dental implants: a nonrandomized clinical trial. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2014;29(2):391-401.

168. Bramanti E, Matacena G, Cecchetti F, Arcuri C, Cicciu M. Oral health-related quality of life in partially edentulous patients before and after implant therapy: a 2-year longitudinal study. Oral & Implantology. 2013;6(2):37-42.

169. Raes F, Cooper LF, Tarrida LG, Vandromme H, De Bruyn H. A case-control study assessing oral-health-related quality of life after immediately loaded single implants in healed alveolar ridges or extraction sockets. Clinical Oral Implants Research. 2012;23(5):602-8.

170. Raes F, Cosyn J, De Bruyn H. Clinical, Aesthetic, and Patient-Related Outcome of Immediately Loaded Single Implants in the Anterior Maxilla: A Prospective Study in Extraction Sockets, Healed Ridges, and Grafted Sites. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2013;15(6):819-35.

171. Al-Omiri MK, Hammad OA, Lynch E, Lamey PJ, Clifford TJ. Impacts of implant treatment on daily living. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2011;26(4):877-86.

172. Hof M, Pommer B, Ambros H, Jesch P, Vogl S, Zechner W. Does Timing of Implant Placement Affect Implant Therapy Outcome in the Aesthetic Zone? A Clinical, Radiological, Aesthetic, and Patient-Based Evaluation. Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research. 2014:n/a-n/a.

173. Kamper SJ, Maher CG, Mackay G. Global Rating of Change Scales: A Review of Strengths and Weaknesses and Considerations for Design. J Man Manip Ther. 2009;17(3):163–70.

174. Cohen J. CHAPTER 1 - The Concepts of Power Analysis. In: Cohen J, editor. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (Revised Edition): Academic Press; 1977. p. 1-17.

175. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Ferrie PJ, Griffith LE. Measuring Quality of Life in Asthma. American Review of Respiratory Disease. 1993;147(4):832-8.

176. Locker D, Jokovic A, Clarke M. Assessing the responsiveness of measures of oral health-related quality of life. Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology. 2004;32(1):10-8.

177. Walton JN, MacEntee MI. Choosing or refusing oral implants: A prospective study of edentulous volunteers for a clinical trial. International Journal of Prosthodontics. 2005;18(6):483-8.

178. Negreiros RM, Biazevic MGH, Jorge WA, Michel-Crosato E. Relationship Between Oral Health-Related Quality of Life and the Position of the Lower Third Molar: Postoperative Follow-Up. Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. 2012;70(4):779-86.

179. McGrath C, Comfort MB, Lo ECM, Luo Y. Changes in life quality following third molar surgery - the immediate postoperative period. Br Dent J. 2003;194(5):265-8.

180. Peršić S, Čelebić A. Influence of different prosthodontic rehabilitation options on oral health-related quality of life, orofacial esthetics and chewing function based on patient-reported outcomes. Quality of Life Research. 2014:1-8.

181. Terwee CB, Dekker FW, Wiersinga WM, Prummel MF, Bossuyt PMM. On assessing responsiveness of health-related quality of life instruments: Guidelines for instrument evaluation. Quality of Life Research. 2003;12(4):349-62.

APPENDICES

Appendix A Data recorded form

		Resea	rch ID			
Data Recorded Form						
The oral health-r	elated quality o	f life in patients u	ndergoing			
surgical implant placement simultaneously with guided bone						
	regenerat	tion				
Part I Socio-demographic	Data					
Gender OMale		OFemale				
Age years (Birth Date//)						
Education Level						
O ประถมศึกษา	O ปวช./ปวส.	O ปริญญาตรี				
O ปริญญาโท	O ปริญญาเอก Oอื่นๆ					
Occupation						
O นักเรียน/นักศึกษา	O ข้าราชการ/พนักงานรัฐวิสาหกิจ		O พนักงาน/			
ลูกจ้างเอกชน						
O ค้าขาย/ธุรกิจส่วนตัว	ู่ O แม่บ้าน/ไม่ได้ประกอบอาชีพ O อื่น ๆ					

Chulalongkorn University

Medical History

L. Systemic Disease	2. Current Medication	3. Drug Allergy
1.	1.	1.
2.	2.	2.
3.	3.	3.
4.	4.	4.
5.	5.	5.


Data related to surgical implant placement											
8 7 6 5	4321	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8									
8 7 6 5	4321	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8									
Implant Fixture											
Tooth Manufacturer	Diame	eter mm. Length mm.									
\square Bone level \square Tissue level											
Operator											
OFxperienced Oral and N	Maxillofacial surge	≏on									
O Post-graduatedstudent											
Residual ridge size											
O Residual ridge height	ORe	sidual ridge width									
O More than 8 m	O More than 8 mm.										
O During 5-8 mm.		O During 2-4 mm.									
OLess than 5 mm	ı.	OLess than 2 mm.									
O Defect											
O Dehiscence size	e	• OFenestration size									
O Inappropriate alveolar	bone contour										
Ridge augmentation											
O No need for ridge augr	mentation										
O Guided bone Regenera	tion										
Graft Material 🛛	Autogenous bone	e 🛛 🖾 Allogenic bone									
	Alloplastic graft	□Xenograft									
□ None											
Graft material trade name particle/block size											
Membrane Type	□Resorbabl	.e									
	🗆 Non- Res	orbable									
Overall operation time	minut	es									

Staged Approach

O One-stage approach	O Two-stage approach
Post-operative medication(s)	
OAntibiotics	
□ Medication	
□ Medication	
OAnalgesics	
□ Medication	
□ Medication	
OOthers	
□ Medication	
□ Medication	

Research ID

TimingOPre-op O2 wk POD O1 mo POD O3 mo POD O3 mo post-prosthesis Part II Oral Impact on Daily Performance (OIDP)

How about your general oral health?.....

Daily Performance	Frequency	Severity	Perceived cause	Score
Eating				
Speaking				
Cleaning teeth and denture				
Sleeping				
Maintain emotional state				
Smiling		12		
Contact with people				
Working or studying	11			

Global transition rating



Note; Frequency and severity criteria

Case	Fred	quency	Coverity
score	Regular pattern	Spell pattern	Severity
0	Never affected	0 days	No severe
1	Less than once a month	Up to 5 days in total	
2	Once or twice a month	Up to 15 days in total	
3	Once or twice a week	Up to 30 days in total	
4	3-4 times a week	Up to 3 months in total	
5	Every or nearly every day	Over 3 months in total	Very severe

		Pre	e-opera	tive pe	erforma	nce sc	ore		2 weeks post-surgical performance sc							
No.	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working
1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	15	0
2	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	0	5	0	0	25	6	0
3	15	0	10	0	2	0	1	0	20	0	15	0	1	6	20	0
4	15	4	0	0	0	10	0	0	20	4	6	12	4	2	0	0
5	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	10	0	0	0	0	0
6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	2	15	0	0	0	0	0
7	15	6	0	0	0	6	0	0	15	0	2	0	0	6	0	0
8	15	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	20	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
9	0	0	0	0	6	6	0	0	4	0	5	2	0	2	1	1
10	3	0	0	0	0 🚽	0	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
11	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	3	0	0	0	0	0
13	25	25	0	0	0	6	20	0	25	25	0	0	0	6	20	0
14	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	5	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix B OIDP performance score and global transition rating of patients in study group

		1 mont	th post	-surgica	al perfo	ormanc	e score	9	3 months post-surgical performance score							
No.	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working
1	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
2	15	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	10	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	15	0	0	0	1	6	2	0	15	0	0	0	1	6	2	0
4	15	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	4	0	0	0	0	0	0
5	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7	15	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	6	0	0
8	15	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
9	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0
10	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
11	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
13	25	25	0	0	0	6	20	0	25	25	0	0	0	6	20	0
14	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Post	-prostł	nesis p	erform	ance s	core		
No.	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working	Global Transition Rating
1	25	0	25	0	9	0	3	0	-5
2	25	0	20	0	0	0	0	0	-3
3	5	0	15	0	1	0	0	0	3
4	5	0	5	3	0	0	0	0	4
5	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	4
6	2	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	-1
7	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
8	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
9	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
10	0	0 -	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
11	0	0 -	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
12	0	0 /	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

		Pre	e-opera	tive pe	erforma	nce sc	ore		2 weeks post-surgical performance score						1	
No.	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working
1	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
3	2	0	0	0	0	15	0	0	9	6	5	0	0	15	0	0
4	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
5	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
6	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
7	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	8	0	0	0	0	0
8	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
9	20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	0	5	2	2	0	0	0
10	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
11	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	3	0	0	0	0	0
12	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	8	0	8	6	0	0
13	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
14	25	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
15	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
16	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
17	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
18	5	0	20	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	25	0	0	0	0	0
19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	3	2	0	0	0	0
20	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
21	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
22	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
23	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
24	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
25	10	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	2	0	0	0	0	0	0
26	10	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	15	0	20	0	0	15	0	0
27	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
30	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	3	1	0	0	0	1
31	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	3	0	0	0	0	0
32	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
33	20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
34	25	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	25	15	0	0	0	0	0	0
35	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0
36	0	0	0	15	0	15	0	0	0	0	5	15	0	15	0	0
37	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
38	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix C OIDP performance score and global transition rating of patients in comparison group

	1 month post-surgical performance score								3 months post-surgical performance score							
No.	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working
1	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3	2	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
5	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
6	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
8	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
9	20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
11	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
12	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
13	5	0	0	0	0 🚽	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
14	25	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
15	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
16	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
17	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
18	5	0	20	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	20	0	0	0	0	0
19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
20	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
21	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
22	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
23	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
24	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
25	10	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	2	0	0	0	0	0	0
26	10	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	6	0	0
27	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
30	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
31	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
32	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
33	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
34	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
35	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
36	0	0	0	15	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	15	0	15	0	0
37	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
38	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

No.	Eating	Speaking	Cleaning	Sleeping	Emotion	Smiling	Contact	Working	Global Transition Rating
1	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-2
3	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	4
4	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
5	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	5
6	5	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	-1
7	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
8	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
9	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
10	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
11	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	3
12	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	4
13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3
16	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
17	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
21	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
22	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
23	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
26	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
27	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
31	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
32	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
34	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
35	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5
37	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
38	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5

			Statistic	Std. Error
Pre-op	Mean		9.0357	2.62985
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	3.3543	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	14.7172	
	5% Trimmed Mean		7.9286	
	Median		6.7500	
	Variance		96.826	
	Std. Deviation		9.84000	
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		38.00	
	Range		38.00	
	Interquartile Range		11.38	
	Skewness		2.087	.597
	Kurtosis		5.641	1.154
2 wks PO	Mean		16.7143	2.79064
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	10.6855	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	22.7431	
	5% Trimmed Mean		16.2937	
	Median		13.7500	
	Variance		109.027	
	Std. Deviation		10.44162	
	Minimum		3.00	
	Maximum		38.00	
	Range		35.00	
	Interquartile Range		17.50	
	Skewness		.663	.597
	Kurtosis		379	1.154
1 mo PO	Mean		8.9643	2.53138
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	3.4956	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	14.4330	
	5% Trimmed Mean		7.8492	
	Median		7.2500	
	Variance		89.710	
	Std. Deviation		9.47155	
	Minimum		.00	

Appendix D Descriptive statistics details of OIDP overall score in study group patients

			Statistic	Std. Error
	Maximum		38.00	
	Range		38.00	
	Interquartile Range		9.25	
	Skewness		2.375	.597
	Kurtosis		7.227	1.154
3 mo PO	Mean		8.9643	2.53138
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	3.4956	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	14.4330	
	5% Trimmed Mean		7.8492	
	Median		7.2500	
	Variance		89.710	
	Std. Deviation		9.47155	
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		38.00	
	Range		38.00	
	Interquartile Range		9.25	
	Skewness		2.375	.597
	Kurtosis		7.227	1.154
Post-prosthesis	Mean		6.1071	2.51325
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	.6776	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	11.5367	
	5% Trimmed Mean		5.0635	
	Median		2.5000	
	Variance		88.430	
	Std. Deviation		9.40372	
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		31.00	
	Range		31.00	
	Interquartile Range		7.50	
	Skewness		2.004	.597
	Kurtosis		3.426	1.154

			Statistic	Std. Error
Pre-op	Mean		5.3553	.79693
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	3.7405	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	6.9700	
	5% Trimmed Mean		5.0439	
	Median		2.5000	
	Variance		24.134	
	Std. Deviation		4.91263	
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		17.50	
	Range		17.50	
	Interquartile Range		6.38	
	Skewness		.865	.383
	Kurtosis		382	.750
2 wks PO	Mean		8.9605	.96330
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	7.0087	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	10.9124	
	5% Trimmed Mean		8.5599	
	Median		7.0000	
	Variance		35.262	
	Std. Deviation		5.93817	
	Minimum		2.50	
	Maximum		25.00	
	Range		22.50	
	Interquartile Range		10.63	
	Skewness		.789	.383
	Kurtosis		241	.750
1 mo PO	Mean		5.3421	.74246
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	3.8377	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	6.8465	
	5% Trimmed Mean		5.1418	
	Median		2.5000	
	Variance		20.947	
	Std. Deviation		4.57683	

Appendix E Descriptive statistics details of OIDP overall score in comparison group patients

			Statistic	Std. Error
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		15.00	
	Range		15.00	
	Interquartile Range		6.00	
	Skewness		.796	.383
	Kurtosis		768	.750
3 mo PO	Mean		5.1447	.76250
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	3.5998	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	6.6897	
	5% Trimmed Mean		4.9225	
	Median		2.5000	
	Variance		22.093	
	Std. Deviation		4.70036	
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		15.00	
	Range		15.00	
	Interquartile Range		6.00	
	Skewness		.806	.383
	Kurtosis		806	.750
Post-prosthesis	Mean		1.7237	.52352
	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	.6629	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	2.7844	
	5% Trimmed Mean		1.2865	
	Median		.0000	
	Variance		10.415	
	Std. Deviation		3.22720	
	Minimum		.00	
	Maximum		12.50	
	Range		12.50	
	Interquartile Range		2.50	
	Skewness		1.982	.383
	Kurtosis		3.182	.750

Post-prosthesis (n) 3 mo PO (n) Extent Pre-op (n) 2 wks PO (n) 1 mo PO (n) 0 2.0 0.0 2.0 2.0 5.0 1-2 8.0 6.0 10.0 10.0 6.0 3-5 4.0 2.0 3.0 6.0 2.0 6-8 0.0 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Appendix F Frequency distribution of OIDP extent and intensity

Intensity	Pre-op (n)	2 wks PO (n)	1 mo PO (n)	3 mo PO (n)	Post-prosthesis (n)
No	2.0	0.0	2.0	2.0	5.0
Little	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.0	6.0
Moderate	2.0	0.0	2.0	2.0	0.0
Severe	7.0	11.0	7.0	7.0	3.0

Study group (n=14)

Comparison group (n=38)

Extent	Pre-op (n)	2 wks PO (n)	1 mo PO (n)	3 mo PO (n)	Post-prosthesis (n)
0	6.0	0.0	4.0	tSITY 5.0	26.0
1-2	32.0	31.0	34.0	33.0	12.0
3-5	0.0	7.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
6-8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Intensity	Pre-op (n)	2 wks PO (n)	1 mo PO (n)	3 mo PO (n)	Post-prosthesis (n)
No	6.0	0	4.0	5.0	26.0
Little	15.0	15	18.0	17.0	6.0
Moderate	5.0	7.0	5.0	5.0	1.0
Severe	12.0	16.0	11.0	11.0	5.0

Creation	Time point assessed					
Group	Pre-op	2 wks PO	1 mo PO	3 mo PO	post-prosthesis	<i>p</i> -value
All						< 0.001***
						<0.001*
						0.855
						0.549
						<0.001*
						<0.001*
						<0.001*
						<0.001*
						0.083
						<0.001*
			S 1111100			<0.001*
Study						< 0.001***
						0.002
						0.812
						0.812
						0.255
				I		0.002*
						0.002*
						0.011*
						1.000
						0.272
						0.272
Comparison						< 0.001***
						<0.001*
				3		1.000
		ิจุฬาลงก	เรณมหาวา			0.498
		CHILLAL ON	IGKORN III	IVERSITY		<0.001*
						<0.001*
						<0.001*
						<0.001*
						0.083
						<0.001*
						<0.001*

Appendix G The *p*-value of within-group comparison for overall score

** : Statistical significant at 95% confident interval by Friedman Test

 \ast : Statistical significant at 95% confident interval by Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Appendix H The statistical analysis for across-group on OIDP overall score comparison

		Ranks		
	Group	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
	GBR	14	30.57	428.00
Pre-op	Non-GBR	38	25.00	950.00
	Total	52		
	GBR	14	35.43	496.00
2 wks PO	Non-GBR	38	23.21	882.00
	Total	52		
	GBR	14	30.96	433.50
1 mo PO	Non-GBR	38	24.86	944.50
	Total	52	x @	
	GBR	14	31.43	440.00
3 mo PO	Non-GBR	38	24.68	938.00
	Total	52	9	
Post-	GBR	14	33.21	465.00
	Non-GBR	38	24.03	913.00
prostriesis	Total	52		

Test Statistics

	Pre-op	2 wks PO	1 mo PO	3 mo PO	Post-prosthesis
Mann-Whitney U	209.000	141.000	203.500	197.000	172.000
Wilcoxon W	950.000	882.000	944.500	938.000	913.000
Z	-1.193	-2.586	-1.310	-1.446	-2.186
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	.233	.010	.190	.148	.029

	A	AU	stu	ıdy	compa	rison
Performanc es	Post-surgical change	Post- prosthesis change	Post-surgical change	Post- prosthesis change	Post-surgical change	Post- prosthesis change
Eating						
<i>p</i> -value	0.003 [*]	<0.001 *	0.007 [*]	0.097	0.001 *	<0.001 *
Speaking						
<i>p</i> -value	0.769	0.556	0.655	0.109	0.180	0.317
Cleaning						
<i>p</i> -value	<0.001	0.303	0.002*	0.024	<0.001 *	0.593
Sleeping						
<i>p</i> -value	0.433	0.961	0.180	0.317	0.102	0.317
Maintaining er	motion					
<i>p</i> -value	0.500	0.715	0.593	0.715	0.180	1.000
Smiling						
<i>p</i> -value	0.310	0.011	0.893	0.039 [*]	0.180	0.102
Contacting				>		
<i>p</i> -value	0.068	0.593	0.068	0.593	1.000	1.000
Working						
<i>p</i> -value	0.157	1.000	0.371	1.000	0.317	1.000

Appendix I The *p*-value of within-group comparison for OIDP performance score

* : Statistical significant at 95% confident interval Statistical analysis by Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Appendix J Calculation methods for distribution-based MID

Prerequisite	information
--------------	-------------

Mean post-surgical change score (Std. deviation)	= 4.7 (5.5)
Mean post-prosthesis change score (Std. deviation)	= -3.4 (8.5)
Standard deviation of baseline score	= 6.7
The internal reliability as Cronbach's Alpha (analyzed through SPSS.)	= 0.879

Method	Formula	Calculation
Effect Size (ES)	Mean changed score	For post-surgical change $ES = rac{4.7}{6.7} = 0.7$
	SD of the baseline score	For post-prosthesis change $ES = rac{3.4}{6.7} = 0.5$
Standardized Response		For post-surgical change
Mean (SRM)	Mean changed score	$SRM = \frac{4.7}{5.5} = 0.8$
	SD of the changed score	For post-prosthesis change $SRM = \frac{3.4}{8.5} = 0.4$
Standard Error of	A STATISTICS	
Measurement (SEM)	SD of the baseline score $\times \sqrt{1-\alpha}$	$SEM = 6.7 \times \sqrt{1 - 0.879}$ = 2.3
Norman's rule of thumb	SD of the baseline score	W Norman's value $=$ $\frac{6.7}{2}$ = 3.4

Variables		Post-surgio	al change	Post-prosthesis change		
		Meaningless (n)	Meaningful (n)	Meaningless (n)	Meaningful (n)	
Age	Under 45 yrs.	5	6	6	5	
	46-59 yrs.	17	7	14	10	
	More than 60 yrs.	6	11	12	5	
Gender	Male	13	9	18	4	
	Female	15	15	14	16	
Education	Under university	4	4	5	3	
level	University or above	24	20	27	17	
Systemic	Absent	15	12	18	9	
disease	Present	13	12	14	11	
Denture	Ever	7	8	5	10	
experience	Never	21	16	27	10	
Implant	Ever	4	6	6	4	
experience	Never	24	18	26	16	
Study's	Study	5	9	7	7	
group	Comparison	23	15	25	13	
Amount of	Single 🧷	26	16	26	16	
placed implant	Multiple	2	8	6	4	
Implant	Anterior	2	1	0	3	
position	Posterior	26	23	32	17	
Implant	Maxilla	8 9 9 9	เกลีย _ั	6	9	
location	Mandible	20	17	26	11	
Placement	Early	13	8	13	8	
timing	Delay	15	16	19	12	
Surgeon	Student	12	11	N/A	N/A	
	Staff	16	13	N/A	N/A	
Prosthodontist	Student	N/A	N/A	11	7	
	Staff	N/A	N/A	21	13	

Appendix K Frequency distribution on meaningful/meaningless change for each interested variables

Appendix L Statistical analysis related to OIDP responsiveness assessment

		Post-prosthesis change	Global Transition Rating
	Pearson Correlation	1	614**
Post-prosthesis change	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000
	Ν	52	52
Global	Pearson Correlation	614**	1
Transition	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	
Rating	N	52	52
** Correlation is significant	at the 0.01 level (2-tailed	d).	

Pearson's correlation between post-surgical change score and global transition rating

Post-prosthesis OIDP changed score comparison according to global transition rating

	Global rating	Ν	Mean Rank
Post-prosthesis	-5	1	52.00
OIDP score change	-3	1	51.00
	-2	1	50.00
	-1	2	48.50
	0	4	25.13
		1	42.00
	2	2	42.00
	3	3	28.67
	4	16	23.97
	5	21	20.57
	Total	52	

Test Statistics ^{a,b}					
	Post-prosthesis change				
Chi-Square	19.294				
df	9				
Asymp. Sig.	.023				
a. Kruskal Wallis Test					
b. Grouping Variable: T4Global					

Frequency distribution of the OIDP intensity change level according to global transition rating

		Level of intensity change									
		-5.00	-4.00	-3.00	-2.00	-1.00	.00	1.00	2.00	3.00	Total
	-5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
	-3	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
bug	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
ı Rati	-1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	2
sitior	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	4
Tran:	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Ipal	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2
Glo	3	0	0	0	1	0	2	0	0	0	3
	4	1	0	3	6	1	5	0	0	0	16
	5	5	2	0	8	3	3	0	0	0	21
Tot	tal	6	2	4	16	5	15	1	2	1	52

Symmetric Measures

		Value	Asymp. Std. Error	Approx. T	Approx. Sig.
Interval by	Depress's D	E02	004	E 104	000 ^c
Interval	Pearson's R	592	.094	-5.194	.000
Ordinal by		500		1.007	a a a c
Ordinal	Spearman Correlation	523	iทยาลัย ^{.114}	-4.337	.000
N of Valid Cases	CHULALONG	52	NIVERSITY		

Appendix M Consent form (Thai language)

เอกสารยินยอมเข้าร่วมการวิจัย (Consent Form)

การวิจัยเรื่อง คุณภาพชีวิตในมิติสุขภาพช่องปากของผู้ป่วยที่เข้ารับการผ่าตัดฝังรากฟันเทียมร่วมกับ การปลูกกระดูก

"ข้าพเจ้า (นาย, นาง, นางสา	າວ)	
อยู่บ้านเลขที่	ถนน	ตำบล/แขวง
อำเภอ/เขต	จังหวัด	รหัสไปรษณีย์

ก่อนที่จะลงนามในใบยินยอมให้ทำการวิจัยนี้ ข้าพเจ้าได้รับเอกสารข้อมูลคำอธิบายสำหรับ อาสาสมัครที่เข้าร่วมในการวิจัยแล้ว 1 ฉบับ รวมทั้งได้รับการอธิบายจากผู้วิจัยถึงวัตถุประสงค์ของ การวิจัย วิธีการทำวิจัย อันตรายหรืออาการที่อาจเกิดขึ้นจากการทำวิจัยหรือจากยาที่ใช้ รวมทั้ง ประโยชน์ที่จะเกิดขึ้นจากการวิจัยอย่างละเอียด และมีความเข้าใจดีแล้ว

ผู้วิจัยรับรองว่าจะตอบคำถามต่าง ๆ ที่ข้าพเจ้าสงสัยด้วยความเต็มใจไม่ปิดบังซ่อนเร้นจน ข้าพเจ้าพอใจ

ข้าพเจ้าเข้าร่วมโครงการวิจัยนี้โดยสมัครใจ ข้าพเจ้ามีสิทธิที่จะบอกเลิกการเข้าร่วมใน โครงการวิจัยนี้เมื่อใดก็ได้และการบอกเลิกการเข้าร่วมการวิจัยนี้จะไม่มีผลต่อการรักษาโรคที่ข้าพเจ้า จะพึงได้รับต่อไป

ผู้วิจัยรับรองว่าจะเก็บข้อมูลเฉพาะเกี่ยวกับตัวข้าพเจ้าเป็นความลับ และจะเปิดเผยได้ เฉพาะในรูปที่เป็นสรุปผลการวิจัย การเปิดเผยข้อมูลเกี่ยวกับตัวข้าพเจ้าต่อหน่วยงานต่าง ๆ ที่ เกี่ยวข้องกระทำได้เฉพาะกรณีจำเป็น ด้วยเหตุผลทางวิชาการเท่านั้น และผู้วิจัยรับรองว่าหากเกิด อันตรายใด ๆ จากการวิจัยดังกล่าว ข้าพเจ้าจะได้รับการรักษาพยาบาลโดยไม่คิดมูลค่า

ข้าพเจ้าได้อ่านเอกสารและข้อความข้างต้นแล้ว มีความเข้าใจดีทุกประการ และได้ลงนาม ในใบยินยอมนี้ด้วยความเต็มใจ

เข้าร่วมวิจัย อย่างละ 1 ฉบับ เป็นที่เรียบ	มร้อยแล้ว	
ลงนาม		ผู้ยินยอม
()
วันที่	เดือน	พ.ศ
ลงนาม		พยาน
()
วันที่	เดือน	พ.ศ
ลงนาม	(นายสุชาติ เขม้	ผู้วิจัยหลัก นเขตรการ)
วันที่	เดือน	
ข้าพเจ้าไม่สามารถอ่านหนังสือไ จนเข้าใจดีแล้ว ข้าพเจ้าจึงลงนาม หรือเ	.ด้ แต่ผู้วิจัยได้อ่านข้ ประทับลายนิ้วหัวแม่:	้ อความในใบยินยอมนี้ให้แก่ข้าพเจ้าฟัง มือขวาของข้าพเจ้าในใบยินยอมนี้ด้วย
ความเต็มใจ CHULALON		
ลงนาม		ผู้ยืนยอม
()

วันที่.....พ.ศ.....

ลงนาม.....พยาน

(.....)

วันที่.....พ.ศ.....

้ข้าพเจ้าได้รับสำเนาเอกสารใบยินยอมที่ข้าพเจ้าลงนามและลงวันที่ และเอกสารยกเลิกการ

152

ลงนาม.....ผู้วิจัยหลัก (นายสุชาติ เขม้นเขตรการ)

วันที่.....พ.ศ.....

ในกรณีที่ผู้ถูกทดลองยังไม่บรรลุนิติภาวะ จะต้องได้รับการยินยอมจากผู้ปกครองหรือผู้

อุปการะ

โดยชอบด้วยกฎหมาย

ลงนาม			ผู้ปกครอง
()
วันที่	เดือน	พ.ศ	
ลงนาม			. พยาน
()
วันที่	เดือน	พ.ศ	
ลงนาม			ผู้วิจัยหลัก
	(นายสุชาติ เขม้า	นเขตรการ)	
วันที่	เดือน	พ.ศ	

VITA

Name: Mr. Suchat Kamankatgan

Date of Birth: 30 June 1984

Address: 35/4 M.1 Pawong, Mueang Songkla Thailand 90000

Educational history: Bachelor on Doctor of Dental Surgery (First Class Honors) at Prince of Songkla University, 2009

Work experience: 2009 - present at Dental department, Udonthani Cancer Hospital (36 M.1 Nhongpai, Mueang Udonthani 41330)



จุฬาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University